
Town of Surfside 
Town Commission Meeting 

AGENDA 
July 8, 2014 

 7 p.m.  
Town Hall Commission Chambers - 9293 Harding Ave, 2nd Floor 

Surfside, FL  33154 

1. Opening

A. Call to Order
B. Roll Call of Members
C. Pledge of Allegiance
D. Mayor and Commission Remarks – Mayor Daniel Dietch
E. Agenda and Order of Business Additions, deletions and linkages
F. Community Notes – Mayor Daniel Dietch

2. Quasi-Judicial Hearings (None)

3. Consent Agenda (Set for approximately 7:30 p.m.)

All items on the consent agenda are considered routine or status reports by the Town 
Commission and will be approved by one motion.  Any Commission member may request, 
during item 1E Agenda and Order of Business, that an item be removed from the Consent 
Agenda and discussed separately. 

Recommended Motion:  To approve all consent agenda items as presented below. 

* Denotes agenda items as “must haves” which means there will be significant impacts
if the item is not addressed tonight.  If these items have not been heard by 10 p.m., the 
order of the agenda will be changed to allow them to be heard. 



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

2 

  
 

 
A. Minutes –  June 10, 2014 Regular Commission Meeting Page 1-22 

June 18, 2014 Special Commission Meeting – Proposed Ballot Questions 
June 24, 2014 Special Town Commission Meeting – Town Manager  
June 24, 2014 Special Town Commission Meeting – Quasi-Judicial 
Hearing  

B. Budget to Actual Summary as of April 30, 2014 – Donald Nelson, Finance Director 
Page 23-26 

            *C. Town Manager’s Report – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager Page 27-36 
            *D. Town Attorney’s Report – Linda Miller, Town Attorney Page 37-42 

       *E.  Projects Progress Report – Calvin, Giordano and Associates, Inc. Page 43-44 
F.  Committee Reports – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager Page 45-63 
    

- February 18, 2014 Pension Board Minutes 
   - May 5, 2014 Tourist Board Minutes 
   - May 19, 2014 Parks and Recreation Committee Minutes 
   - May 28, 2014 Downtown Vision Advisory Committee Minutes 
 
G.  Mutual Aid Agreement between the Bal Harbour Village Police Department 

and the Town of Surfside Police Department – David Allen, Chief of Police Page 
64-74 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA ACKNOWLEDGING 
THE VOLUNTARY COOPERATION AND OPERATIONAL ASSISTANCE 
MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA 
AND THE BAL HARBOUR VILLAGE, FLORIDA; AUTHORIZING THE TOWN 
MANAGER  AND CHIEF OF POLICE TO EXECUTE AND IMPLEMENT THE 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
  

4. Ordinances  

(Set for approximately _8:00__ p.m.)   (Note:  Good and Welfare must begin at 8:15) 

A. Second Readings (Ordinances and Public Hearing) 

 

1. Solar Panels – Sarah Sinatra, Town Planner Page 75-80 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF 
SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDING CHAPTER 90 “ZONING”; AND 
SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 90.2 “DEFINITIONS”; AMENDING 
SECTION 90-19.7 TO EXEMPT ROOFTOP PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR 
SYSTEMS FROM PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD REVIEW AND TO 
FOLLOW DESIGN GUIDELINES; AND CREATING SECTION 90-50.3 



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

3 

  
 

“ROOFTOP PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR SYSTEMS” TO PROVIDE 
REGULATIONS OF ROOFTOP PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR SYSTEMS; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR 
PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING FOR 
INCLUSION IN THE SURFSIDE CODE OF ORDINANCES, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
  

(Set for approximately __8:30___ p.m.) (Note:  Good and Welfare must begin at 8:15) 

 
B. First Reading Ordinances 

 
1. Sign Code  – Sarah Sinatra, Town Planner [SET TIME CERTAIN 7:45 PM] 

Page 81-111 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA REPEALING 
AND REPLACING ARTICLE VI  “SIGNS” OF “CHAPTER 90  ZONING” OF 
THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE CODE OF ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR 
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE CODE; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
2. Parking Trust Fund – Sarah Sinatra, Town Planner [IMMEDIATELY 

AFTER ITEM 4B2] Page 112-119 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF 
SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDING CHAPTER 90 “ZONING,” ARTICLE 
VII “OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING,” DIVISION 1 “OFF-
STREET PARKING,” SECTION 90-77 “OFF-STREET PARKING 
REQUIREMENTS” OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES REGARDING PARKING TRUST FEES PAID IN LIEU OF 
OFF-STREET PARKING; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE CODE; 
REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN 
CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

4 

  
 

  5.  Resolutions and Proclamations 
(Set for approximately __9:00__ p.m.)  (Note: Depends upon length of Good and 
Welfare) 

 
A.  Resolutions of the Town Commission  of the Town of Surfside, Florida, 

Calling for The Town’s November 4, 2014 Special Election to Present to 
the Town’s Electorate Certain Proposed Amendments to the Town 
Charter– Linda Miller, Town Attorney [SET FOR TIME CERTAIN 9:15 PM] 
Page 120-121 

 

1. A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA CALLING FOR A NOVEMBER 4, 2014 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE SPECIAL ELECTION, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORATE OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDMENTS TO TOWN 
CHARTER LANGUAGE GOVERNING “QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
OFFICE”; PROVIDING FOR COPIES OF THE CHARTER 
AMENDMENT TO BE AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION;  
PROVIDING FOR THE TOWN CLERK TO UTILIZE THE 
SERVICES OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF 
ELECTIONS; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. Page 
122-126 

2. A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA CALLING FOR A NOVEMBER 4, 2014 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE SPECIAL ELECTION, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORATE OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDMENTS TO TOWN 
CHARTER LANGUAGE GOVERNING “VACANCIES ON 
COMMISSION”; PROVIDING FOR COPIES OF THE CHARTER 
AMENDMENT TO BE AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION;  
PROVIDING FOR THE TOWN CLERK TO UTILIZE THE 
SERVICES OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF 
ELECTIONS; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. Page 
127-133 

 

 

 



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

5 

  
 

3. A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA CALLING FOR A NOVEMBER 4, 2014 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE SPECIAL ELECTION, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORATE OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDMENTS TO TOWN 
CHARTER LANGUAGE GOVERNING “VACANCY IN 
CANDIDACY”; PROVIDING FOR COPIES OF THE CHARTER 
AMENDMENT TO BE AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION;  
PROVIDING FOR THE TOWN CLERK TO UTILIZE THE 
SERVICES OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF 
ELECTIONS; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. Page 
134-139 

4. A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA CALLING FOR A NOVEMBER 4, 2014 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE SPECIAL ELECTION, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORATE OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDMENTS TO TOWN 
CHARTER LANGUAGE GOVERNING “CANVASSING BOARD”; 
PROVIDING FOR COPIES OF THE CHARTER AMENDMENT 
TO BE AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION;  PROVIDING 
FOR THE TOWN CLERK TO UTILIZE THE SERVICES OF 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEALER; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. Page 
140-144 

5. A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA CALLING FOR A NOVEMBER 4, 2014 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE SPECIAL ELECTION, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORATE OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDMENTS TO TOWN 
CHARTER LANGUAGE GOVERNING “QUALIFYING” (I.E., 
BECOMING A CANDIDATE FOR ELECTED OFFICE IN THE 
TOWN); PROVIDING FOR COPIES OF THE CHARTER 
AMENDMENT TO BE AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION;  
PROVIDING FOR THE TOWN CLERK TO UTILIZE THE 
SERVICES OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF 
ELECTIONS; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. Page 
145-150 

 

 



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

6 

  
 

6. A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA CALLING FOR A NOVEMBER 4, 2014 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE SPECIAL ELECTION, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORATE OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDMENTS TO TOWN 
CHARTER LANGUAGE GOVERNING “ESTABLISHING 
ELECTED OFFICIALS’ STAGGERED TERMS AND 
INCREASING TOWN COMMISSIONERS’ TERMS FROM TWO 
TO FOUR YEARS”; PROVIDING FOR THE TOWN CLERK TO 
UTILIZE THE SERVICES OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY 
SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. Page 151-156 

 

7. RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA CALLING FOR A NOVEMBER 4, 2014 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE SPECIAL ELECTION, FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORATE OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDMENTS TO TOWN 
CHARTER LANGUAGE GOVERNING “RUNOFF ELECTION”; 
PROVIDING FOR COPIES OF THE CHARTER AMENDMENT 
TO BE AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION;  PROVIDING 
FOR THE TOWN CLERK TO UTILIZE THE SERVICES OF 
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEALER; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. Page 
157-161 

B.  Professional Services – Duncan Tavares, TEDACS Director 

1. Professional General Architectural Services – RFQ # 2014-001 
Page 162-182 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA, SELECTING  FIVE (5)  
PROFESSIONAL GENERAL ARCHITECTURAL FIRMS 
TO PERFORM  PROFESSIONAL GENERAL 
ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES FOR THE TOWN,  IN 
RESPONSE TO RFQ NO. 14-001; AUTHORIZING THE 
TOWN MANAGER OR DESIGNEE TO NEGOTIATE A 
CONTINUING CONSULTANT AGREEMENT WITH THE 
SELECTED RANKED FIRMS; FURTHER AUTHORIZING 
THE TOWN MANAGER TO DO ALL THINGS 
NECESSARY TO EFFECTUATE THIS RESOLUTION; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

7 

  
 

2. Professional General Engineering Services - RFQ # 2014-002 
Page 183-204 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA APPROVING THE 
RANKINGS OF THE SELECTION COMMITTEE FOR 
PROFESSIONAL GENERAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
IN RESPONSE TO RFQ NO. 14-002; AUTHORIZING THE 
TOWN MANAGER OR DESIGNEE TO NEGOTIATE A 
CONTINUING CONSULTANT AGREEMENT WITH THE 
SELECTED RANKED FIRM; FURTHER AUTHORIZING 
THE TOWN MANAGER TO DO ALL THINGS 
NECESSARY TO EFFECTUATE THIS RESOLUTION; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

C. Town Hall Improvements – Joseph Kroll, Public Works Director Page 205-
206 

1. Town Hall Roof Repairs Page 207-208 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA, AWARDING BID TO 
UNLIMITED ROOFING SERVICE, INC. FOR ROOF REPAIRS 
TO TOWN HALL IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$65,000.00; TRANSFERRING FUND BALANCE (RESERVES) 
FROM THE GENERAL FUND BALANCE TO CAPITAL 
PROJECTS BUILDING TOWN HALL ACCOUNT NO. 301-4400-
539-6220 APPROPRIATING THE FUNDS IN THE CAPITAL 
PROJECTS FUND; AMENDING THE TOWN’S BUDGET FOR 
FISCAL YEAR 2013/2014; AUTHORIZING THE TOWN 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

2. Town Hall Air Conditioner Replacement with New Chiller System 
Page 209-210 

Note: This is attached as a DRAFT!     
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE 
TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA, AWARDING BID TO 
________________________________ TO CONVERT THE 
EXISTING A/C UNITS TO A CHILLER SYSTEM AT TOWN 
HALL IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$______________________; TRANSFERRING FUND BALANCE 
(RESERVES) FROM THE GENERAL FUND BALANCE TO 
CAPITAL PROJECTS BUILDING TOWN HALL ACCOUNT 
NO. 301-4400-539-6220 APPROPRIATING THE FUNDS IN THE 
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND; AMENDING THE TOWN’S 



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

8 

  
 

BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2013/2014; AUTHORIZING THE 
TOWN MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

3. Town Hall Mold Removal and Remediation Page 211-219 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA 
AUTHORIZING THE TOWN ADMINISTRATION TO RETAIN 
DECON ENVIRONMENTAL AND ENGINEERING, INC. TO 
PROVIDE MOLD REMEDIATION AND RESTORATION SERVICES 
FOR THE SURFSIDE TOWN HALL; AUTHORIZING THE TOWN 
MANAGER AND TOWN ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE AN 
AGREEMENT WITH DECON ENVIRONMENTAL AND 
ENGINEERING INC., BY PIGGYBACKING OFF OF A 
COMPETIVELY BID AGREEMENT FOR THE SAME SERVICES 
AWARDED BY THE BROWARD COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD; 
AUTHORIZING THE AMENDMENT TO THE 2013/2014 BUDGET 
AND APPROPRIATION NOT TO EXCEED $28,368.21 TO ACCOUNT 
001-5000-539-4602; PROVIDING FOR AUTHORIZATION; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
D. Resolution Approving the Design of the 94th Street End Project – Michael 

P. Crotty, Town Manager [SET FOR TIME CERTAIN 9:00 PM] Page 220-
228 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF 
SURFSIDE, FLORIDA PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION NO. 13-Z-04, 
CONDITION NO. 25 REVIEWING AND APPROVING THE DESIGN 
PREPARED BY THE APPLICANT, CHATEAU OCEAN, LLC FOR 
THE 94th STREET END PROJECT; PROVIDING FOR APPROVAL 
AND AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

E. Harding Avenue Business Improvement District (BID) Ballot Results – 
Duncan Tavares, TEDACS Director Page 229-232 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF 
SURFSIDE, FLORIDA CERTIFYING AND DECLARING THE 
RESULTS OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT ELECTION HELD BETWEEN MAY 28, 
2014 AND JUNE 12, 2014 FOR A SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 
KNOWN AND DESIGNATED AS THE SURFSIDE BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

9 

  
 

  
      6.  Good and Welfare (Set for approximately 8:15 p.m.)   

Public comments for subjects or items not on the agenda.  Public comment on agenda 
items will be allowed when agenda item is discussed by the Commission. 
 
 

7. Town Manager and Town Attorney Reports 
Town Manager and Town Attorney Reports have been moved to the Consent Agenda –  
 Item 3.   
 All items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine or status reports by the Town 
 Commission and will be approved by one motion.  Any Commission member may 
 request, during item 1E Agenda and Order of Business, that an item be removed from  
the consent agenda and discussed separately. 
 

8. Unfinished Business and New Business 
 
 
 
 

9. Mayor, Commission and Staff Communications 
 

A. Surfside Seawall Replacement Project Bid Opening Results and 
Recommendation – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager Page 233-235 

B. Update on Community Center 2nd Floor Expansion (Verbal) – Tim 
Milian, Parks and Recreation Director 

C. Resort Tax Allocation to Tourist Board – Commissioner Michael Karukin 
Page 236-237 

D. Discussion on Tentative Budget Meetings – Donald Nelson, Finance 
Director Page 238 

E. Update on the Town Manager Transition and Discussion on Work Plan 
Priorities (Verbal) – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager 

F. FY 12/13 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) Acceptance 
– Finance  Director Donald Nelson [SET FOR TIME CERTAIN 7:30 PM] 
Page 239 

G. Policy Direction Regarding Ownership of Submerged Lands (Point 
Lake and North Canal) – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager Page 240-243 

 
 

      10. Adjournment  
 

  Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
  Michael P. Crotty 
  Town Manager 

 

snovoa
Crotty



Agenda 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

July 8, 2014 
 
  

10 

  
 

THIS MEETING IS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC.  IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AMERICANS WITH 
DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990, ALL PERSONS THAT ARE DISABLED; WHO NEED SPECIAL 
ACCOMMODATIONS TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING BECAUSE OF THAT DISABILITY 
SHOULD CONTACT THE OFFICE OF THE TOWN CLERK AT 305-861-4863 EXT. 226 NO LATER 
THAN FOUR DAYS PRIOR TO SUCH PROCEEDING.   
 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, 
ANYONE WISHING TO APPEAL ANY DECISION MADE BY THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE 
COMMISSION, WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTER CONSIDERED AT THIS MEETING OR 
HEARING, WILL NEED A RECORD OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND FOR SUCH PURPOSE, MAY 
NEED TO ENSURE THAT A VERBATIM RECORD OF THE PROCEEDINGS IS MADE WHICH 
RECORD SHALL INCLUDE THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE UPON WHICH THE APPEAL IS TO 
BE BASED. 
 
AGENDA ITEMS MAY BE VIEWED AT THE OFFICE OF THE TOWN CLERK, TOWN OF SURFSIDE 
TOWN HALL, 9293 HARDING AVENUE.  ANYONE WISHING TO OBTAIN A COPY OF ANY 
AGENDA ITEM SHOULD CONTACT THE TOWN CLERK AT 305-861-4863.  A COMPLETE 
AGENDA PACKET IS ALSO AVAILABLE ON THE TOWN WEBSITE AT www.townofsurfsidefl.gov 
 
TWO OR MORE MEMBERS OF OTHER TOWN BOARDS MAY ATTEND THIS MEETING. 
 
THESE MEETINGS MAY BE CONDUCTED BY MEANS OF OR IN CONJUNCTION WITH 
COMMUNICATIONS MEDIA TECHNOLOGY, SPECIFICALLY, A TELEPHONE CONFERENCE 
CALL.  THE LOCATION 9293 HARDING AVENUE, SURFSIDE, FL  33154, WHICH IS OPEN TO THE 
PUBLIC, SHALL SERVE AS AN ACCESS POINT FOR SUCH COMMUNICATION. 



Town of Surfside 
Town Commission Meeting 

MINUTES 
June 10, 2014 

 7 p.m.  
Town Hall Commission Chambers - 9293 Harding Ave, 2nd Floor 

Surfside, FL  33154 

1. Opening

A. Call to Order 
Mayor Dietch called the meeting to order at 7:01 P.M 

B. Roll Call of Members 
Recording Clerk Frantza Duval called the roll with the following members present:  
Mayor Dietch, Vice Mayor Tourgeman, Commissioner Karukin, Commissioner 
Cohen and Commissioner Olchyk.   

C. Pledge of Allegiance 
Chief David Allen led the Pledge of Allegiance 

D. Mayor and Commission Remarks – Mayor Daniel Dietch 
Commissioner Olchyk feels that the food being provided for the Commissioners 
before the meeting is unnecessary, time consuming for the clerks who have to do the 
ordering, and is costly.  She believes that just some fruit and a beverage is sufficient. 
Commissioner Karukin and Vice Mayor Tourgeman did not agree and Mayor Dietch 
thought the item should be put on the agenda as a discussion item and not be 
discussed at this meeting as there is a full agenda. 
Commissioner Olchyk then addressed some of the remarks made by citizens that were 
overheard and said many of the statements were incorrect and that members of the 
Commission do their very best to attend all meetings and care very much about the 
town.   She expressed that citizens should get more informed about an issue before 
commenting.   Mayor Dietch concurred that the Commission only has the best interest 
of the town in its decision making.   He further stated that the issue of the sand will be 
discussed in more detail as it is on the agenda. 

E. Agenda and Order of Business Additions, deletions and linkages 
Mayor Dietch said items linked were 4A.1, 4A.2 and 5A.   Commissioner Olchyk 
made a motion to move item 9B and 9C after item 9G on the agenda.   The motion 
received a second from Vice Mayor Tourgeman.   The motion did not pass with 
Commissioners, Karukin, Cohen and Mayor Dietch voting in opposition. 

F. Community Notes – Mayor Daniel Dietch 

3A

Page 1



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

2 

  
 

Mayor Dietch announced the upcoming community events which can be found on the 
Town’s website.   Commissioner Karukin gave an update on the recent American 
Cancer Relay for Life event and thanked all participants with special recognition to 
Joe Graubart, Yamileth Slate-McCloud and Dalizbel Batista-Batchelor as well as 
Team Action. 
Vice Mayor Tourgeman gave an update on the Tourist Board. 
 

G. 2014 Hurricane Preparedness – Chief of Police David Allen 
Director Curtis Sommerhoff of Miami-Dade Emergency Management gave a 
presentation.  Some of the items he spoke on were price gouging, evacuation order 
and assistance program, and points of distribution. 
 

2. Quasi-Judicial Hearings (None) 
 

3. Consent Agenda (Set for approximately 7:30 p.m.) 
Commissioner Olchyk pulled item 3H Fireworks 
Commissioner Karukin pulled item 3A May 13, 2014 minutes; item 3C Planning & 
Zoning H40 District; item 26 Online Bill Pay 
Mayor Dietch pulled items: 3D Town Attorney Evaluation; iten 6 Harding Ave 
Streetscape Plan; item 11 95th Street End Project; item21 FEMA; item 27 Beach 
Management Agreement 
 
Commissioner Karukin made a motion to approve the consent agenda minus the pulled 
items.  The motion received a second from Commissioner Olchyk and all voted in 
favor. 

 
A. Minutes –  May 13, 2014 Regular Town Commission Meeting  

  May 14, 2014 Special Commission Meeting – Community Dialogue –  
  Community Center Expansion  
  May 22, 2014 Budget Workshop 
  May 22, 2014 Joint Workshop – Town Commission and Planning and  
  Zoning Board   

B. Budget to Actual Summary as of March 31, 2014 – Donald Nelson, Finance 
Director  

            *C. Town Manager’s Report – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager  
            *D. Town Attorney’s Report – Linda Miller, Town Attorney  

       *E.  Projects Progress Report – Calvin, Giordano and Associates, Inc.  
F.  Committee Reports – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager 
   - March 17, 2014 Parks and Recreation Committee Minutes 
   - March 24, 214 Downtown Vision Advisory Committee Minutes 
   - April 28, 2014 Planning and Zoning Board Minutes 

G.  Proclamations 
1. Toni Carraway – Mayor Daniel Dietch 
2. Jannet Dennard – Mayor Daniel Dietch 
3. Margarita Reyes - Mayor Daniel Dietch 

Page 2



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

3 

  
 

4. Estela Egozi Berry – Mayor Daniel Dietch  
 
Pulled Items: 
--Item 3A May 13, 2014 Minutes - Commissioner Karukin said the minutes did not 
reflect the decision made regarding the artwork for the 95th Street End Project.  The 
minutes are amended to reflect that artwork to be displayed are to be approved by the 
Town Commission. 
--Item 6 - Mayor Dietch asked the Town Manager why the new benches are not in 
place as it has been several months waiting for them.  Parks and Recreation Director 
Tim Milian said the benches have arrived and they are in the process of planning the 
placement of the benches.  The Director was reminded to have magazine/paper racks 
put back in place. 
--Item 11 95th Street End Project - Public Works Director, Joseph Kroll gave an 
update on the project. 
--Item 3C - Commissioner Karukin is requesting the Town Manager to add the H40 
District as a separate item. 
--Item 30 National Flood Insurance Program – Mayor Dietch asked for an update and 
Building Official Ross Prieto provided an update on FEMA. 
--Item 27 Beach Management Agreement – Mayor Dietch said that the State has 
twice rejected their request to administer concessions on the beach and more are 
popping up.  The Mayor directed the Town Manager to come up with an action plan 
as this is not acceptable. 
--Item 26 On Line Bill Pay – Finance Director Bill Nelson gave update and the item 
is complete. 
Item 3D Town Attorney Evaluation.  Mayor Dietch said the Town Attorney will be 
coming up for an annual evaluation and an evaluation form should be devised as was 
done for the Town Manager. 
--Item 3H Fireworks – Commissioner Olchyk first expressed her appreciation of Tim 
Milian’s leadership but was upset with the cost of the fireworks without the approval 
of the Commission.  There was discussion as to whether this needed approval or was 
already in the budget for community events.  The Mayor suggested Commissioner 
Olchyk get together with the Town Manager and Town Attorney and discuss the item. 
 
Commissioner Cohen left the meeting at 10:09 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Karukin made a motion to approve the pulled items from the consent 
agenda.  The motion received a second from Vice Mayor Tourgeman all voted in 
favor with Commissioner Cohen absent. 
 
After passing the gavel, Mayor Dietch made a motion to hear Item 9C Enforcement  
Allowing Dogs in the Narrow Walk Path.  The motion received a second from 
Commissioner Karukin and all voted in favor with Commissioner Cohen absent. 
 
 

H. 4th of July Fireworks – Tim Milian, Parks and Recreation Director 

Page 3



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

4 

  
 

  
 A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF 

SURFSIDE, FLORIDA, APPROVING  AN AFTER-THE-FACT 
AGREEMENT WITH ZAMBELLI FIREWORKS MANUFACTURING CO. 
FOR EXHIBITION AND DISPLAY OF FIREWORKS; APPROVING THE 
EXPENDITURE OF $4,000.00 FROM THE RESORT TAX FUND, 
ACCOUNT NO. 102-8000-552-48-10 AND $8,000.00 FROM THE GENERAL 
FUND, PARKS & RECREATION DEPARTMENT, ACCOUNT NO. 001-6000-
572-4810; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 Approved on consent. 
  

4. Ordinances  

(Set for approximately _8:00__ p.m.)   (Note:  Good and Welfare must begin at 8:15) 

A. Second Readings (Ordinances and Public Hearing) 

1. An Ordinance Amending the Civil Penalty Provisions of  Chapter 90 
(Zoning Code) by Repealing Civil Penalty Provisions Contained Therein - 
Joe Damien, Code Compliance Director [LINKED TO ITEMS 4A2 AND 5A] 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDING  CHAPTER 90 “ZONING” 
OF THE CODE OF THE TOWN TO AMEND ALL SECTIONS 
REFERENCING FINE AMOUNTS FOR CODE VIOLATIONS; 
SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTIONS 90-41.1 “SHORT TERM 
RENTAL OF SINGLE FAMILY DWELLINGS, TWO-FAMILY 
DWELLINGS, MULTI-FAMILY DWELLINGS AND 
TOWNHOMES”; 90-49.2 “AWNINGS AND CANOPIES”; 90-
56 “FENCES, WALLS AND HEDGES”; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE CODE; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.  
Recording Clerk Frantza Duval read the Ordinance. 
The Mayor opened the public hearing.  No one wishing to speak the Mayor 
closed the public hearing. 
Vice Mayor Tourgeman made a motion to accept the ordinance and the 
motion received a second from Mayor Dietch after passing the gavel.   The 
motion passed 3-2 with Commissioner Karukin voting in opposition and 
Commissioner Cohen absent.  

 

Page 4



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

5 

  
 

2. An Ordinance Amending the Civil Penalty Provisions of the Town Code 
(less Chapter 90) by Repealing Civil Penalty Provisions Contained 
Therein - Joe Damien, Code Compliance Director [LINKED TO ITEMS 4A1 
AND 5A] 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA 
AMENDING SECTIONS OF THE CODE RELATING TO FINES AND 
PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS; 
SPECIFICALLY AMENDING;  CHAPTER 1 “GENERAL 
PROVISIONS” SECTION 1-8 “PENALTY FOR VIOLATIONS”; 
CHAPTER 10 “ANIMALS” SECTION 10-27 “PENALTY”; CHAPTER 
14 “BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS” SECTIONS 14-
31 “REQUIRED ROOFING MATERIALS,” 14-51 “ESTABLISHED,” 
AND 14-55 “VACANT LOTS OR BUILDINGS”; CHAPTER 15 
“CODE ENFORCEMENT” SECTIONS 15-6 “CIVIL INFRACTIONS 
AND PENALTIES,” 15-11 “CIVIL PENALTIES AND RELATED 
TERMS CONSTRUED,” AND 15-18 “VIOLATIONS; SCHEDULE OF 
CIVIL PENALTIES”;  CHAPTER 18 “BUSINESSES” SECTIONS 18-
85 “CIVIL FINES AND PENALTIES; DENIAL OF FUTURE 
PERMITS TO REPEAT VIOLATORS,” AND 18-88 “PERMITTED 
AREAS; CONDITIONAL PERMIT; TOWN MANAGER'S RIGHT TO 
REMOVE SIDEWALK CAFÉS”; CHAPTER 34 “ENVIRONMENT” 
SECTIONS 34-71 “VACANT LOTS,” AND 34-80 “PROHIBITIONS 
ON LITTER; CIVIL FINES FOR VIOLATIONS; ENFORCEMENT; 
APPEALS; LIENS”; CHAPTER 42 “FLOODS” SECTION 42-
64 “PENALITIES [SIC] FOR VIOLATION”; AND CHAPTER 70 
“TAXATION” SECTIONS 70-32 “DELINQUENCIES; ADDITIONAL 
PENALTIES” AND 70-36 “HEARING WHEN THE RECEIPT 
HOLDER FAILS TO COMPLY WITH NOTICE OR WHEN 
REQUESTED BY AGGRIEVED APPLICANT/RECEIPT HOLDER”; 
PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE CODE; REPEALING ALL 
ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT 
HEREWITH; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.” 
Recording Clerk Frantza Duval read the Ordinance. 

The Mayor opened the public hearing.  No one wishing to speak the Mayor 
closed the public hearing. 

Vice Mayor Tourgeman made a motion to accept the ordinance and the 
motion received a second from Commissioner Olchyk. The motion passed 
with all in favor and Commissioner Cohen absent.  

Page 5



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

6 

  
 

3. Dock Projection Ordinance (Dock on Biscayne Bay) – Sarah Sinatra, Town 
Planner 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN 
OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDING  CHAPTER 90 “ZONING” 
OF THE CODE OF THE TOWN TO AMEND SECTION 90-57 
“MARINE STRUCTURE” TO EXTEND THE LENGTH OF THE 
DOCK PROJECTION INTO BISCAYNE BAY AND TO PROVIDE 
FOR A COURTESY NOTIFICATION;  PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE CODE; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
Recording Clerk Frantza Duval read the Ordinance. 
The Mayor opened the public hearing.  No one wishing to speak the Mayor 
closed the public hearing. 
Vice Mayor Tourgeman made a motion to accept the ordinance and the 
motion received a second from Commissioner Olchyk. The motion passed 
with all in favor and Commissioner Cohen absent.  

  
(Set for approximately __8:30___ p.m.) (Note:  Good and Welfare must begin at 8:15) 

 
4. First Reading Ordinances 

A. Solar Panels – Sarah Sinatra, Town Planner 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF 
SURFSIDE, FLORIDA AMENDING CHAPTER 90 “ZONING”; AND 
SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 90.2 “DEFINITIONS”; 
AMENDING SECTION 90-19.7 TO EXEMPT ROOFTOP 
PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR SYSTEMS FROM PLANNING AND 
ZONING BOARD REVIEW AND TO FOLLOW DESIGN 
GUIDELINES; AND CREATING SECTION 90-50.3 “ROOFTOP 
PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR SYSTEMS” TO PROVIDE 
REGULATIONS OF ROOFTOP PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR 
SYSTEMS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; REPEALING ALL 
ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT 
HEREWITH; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE SURFSIDE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES, AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
Recording Clerk Frantza Duval read the Ordinance. 
The Mayor opened the public hearing.  No one wishing to speak the Mayor 
closed the public hearing. 

Page 6



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

7 

  
 

Vice Mayor Tourgeman made a motion to accept the ordinance and the 
motion received a second from Commissioner Karukin.  The motion passed 
with all in favor with Commissioner Cohen absent.  

 
 

  5.  Resolutions and Proclamations 
(Set for approximately __9:00__ p.m.)  (Note: Depends upon length of Good and 
Welfare) 

 
A. Resolution Adopting Civil Fine Schedules, Administrative Fees, and 

Abatement Costs for Code Violations – Joe Damien, Code Compliance 
Director  [LINKED TO ITEMS 4A1 AND 4A2] 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF 
SURFSIDE FLORIDA, AMENDING THE SCHEDULE OF CIVIL 
PENALTIES AND ADMINISTRATIVE FEES TO BE ASSESSED FOR 
VIOLATION OF THE CODE OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE, AS 
PROVIDED IN CHAPTER 1 “GENERAL PROVISIONS”, 
SPECIFICALLY SECTION 1-8 “PENALTY FOR VIOLATIONS”, AND 
CHAPTER 15 “CODE ENFORCEMENT” SPECIFICALLY SECTION 
15-18 “VIOLATIONS; SCHEDULE OF CIVIL PENALTIES”; 
REPEALING ALL OTHERS; PROVIDING FOR AUTHORIZATION 
AND APPROVAL; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Vice Mayor Tourgeman made a motion to approve.   The motion received a 
second from Commissioner Olchyk and all voted in favor with Commissioner 
Cohen absent. 

 

B. Resolution re:  Moratorium on the Downtown Parking Trust Fund 
(“PTF”) –Commissioner Michael Karukin [SET FOR TIME CERTAIN 
7:30PM] 

 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF 

SURFSIDE, FLORIDA, CONSIDERING THE NEED FOR A 
MORATORIUM ON THE OPTION TO USE THE PARKING TRUST 
FUND FOR OFF-STREET PARKING AS APPLIED TO ANY 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT WHICH HAS NO COMPLETE 
APPLICATION PENDING; REQUESTING THAT THE PLANNING 
AND ZONING BOARD MAKE RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING 
MODIFICATIONS TO THE PARKING TRUST FUND OPTION AND 
REGARDING SUCH MORATORIUM; DIRECTING THE TOWN 
CLERK TO PUBLISH A NOTICE OF ZONING IN PROGRESS AS 

Page 7



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

8 

  
 

APPLIED TO ANY PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT WHICH HAS NO 
COMPLETE APPLICATION PENDING; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Commissioner Karukin presented the item.  Commissioners expressed their 
viewpoints and agreed there is a parking problem however they feel the item 
needs closer review as they do not wish to discourage new businesses or 
developers in the town.  Special Land Use Attorney Nancy Stroud gave some 
input on the item. 
Public Speaker Lou Cohen was in favor of a moratorium and feels developers 
should not have the option of buying public parking spaces. 
Public Speaker Peter Glynn was in favor of a moratorium and said we are 
selling parking spaces that we do not have. 
Mayor Dietch and Vice Mayor Tourgeman were against a moratorium and 
feel we can resolve some issues in a different way but not be as harsh which 
may hinder future development. 
Commissioner Karukin requested that we direct administration to amend the 
90-77 code with the following provisions:   

 1.  commission approval on all ptf applications 
 2.  add a nominal interest rate for no more than 20 years 
 3.  limit the number of spaces available determined by the Town Manager 

Commissioner Karukin asked that we start a noticing process as soon as 
possible for zoning in progress.  

 
Public Speaker George Koosoulas spoke on parking garages and what it 
entails.  Mr. Koosoulas builds parking garages and was asked to give some 
details as to cost, etc. to the Town Manager. 
 
Commissioner Karukin withdrew his previous request to the administration and 
made a motion to direct the Town Attorney to prepare an ordinance to modify 
section 90-77 adding a requirement for town commission approval on ptf 
applications, add an interest rate, limit the number of spaces based on a 
percentage to be determined, and to start the zoning in progress process and 
terms and cost. The motion received a second from Commissioner Olchyk and 
all voted in favor. 

 
      6.  Good and Welfare (Set for approximately 8:15 p.m.)   
 

Mayor Dietch opened the meeting to Good and Welfare.    
No one wishing to speak the Mayor closed the meeting to Good and Welfare. 
 

7. Town Manager and Town Attorney Reports 
Town Manager and Town Attorney Reports have been moved to the Consent Agenda –  
 Item 3.   
 

8. Unfinished Business and New Business 

Page 8



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

9 

  
 

 
9. Mayor, Commission and Staff Communications 

 
A. Discussion on Operating Hours of Grand Beach Skybar (Verbal) – Commissioner 

Michael Karukin 
Commissioner Karukin made a motion to allow the Skybar to stay open until midnight 
provisionally until the end of summer 2014 and then reviewed again.  The motion 
received a second from Vice Mayor Tourgeman and all voted in favor with 
Commissioner Cohen absent. 

B. Condition of the Plans Scanning Machine – Commissioner Marta Olchyk  
Ross Prieto gave an overview and update on the item. 

C. Enforcement of Allowing Dogs in the Narrow Walk Path – Commissioner Marta 
Olchyk 
Commissioner Olchyk had visuals of signs not allowing dogs and said these are not being 
enforced and wants to know what we are to do about it.   Town Attorney Miller spoke on 
the legalities and what portion of land is owned by condominiums.   
Public Speakers: 
--Michael O’Hagan thinks the signs are illegal and should be removed but also said dog 
owners must be responsible and pick up after their animals.  Roxanne Fontaine is in 
agreement with Mr. O’Hagan and expressed how important dogs are for many people. 
--Monica Grandeze said the signs should be enforced and dogs do not belong to the 
beach.  She also indicated that many owners do not pick up after their animals. 
--Terry Cohen said more receptacles are needed for dog refuse.    
 
Vice Mayor Tourgeman is a dog lover but agrees with Commissioner Olchyk that dogs 
should not be allowed on narrow walking paths. 
 
Commissioner Olchyk made a motion to defer this item.  The motion received a second 
from Vice Mayor Tourgeman and all voted in favor with Commissioner Cohen absent. 
 
Commissioner Olchyk made a motion to extend the meeting to 11:15.  The motion 
received a second from Vice Mayor Tourgeman and all voted in favor with 
Commissioner Cohen absent. 
 

D. Town Hall: Roof, Air Conditioning Issues and Remediation – Joseph Kroll, Public 
Works Director  
Commissioner Karukin made a motion to have the a/c and remediation done as soon as 
possible.  The motion received a second from Vice Mayor Tourgeman and all voted in 
favor with Commissioner Cohen absent. 
 

E. Approval of Budget Schedule for FY 14/ 15 – Donald Nelson, Finance Director 
Change of date for Special Budget Meeting now scheduled for Wednesday, July 16, 2014 
(5:00-7:00 p.m.) 
The Commission all approved the change in schedule with Commissioner Cohen absent. 
 

Page 9



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

10 

  
 

F. Community Center Expansion – Outreach and Planning Initiative – Michael P. 
Crotty, Town Manager 

G. Sand Update after Town Hall Meeting – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager [ITEM 
TO BE DELIVERED SEPARATLY DUE TO THE TOWN HALL MEETING 
BEING HELD ON MONDAY, JUNE 2, 2014] 

 
Mayor Dietch opened the meeting to the public. 
Public speakers:  
--Miguel Vainstein very unhappy with the beach that was once very pristine and is now 
dirty and unhealthy 
-- Alex Front did some testing of sand samplings and found levels of lead in some areas.  
The Commission asked Mr. Front if he would provide his report and previous reports to 
the Town Manager   
--Scott Stripling said his concern was how could DERM allow sand coming from a 
construction site be allowed to be placed on the beach without a complete toxicology 
study done.  He feels that State guidelines have failed the Administration and the citizens 
of the town. 
--Renee Tischler thanked the Commission for being responsive to this issue.  However 
she will not bring her children to the beach.  After hearing the independent study done 
and other citizens who said they would not bring their children to the beach because it is 
unhealthy she would like a response from the Commission. 
--George Koosoulas asked that we actively pursue removing the sand. 
--Tina Paul shared some old photos of how beach restoration was done by piping in sand 
from the ocean.  She also had current photos and asked why the dunes were destroyed. 
--Barbara Woolverton displayed beach sand she had collected which contained plastics, 
wood, cement and other debris and was high in lead content.  The sand was not sifted 
properly and the sand must be removed. 
--Marianne Meischeild  said research she has done indicates that the sand is unhealthy 
and the Commission must vote to remove the excavated sand from our beach 
--Deborah Cimadavilla said the DERM background study is flawed and cannot be 
trusted.  She pleaded with the Commission to take action and remove the sand. 
--Larisa Alonso took her child to the beach and he became sick.  The beach is unhealthy 
and children are especially vulnerable.  She indicated she will no longer take her children 
to the beach. 
--Monica Grandeze would like the sand to be tested for lead and asbestos 
--Howard Weinberg feels the Commission has no other option but to remove the existing 
sand and must put health before wealth. 
--Jeff  Platt feels the Commission is not acting in the best interest of the citizens of the 
town and perhaps are siding more with developers.   The citizens clearly want the sand 
removed. 
--Roxanne Fontaine spoke how the beach and sand situation is affecting real estate and 
people now hesitating to invest. 
--Stephanie Romani said she will not take her children to the beach until the sand is 
changed as the last time she was there with them they got an eye infection. 

Page 10



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 
 
  

11 

  
 

--Manellz Rosetto said although she likes the action plan it is more of a communication 
item and shows no action to be taken.  She is very unhappy with the sand on the beach 
and not happy with the Commission allowing this to take place. 

 
No one else wishing to speak the Mayor closed the public speaking.  The Mayor thanked 
everyone for their time and effort regarding this issue. 

 
Vice Mayor Tourgeman said his big concern is resident safety first.  Commissioner 
Cohen said they relied on expert testing and there is a debate as to its accuracy and 
perhaps further testing should be done.  Commissioner Olchyk expressed her love for the 
beach and said that the Commission has been following the advice of experts and perhaps 
now they have to look further into this issue and cannot vote on this tonight.   
Commissioner Karukin said that the town did not do this but the State gave the 
permission to go ahead.  He further stated that the arsenic levels were not a health 
emergency but just found out about the lead levels.   He believes the action plan they 
have will address many concerns.   Mayor Dietch addressed some of the issues raised by 
the public speakers.  He firmly stated that the Commission is only on the side of the 
citizens and their best interests.  He also spoke on the composition of the sand and said 
the experts said it will bleach out, the dunes, and erosion.  The Mayor said the 
Administration welcomes feedback from its citizens.   
 
Town Manager Crotty gave a summary on the plan of action. 

 
Commissioner Karukin made a motion  that the action plan be approved with the friendly 
amendment made by Mayor Dietch with the Town crafting its own regulation that require 
chemical testing and additional testing for lead and asbestos.  The motion received a 
second from Vice Mayor Tourgeman and all voted in favor.    

 
H. Environmental Stewardship Policies and Procedures – Mayor Daniel Dietch 

All members gave a vote of support on the issue with Commissioner Cohen absent. 
 

I. 88th Annual Florida League of Cities (FLC) Conference Voting Delegate – Sandra 
Novoa, Town Clerk 
The Mayor asked that the Town Clerk contact Commissioner Cohen and ask if he wanted 
to be on the FLC and to report back in the event they need to find another delegate.  The 
Commission voted in agreement. 

 
      10. Adjournment  
 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned 
at 11:15 p.m.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



Minutes 
 Regular Commission Meeting 

June 10, 2014 

12 

Accepted this _____day of ____________________, 2014 

________________________ 
Daniel Dietch, Mayor 

Attest: 

_______________________ 
Sandra Novoa, CMC 
Town Clerk 

Page 12



 
Town of Surfside 

Town Special Commission Meeting 
Proposed Charter Ballot Questions 

MINUTES 
June 18, 2014 

 7 p.m.  
Town Hall Commission Chambers - 9293 Harding Ave, 2nd Floor 

Surfside, FL  33154 
 

        
 

 

1. Opening     

A. Call to Order 
Mayor Dietch called the meeting to order at 7:01 P.M 
 

B. Roll Call of Members 
Town Clerk Sandra Novoa called the roll with the following members present:  
Mayor Dietch, Vice Mayor Tourgeman, Commissioner Karukin, Commissioner 
Olchyk and Commissioner Cohen.   
 

C. Pledge of Allegiance 
Hector Perez led the Pledge of Allegiance 
 

D. Introduction by Linda Miller, Town Attorney 
Town Attorney Linda Miller 
 

E. Presentation by Commissioner Michael Karukin - Charter Review Board Liaison  
Commissioner Karukin  
Commissioner Karukin gave a power point presentation and said their job this 
evening was to select which items will be put on the ballot.   He asked that the slide 
presentation be put on the website so the community has the opportunity to read each 
item as they are quite dense.   He suggested that no more than eight items be 
considered for inclusion in the ballot but even less 3 or 4 focusing on high priority 
items.  Commissioner Karukin identified the following items: 
 
1.  Qualifying for Office – After reading the qualifications which also specify that the 
candidate must be a resident for at least one year the Commission voted 5-0 to go 
forward. 
 
2.  Induction into Office – There was discussion as to when results are certified by 
Miami-Dade County and when candidates are inducted into office and the hold over 
period.   Mayor Dietch had questions regarding as what happens if a candidate is 
contested after election.   After much discussion the Commission voted 5-0 not to put 
this item on the ballot.    
 
3.  Vacancy on Commission – The Commission agreed to remove the paragraph 
“consistent with Charter Section 19” and voted 5-0 to move this item forward. 

Page 13



Minutes 
 Special Town Commission Meeting 
Proposed Charter Ballot Questions 

June 18, 2014 
 
  

2 

  
 

 
4.  Vacancy in Candidacy – The Commission voted 5-0 to move this item forward. 
 
5.  Canvassing Board – Town Attorney Miller gave more insight on this item. The 
Commission voted 5-0 to move this item forward. 
 
6.  Qualifications for elected office – Town Clerk Novoa explained the qualifying 
procedure and timeline for petitions.  There was some discussion regarding item 1 
and 2 under qualifications and it was agreed that they will only deal with item 1 
which was changing the qualifying period to a 45-65 day qualifying period.  The 
Mayor is asking the Commission to not shorten the qualifying period from 20 days to 
10 days as he does not want to give the perception that would make it seem more 
difficult to become a candidate.  Questions arose as to how much time a candidate has 
to correct his application in the event Dade County finds a problem with some 
signatures on the petition.  It was agreed that the qualifying period should reflect 45-
65 days. 
 
7.  Staggered Terms (4yr Commission/2yr term Mayor) – There was some discussion 
as to how the Vice Mayor is appointed.  The Vice Mayor selection shall be by the 
Town Commission.  The staggered 4 year terms was clarified.  The Commission 
voted 5-0 to move this item forward. 
 
8.  Runoffs – The Commission voted 5-0 to move this item forward. 
 
9.  November Election – Discussion changing the Commission election date to 
November would be cost efficient  as well as getting a better voter turnout.   If this is 
approved, then the regular schedule election of March 2016 will elect a Commission 
that will have an 8 month hold over until the new election date of November 2018. 
 
Vice Mayor Tourgeman made a motion that the March 2016 election will have an 8 
month hold over for the then seated Commission with the new election taking place in 
November 2018.  The motion received a second from Commissioner Olchyk and all 
voted in favor. 
 
 

F. Discussion and Selection of Proposed Charter Ballot Questions – Linda Miller, 
Town Attorney 
 
Commissioner Olchyk brought to mind the cost of having a special attorney draft the 
new Charter and feels this was unnecessary and we should not go to the outside again.  
Commissioner Karukin said the end result was very good but agreed it was more 
costly than anticipated and next time they will look at this differently. 
 
Commissioner Karukin recapped all the items and felt they have selected too many 
ballot questions.   Vice Mayor Tourgeman thought all the items were fine to submit if 
we simplify the language so the voters have a clear understanding of the 8 items 
selected. 

Page 14



Minutes 
 Special Town Commission Meeting 
Proposed Charter Ballot Questions 

June 18, 2014 
 
  

3 

  
 

  
The Mayor has directed the Town Attorney to cross check for inconsistencies and 
bring back a plan moving forward at the July 8. 2014 Commission meeting.  
 
 Commissioner Olchyk made a motion to accept the Mayor’s direction to the Town 
Attorney.   The motion received a second from Vice Mayor Tourgeman and all voted 
in favor. 
 
The Mayor thanked Anthony Blate, Member of the Charter Review Board for his 
work on the Board.  Mr. Blate then thanked Town Manager Crotty, Town Attorney 
Miller, and Town Clerk Novoa for their dedication and hard work.    
 
The Mayor asked for a vote to accept all 8 items to go forward and the Commission 
voted 5-0 in favor. 
 

      2. Adjournment  
There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned 
at 8:59 p.m.   

 
 
 
 
 

Accepted this _____day of ____________________, 2014 

 
 
 
 
       ________________________ 
       Daniel Dietch, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
_______________________ 
Sandra Novoa, CMC 
Town Clerk 

 
 

Page 15



 
Town of Surfside 

Special Town Commission Meeting 
MINUTES 

June 24, 2014 
 6 p.m.  

Town Hall Commission Chambers - 9293 Harding Ave, 2nd Floor 
Surfside, FL  33154 

 
        

 

1. Opening     

A. Call to Order 
Mayor Dietch called the meeting to order at 6:02 P.M. 
 

B. Roll Call of Members 
Town Clerk Sandra Novoa called the roll with the following members present:  
Mayor Dietch, Vice Mayor Tourgeman, Commissioner Karukin and Commissioner 
Olchyk.  Commissioner Cohen was absent. 
 

C. Pledge of Allegiance 
Human Resources Director Yamileth Slate-McCloud led the Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Commissioner Cohen arrived at 6:04 p.m. 
 

D. Discussion of Town Manager Transition Plan – Michael P. Crotty, Town 
Manager   
 
Town Manager Crotty spoke regarding the transition plan and his letter of resignation 
to the Commission dated June 20, 2014.   He went over the terms of his contract 
which provide for at least sixty (60) days notification and said he would be available 
for additional meetings going forward until such time or if the Commission desires a 
shorter period of time or if the Commission wishes to extend the time until a 
replacement is found.  Town Manager Crotty said the Mayor has been in contact with 
Rick Schnieder, Special Labor Council and has gone over the separation agreement.   
Manager Crotty said he would answer any questions the Commission may have 
regarding the separation agreement. 
 
Commissioner Karukin made a motion to accept the resignation of Town Manager 
Crotty.   The motion received a second from Commissioner Olchyk and all voted in 
favor. 
 
Mayor Dietch expressed his appreciation for the service Manager Crotty has given to 
the community.   Commissioner Cohen thanked Manager Crotty as being a wonderful 
guide for him in his newly appointed Commission seating.   Commissioner Olchyk 
said she was very sorry that he was leaving as he has been a very good Manager, 
treated everyone fairly and in equal standing, was honest and has delivered the things 
he said he would for the town.    She further indicated that she respected Manager 

Page 16



Minutes 
 Special Town Commission Meeting 

June 24, 2014 
 
  

2 

  
 

Crotty very highly, it was a pleasure working with him and wishes him well.   
Commissioner Tourgeman alluded to what Commissioner Olchyk said and added he 
hated to see him go and appreciated the time they have spent together and said he has 
done a fine job for the town.   Commissioner Karukin reiterated all that was said and 
added that one of the characteristics Manager Crotty brought to the table was trust 
and the residents had seen that.  Commissioner Karukin thanked him for his service to 
the town and wished him well. 
 
Mayor Dietch went over some of the details of the separation agreement which were 
consistent with the Manager’s contract and was suggesting that a payout in its entirety 
to include accrued vacation and sick time.   The Mayor said when the Town Manager 
was hired there was a provision for financial support for relocation with the condition 
that if he left before two years it would have to be repaid.  The Mayor does not feel 
that we need to recall the relocation expenses.  The Mayor said in the separation 
agreement we would not invoke that provision.  The Mayor said there was a 
confidentiality provision and non disparity agreement and the Town Manager has 
read the separation agreement and has agreed to it. 
 
The Mayor asked the Commission if they had any questions and there were none and 
the Mayor asked for a motion. 
 
Commissioner Karukin made a motion to accept the Separation Agreement.  The 
motion received a second from Commissioner Olchyk and all voted in favor. 
 
The Mayor then said we need a plan to move forward with the selection of a new 
Town Manager.  He indicated there is a lot going on now in the town.   The Mayor 
said there is an opportunity to consider someone who is well known to the Town and 
the Commission and that was former Public Works Director William Evans who left 
for professional advancement.   The Mayor read some of Mr. Evans strengths and 
feels he has advanced even more in his qualifications for this job.  The Mayor said he 
had been in contact with Mr. Evans and Mr. Evans would accept the position of Town 
Manager. 
 
Commissioner Karukin concurred with the Mayor and thought Mr. Evans is totally 
the right person for the job and would like to bring him back to the town and is ready 
to make a motion. 
 
Vice Mayor Tourgeman disagreed and felt we need to go through the public process 
as it needs to be transparent and would like to interview candidates.   
 
Commissioner Olchyk said she very much likes Mr. Evans and has worked with him 
previously when he was Public Works Director.  However, Commissioner Olchyk 
finds if very offensive that the Commission was not notified first that there was 
someone to be considered and that an offer was made and accepted.  She strongly said 
that as a matter of principle and as a Commissioner she does not like to be presented 
with a fete de compli that someone has been contacted and offered the position with 
some members of the Commission having no voice in it.  Because this was done in 

Page 17



Minutes 
 Special Town Commission Meeting 

June 24, 2014 
 
  

3 

  
 

this manner Commissioner Olchyk objects at this time.  She would like to have a 
local search and find the best candidate.    
 
Commissioner Cohen spoke and said he was sure the Mayor and Commissioner 
Karukin feel that Mr. Evans is highly qualified and having no knowledge of the 
candidate would go with the recommendation of the Mayor.   However, he feels that 
we owe it to our constituencies to have a search and go through the process.  He 
further stated that he has a vision of a town manager who would take the town of 
Surfside to the next level and would like to review resumes and interview candidates 
to assure we have found the right one.  He concurs with Commissioner Olchyk that 
we should not make this a very costly process and advertise locally and perhaps 
through the Town Managers Association. 
 
The Mayor responded to the Commission by stating that he never intended to offend 
anyone or deny them their rights and responsibilities as elected officials as that would 
be the furthest thing from his mind.  He said that he sees that we are in a crisis 
because there is so much going on in the town and there are many challenges that 
have been going on for many months and challenges that come in every day.   He 
presented the candidate as an option not as a fete de compli and he is not adverse to a 
public process.  He further stated that he has always fought for transparency and 
honesty as that is what he stands for.  He presented this option because he knows of 
Mr. Evans capabilities and felt this was an attractive consideration.  However, if the 
Commission feels otherwise he will go along with their decision. 
 
Vice Mayor Tourgeman said he has reservations about the issue as he came to the 
meeting, read a memo and someone was ready to make a motion to accept the 
candidate in question.  He feels that this is not due process and agrees with 
Commissioner Olchyk and Commissioner Cohen.  He said he has no negativity 
toward Mr. Evans but feels we owe ourselves due process and to interview candidates 
so we can compare. 
 
Commissioner Karukin made it clear that he was the one who called Mr. Evans 
without consulting anyone when he heard that Manager Crotty was resigning.   He 
felt that Mr. Evans would be perfect for the job.  He called Mr. Evans and asked if he 
would be interested if his name was put in the hat as a candidate and Mr. Evans 
replied yes.  That was the end of the conversation and things proceeded from there.  
He said this was not the Mayor’s initiative.  He feels that Mr. Evans is a perfect fit for 
the town. 
 
Commissioner Cohen said he understands the positions of the Mayor and 
Commissioner Karukin but also that Manager Crotty indicated he would be there for 
the town through the transition period and is not jumping ship.  Since he has no 
knowledge of Mr. Evans and never interviewed him he cannot vote either way at this 
time.  One of the concerns he has is that Mr. Evans has been with Sunny Isles for only 
two years and is willing to leave for a better opportunity in such a short period of time 
and if that would happen again in Surfside and although this may not happen he 
would like to get someone who is in for a longer haul. 
 

Page 18



Minutes 
 Special Town Commission Meeting 

June 24, 2014 
 
  

4 

  
 

The Mayor asked the Commission what process they should like to follow.   
Commissioner Olchyk suggested we let Human Resources utilize all free avenues 
available for advertising the position and consult with Town Manager Crotty for 
organizations he is familiar with. 
 
Human Resources Director Yamileth Slate-McCloud presented a chart showing the 
recruitment process.  Director McCloud said in order to go forward she needs 
approval from the Commission as to the job description, salary and a cutoff date for 
acceptance of applications and who will review the applications to create a short list.   
These items should be finalized by the July 8th Commission Meeting.  Director 
McCloud listed the publications where they would advertise the position and if there 
was a fee.  Director McCloud detailed more of the process after applications are 
received.  The Town Commission agreed to utilize the same job description, salary 
range and requirements used in the previous Town Manager’s recruitment. 
 
Commissioner Karukin feels that this process is too long and burdensome when we 
have an ideal candidate at our doorstep. 
 
Commissioner Cohen said there is no reason why they cannot interview Mr. Evans 
now but still accept applications and interview others so they are sure they have the 
right candidate.  He suggested we shorten some of the time frames on items and make 
a decision tonight to at least get the advertising out as he feels we will have a good 
response. 
 
After some discussion it was agreed that as part of the criteria to create a short list, the 
applicant should have South Florida experience and that Manager Crotty be involved 
in the selection process.   Mayor Dietch suggested that staff narrow the list to ten 
applicants and the Commission then narrow it down to five applicants.    
 
Manager Crotty presented some options to move things up and said advertising could 
go out in July with applications coming in as soon as three weeks and the selection 
process could be done as early as August.  The Commission agreed to this timeframe. 
 
 

 2. Adjournment  
 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned 
at 6:52p.m.   

 
 

Accepted this _____day of ____________________, 2014 

 
 
       ________________________ 
       Daniel Dietch, Mayor 
Attest: 
 

Page 19



Minutes 
 Special Town Commission Meeting 

June 24, 2014 
 
  

5 

  
 

 
_______________________ 
Sandra Novoa, CMC 
Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 
   

. 

Page 20



 
Town of Surfside 

Special Town Commission Meeting 
Quasi-Judicial Hearing 

MINUTES 
June 24, 2014 

 7 p.m.  
Town Hall Commission Chambers - 9293 Harding Ave, 2nd Floor 

Surfside, FL  33154 
          

 

1. Opening     

A. Call to Order 
Mayor Dietch called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M. 

B. Roll Call of Members 
Town Clerk Sandra Novoa called the roll with the following members present:  
Mayor Dietch, Vice Mayor Tourgeman, Commissioner Karukin, Commissioner 
Olchyk and Commissioner Cohen.   

C. Pledge of Allegiance 
Building Official Rosendo Prieto led the Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 

2. Quasi-Judicial Hearings  
Please be advised that the following items on the Agenda are Quasi-Judicial in nature.  If you 
wish to object or comment upon an item, please complete a Public Speaker’s Card indicating the 
agenda item number on which you would like to comment.  You must be sworn before addressing 
the Town Commission and you may be subject to cross-examination.  If you refuse to submit to 
cross-examination, the Town Commission will not consider your comments in its final 
deliberation.  Please also disclose any Ex-Parte communications you may have had with any 
members of the Town Commission.  Town Commission members must also do the same. 
 
A.  Shul – Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager [This item will be deferred to a time 

certain to be determined at the June 24, 2014 Special Town Commission meeting] 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE, 
FLORIDA, APPROVING A SITE PLAN APPLICATION, PURSUANT TO SECTION 90-
41 ET SEQ. OF THE ZONING CODE, AND A SPECIAL EXCEPTION FOR A 
PRESCHOOL, PURSUANT TO SECTION 90-37 OF THE ZONING CODE TO PERMIT 
A 5,122.9 SQUARE FOOT MULTIPURPOSE ROOM AND A 51,850 SQUARE FOOT 
THREE STORY CLASSROOM FACILITY, INCLUDING AN EXPANSION OF THE 
EXISTING PRESCHOOL AND EXCLUDING A SCHOOL, AS SUBMITTED BY THE 
SHUL, SUBJECT TO CERTAIN CONDITIONS WHICH SHALL BE INCLUDED IN A 
RECORDED COVENANT RUNNING WITH THE LAND, AND PROVIDING FOR A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Page 21



Minutes 
 Special Commission Meeting 

Quasi-Judicial Hearing 
June 24, 2014 

 
  

2 

  
 

Mayor Dietch explained the reasons why this item needed to be re-schedule.  Mayor 
Dietch opened the meeting. 

Town Clerk Sandra Novoa read the title of the resolution. 

Mayor Dietch closed the meeting. 

Vice Mayor Tourgeman made a motion to re-schedule this meeting to a time certain 
on August 26, 2014 at 7:00 p.m. The motion received a second from Commissioner 
Cohen.  Town Clerk Sandra Novoa called the roll and the motion carried 5-0. 

      3. Adjournment  
There being no further business to come before the Joint Meeting Workshop, the meeting 
adjourned at 7:03 p.m.   

 
 
 
 
 

Accepted this _____day of ____________________, 2014 

 
 
 
 
       ________________________ 
       Daniel Dietch, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
_______________________ 
Sandra Novoa, CMC 
Town Clerk 

 

Page 22



3B

Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



3C

Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



3D

Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



TOWN OF SURFSIDE 
PROJECTS PROGRESS REPORT 

CALVIN, GIORDANO & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
July, 2014 

1. Planning and Community Development – Planning and Community Development – In
August 2012, the Shul submitted a site plan application for an expansion. The application
was heard and unanimously approved at the February 27, 2014 Planning and Zoning Board
meeting and will be heard at a Special  Town Commission meeting on August 26, 2014. Per
the discussion at the Planning and Zoning Board meeting, staff has requested that an
independent traffic engineer review the package. Results of the analysis will be reported in
the site plan report. The draft sign code was presented to DVAC in March and to a joint
meeting of the Planning and Zoning Board/Town Commission in May. The sign code
eliminates inconsistencies and unenforceable provisions to provide a user friendly document.
The draft was presented to the Planning and Zoning Board on June 26, 2014 and the Town
Commission will review this item at their July 8, 2014 meeting on first reading. Staff has also
prepared a modification to the parking trust fund which institutes a cap on the number of
spaces a business may buy into the fund. The Miami-Dade Historic Preservation Board
notified property owners along Collins Avenue that its staff have identified properties with
potential historic significance. The Board instituted a moratorium on building permits until
the Board could have a hearing and determine if the structures would be deemed historic. If a
designation is instituted, then the property owners will have limited options for their
properties. Furthermore, the County staff was not aware of any of the projects the Town is
exploring, such as new zoning criteria for the block between Collins and Harding Avenues or
the potential for a parking structure. Town planning staff attended the Historic Board meeting
on June 18, 2014 to request a six month deferral of a decision by the Board so that the Town
could work with County staff. The Board granted a three month deferral. Staff continues to
answer approximately 85-100 zoning questions monthly and reviews permit applications.

2. Information Technology & TV Broadcasts - IT is awaiting approval from the Town
Manager for a surveillance camera to be installed at the Surfside Park located on 96th Street.
Licensing has been purchased for Microsoft Office 2013 for the new police laptops and IT is
beginning the process of deploying the new laptops next week. IT staff are working on
setting up the Automated Arrest Form for the Police Department.  AT&T is now proceeding
with the fiber installation for the new internet circuit. IT has created new name templates for
the Commissioners to be used on Channel 77. Due to a maintenance outage that occurred on
May 23rd, a failover phone solution has been provided to the Town by IPFone in order to
avoid future downtime. IT Staff is working with Town Staff to switch phone service
providers to a tier 3 provider (increased redundancy).  IT is also setting up new phones for
Emergency Management purposes.

3E

Page 43



Page 2 
Town of Surfside 

Projects Progress Report 

3. Public Utilities / Engineering – Public Utilities / Engineering – The 1 year warranty video
of the sanitary sewer mains is currently scheduled to commence in July 2014.

Funding Summary –

Funding Status: Amount               Amount Received            

FDEP Grant $873,500 $873,500     

FDEP Grant $125,000 $125,000  

FDEP Grant $100,000 $100,000               

FDEP State Revolving Fund Loan $9,312,881 $7,339,928 ***           

BBC Bond $859,000 $817,500 *       

TOTAL $11,270,381 $9,225,928 

*The final request has been submitted.

***Request # 3 has been submitted for the full $9,312,881 

4. Town-Owned Seawall Repair – Three bids were received by the Town Clerk and read
publically on June 17, 2014 at 10:00am.  CGA has reviewed the three competitive bids and
have included a detailed analysis as part of your Commission Agenda.

5. Biscaya Drainage Project – All permits have been obtained and 100% plans have been
provided to the Town.  The Town has contacted a precast/pipe company and has begun the
procurement and shop drawing process.  A community outreach meeting is scheduled with
the residents of Biscaya for 7:00PM on Thursday, July 10, 2014.

Page 44



3F

Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



3G

Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



4A1

Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



4B1

Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



4B2

Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



5A1 - 5A7

Page 120



Page 121



5A1

Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



5A2

Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



5A3

Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



5A4

Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



5A5

Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



5A6

Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



5A7

Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



5B1

Page 162



Page 163



Page 1 of 16 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS (RFQ) 

PROFESSIONAL GENERAL ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES 

The Town of Surfside (Town), Miami-Dade County, Florida, hereby gives notice that it is seeking 
qualifications for Professional General Architectural services to the Town on an as-needed, 
project-by-project basis under the terms of a Continuing Contract. Selection of the firm(s) or 
individual(s) will be made in accordance with Fla. Stat. §287.055 - Consultants Competitive 
Negotiations Act. 

Submittals shall be accepted until 10:00 a.m. on April 4th, 2014. A total of six (6) copies (one 
(1) of the six (6) copies shall be an electronic copy) of the submittal must be submitted and 
clearly marked on the front of the envelope: 

“SEALED QUALIFICATIONS” 
RFQ # 14- 001 PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES 
OPENING DATE AND TIME:  April 4, 2014, 10:30 A.M. 

Sealed submittals will be received by the Town Clerk until 10:00 a.m. on April 4, 2014, at 
Town of Surfside, Town Hall located at 9293 Harding Avenue, Surfside, Florida, 33154. 
Submittals received after this time will not be accepted. Submittals will be opened publicly at this 
time.  

A mandatory pre-submittal conference will be held in the Commission Chambers of the 
Town of Surfside, 9293 Harding Avenue, Surfside, FL 33154 at 10:30 a.m. on March 14, 
2014. 
Only those firms with representatives in the room at 10:30 a.m. on March 14, 2014 will be 
allowed to submit a Response on April 4, 2014.  
Deadline to submit requests for clarification will be 10:00 a.m. on March 28, 2014. 

Consultants are responsible for making certain that their submittal is received at the location 
specified by the due date and time. The Town is not responsible for delays caused by any mail, 
package or courier service, including the U.S. mail, or caused by any other occurrence or 
condition. 

RFQ packages may be obtained from the Office of the Town Clerk, Town of Surfside, 9293 
Harding Avenue, Surfside, Florida 33154, at no cost, and are also available on line at 
www.townofsurfsidefl.gov. 

The Town reserves the right to reject any or all submittals, with or without cause, and to waive 
technical errors and informalities, and to accept the submittal which best serves the interest of 
the Town. 

Sandra Novoa, CMC, Town Clerk 
Town of Surfside 

ATTACHMENT "1"

Page 164

http://www.townofsurfsidefl.gov/


Page 2 of 16 
 

 

Town of Surfside, Florida 
Request for Qualifications No. 14- 001 

 
PROFESSIONAL GENERAL ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES 

 
The Town of Surfside (Town) is accepting Submittals from qualified and properly licensed firms 
or individuals (all respondents shall hereinafter be referred to as “consultants” and/or “firms”) 
interested in providing Professional General Architectural services.  
 
The chosen consultants will provide these services on a non-exclusive basis. The Town does 
not guarantee that any or all of the services identified in this Request for Qualifications (“RFQ”) 
will be assigned to the chosen consultant during the term of their agreement. 
 

SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS: 
 
1. SELECTION PROCESS: Selection of the firm or individual will be made in accordance 

with Fla. Stat. §287.055 – Consultants’ Competitive Negotiations Act. 
 
2. ELIGIBILITY: In addition to the other requirements stated in this document, to be eligible 

to respond to this RFQ, the consultants must have successfully provided, within the past 
five years, services similar to those outlined in the Scope of Work presented in this RFQ. 
Each consultant shall meet all legal, technical, and professional requirements for providing 
the requested services. The consultants shall furnish such additional information as the 
Town may reasonably require. This includes information that indicates financial resources 
as well as the ability to provide and maintain the requested services. The consultants shall 
have no record of judgments, pending lawsuits against the Town or criminal activities 
involving moral turpitude. 

 
3. SUBMITTAL: Submittals must be received by the Town Clerk’s Office at the date and time 

stated in the Notice to Consultants at the Surfside Commission Chambers, 9293 Harding 
Avenue, Surfside, FL  33154. A total of ten (10) copies of the submittal must be submitted 
at the date and time stated in the Notice to Consultants at the Surfside Commission 
Chambers, 9293 Harding Avenue, Surfside, FL 33154. 

 
4. SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS: All submittals shall contain no more than ten (10) pages 

and a total of six (6) copies shall be submitted, with one (1) marked “Original” containing 
all original documents of the required response to the Request for Qualifications (RFQ) 
and one (1) electronic copy (in PDF format) on electronic media (CD-R/flash drive). The 
submittal should include as a minimum guideline at least the following: 

 
a. Name, address and company, including but not limited to, a business overview, 

financial state of the business, annual revenue for the past two years, and 
names and addresses of persons having financial interest in the firm. 

b. Details of your qualifications and capabilities to provide services under this 
solicitation. 

c. Composition and experience of the project team that will be assigned under 
this solicitation. Resumes of key personnel should be included. Location of the 
project team members should be clearly identified as well as projects where the 
proposed team has worked together for a municipal client. 

d. The number of all projects (including government projects) completed or in 
process for the past 5 (five) years, and a synopsis of those projects most 
relevant to the services sought in herein. Include a list of client references with 
contact names and telephone numbers. 

Page 165



Page 3 of 16 
 

 

e. Disclosure of any potential conflict of interest that your firm may have due to 
other clients, contracts or property interests in the Town’s projects under this 
solicitation. 

f. A current GSA SF 254 and 255 should be furnished, i.e. firm’s capabilities, 
adequacy of personnel, past performance record and experience. (Note: These 
forms will NOT be counted as part of the 10 page maximum.) 

g. Sworn statement pursuant to Fla. Stat. §287.133(3)(A), Public Entity Crime, a 
copy of which is attached hereto. (Note: These forms will NOT be counted as 
part of the 10 page maximum.) 

h. Non-Collusive Affidavit, a copy of which is attached hereto. (Note: These forms 
will NOT be counted as part of the 10 page maximum.). 

i. Evidence of recent, current and projected person-hour workload should be 
provided for the proposed project team members. The candidate firm must 
have at least one (1) registered professional engineer under Fla. Stat. Chapter 
471, as principal officer or partner of the firm. The candidate firm must comply 
with Fla. Stat. Chapter 471. 

j. Proof of authorization to transact business in Florida from the Florida Secretary 
of State, from the prime as well as supporting firms. 

 
The attached Scope of Services provides more detail as to actual tasks involved within the 
scope of this submittal. Failure to satisfy the requirements contained herein may result in 
the submittal being deemed non-responsive. 

 
5. PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES STATEMENT: All submittals must be accompanied by an 

executed form PUR 7068, SWORN STATEMENT PURSUANT TO FLA. STAT. §287.133 
on Public Entity Crimes. (Copy enclosed) 

 
6. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE: In accordance with Fla. Stat. §287.087, preference will be 

given to businesses with drug-free workplace programs; whenever submittals are similar in 
all other respects, award will be made to the entity having a Drug-Free Workplace 
Program if a Drug-Free Workplace Certification is submitted with the response. 

 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
1. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS: Selection of the consultant will be made in accordance 

with Fla. Stat. §287.055, “Consultants’ Competitive Negotiation Act”. Pursuant to Fla. Stat. 
Chapter 119, Public Records Law, §119.071, Inspection and examination of records; 
exemptions (b): “Sealed bids or proposals received by an agency pursuant to invitations to 
bid or request for proposals are exempt from Fla. Stat. §119.07(1) and Fla. Const. §24(a), 
Art. 1 until such time as the agency provides notice of the decision or intended decision 
pursuant to Fla. Stat. §120.57(3)(a) or within 10 days after bid or proposal opening, 
whichever is earlier.” 

 
2. RESERVATION OF RIGHTS: While pursuing this RFQ process, the Town reserves the 

right to: 
 

• accept any or all responses, and the right, in its sole discretion, to accept the 
consultants it considers most favorable to the  Town’s interests; 

• reject any and all qualifications and to seek new qualifications when such a 
procedure is reasonably in the best interest of the  Town at any time during the 
process; 

• investigate the financial capability, integrity, experience, and quality of 
performance of each consultant, including officers, principals, senior 

Page 166



Page 4 of 16 
 

 

management, and supervisors, as well as staff identified in the response to RFQ; 
• investigate the consultants’ qualifications or any of its agents, as it deems 

appropriate;  
• conduct personal interviews of any or all prospective consultants prior to 

selection (the  Town shall not be liable for any costs incurred by the consultant in 
connection with such interviews); 

• waive any of the conditions or criteria set forth in this RFQ. 
 
3. PROOF OF INSURANCE: The consultant shall secure and maintain throughout the 

duration of this Agreement insurance of such types and in such amounts not less than 
those specified below as satisfactory to the Town, naming the Town as an Additional 
Insured, underwritten by a firm rated A-X or better by A.M. Best and qualified to do 
business in the State of Florida. The insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with 
respect to the Town, its officials, employees, agents and volunteers naming the Town as 
additional insured. Any insurance maintained by the Town shall be in excess of the 
consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute to the consultant’s insurance. The 
insurance coverage’s shall include at a minimum the following amounts set forth herein: 

 
a. Commercial General Liability coverage with limits of liability of not less than a 

$1,000,000 per Occurrence combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage. This Liability Insurance shall also include Completed Operations and 
Product Liability coverages and eliminate the exclusion with respect to property 
under the care, custody and control of consultant. The General Aggregate 
Liability limit (including Products/Completed Operations) shall be in the amount of 
$2,000,000. 

b. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability insurance, to apply for all 
employees for statutory limits as required by applicable State and Federal laws. 
The policy(ies) must include Employer’s Liability with minimum limits of 
$1,000,000 each accident. No employee, subcontractor or agent of the 
consultant shall be allowed to provide work pursuant to this Agreement who is 
not covered by Workers’ Compensation insurance. 

c. Business Automobile Liability with minimum limits of $1,000,000 per Occurrence 
combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage. Coverage must be 
afforded on a form no more restrictive than the latest edition of the Business 
Automobile Liability policy, without restrictive endorsements, as filed by the 
Insurance Service Office, and must include Owned, Hired, and Non-Owned 
Vehicles. 

d. Builder’s Risk property insurance upon the entire work to the full replacement 
cost value thereof.  This insurance shall include the interest of the Town and the 
consultant and shall provide All-Risk coverage against loss by physical damage 
including, but not limited to, Fire, Extended Coverage, Theft, Vandalism and 
Malicious Mischief, Windstorm and Flood. 

 
The consultant acknowledges that it shall bear the full risk of loss for any portion of the 
work damaged, destroyed, lost or stolen until final completion has been achieved for a 
Project, and all such work shall be fully restored by the consultant, at its sole cost and 
expense, in accordance with the Agreement Documents. 

 
Certificate of Insurance. On or before the Effective Date of this and prior to commencing 
of any work, Certificates of Insurance shall be provided to the Town, reflecting the Town 
as an Additional Insured. Each certificate shall include no less than a (30) thirty-day 
advance written notice to the Town prior to cancellation, termination, or material alteration 

Page 167



Page 5 of 16 
 

 

of said policies or insurance. The consultant shall be responsible for assuring that the 
insurance certificates required by this Section remain in full force and effect for the 
duration of this Agreement, including any extensions or renewals that may be granted by 
the Town. The Certificates of Insurance shall not only name the types of policy(ies) 
provided, but also shall refer specifically to this Agreement and shall state that such 
insurance is as required by this Agreement. The Town reserves the right to inspect and 
return a certified copy of such policies, upon written request by the Town. If a policy is due 
to expire prior to the completion of the work, renewal Certificates of Insurance shall be 
furnished thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date of their policy expiration. Acceptance of 
the Certificate(s) is subject to approval of the Town. 
 
Additional Insured. The Town is to be specifically included as an Additional Insured for 
the liability of the Town resulting from work performed by or on behalf of the consultant in 
performance of this Agreement. The consultant’s insurance, including that applicable to 
the Town as an Additional Insured, shall apply on a primary basis and any other insurance 
maintained by the Town shall be in excess of and shall not contribute to the consultant’s 
insurance. The consultant’s insurance shall contain a severability of interest provision 
providing that, except with respect to the total limits of liability, the insurance shall apply to 
each Insured or Additional Insured (for applicable policies) in the same manner as if 
separate policies had been issued to each. 
 
Deductibles. All deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and be 
reasonably approved by the Town. The consultant shall be responsible for the payment of 
any deductible or self-insured retention in the event of any claim. 
 
The provisions of this section shall survive termination of this Agreement. 

 
4. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: The consultant shall be licensed and certified by all 

appropriate federal, state, county and local agencies.  Prior to the commencement of the 
work and at all times during the Term of this Agreement, the consultant shall procure and 
maintain, at its sole cost and expense, and provide copies to the Town, all required 
licenses and certifications for the performance of the work and the operations set forth in 
this Agreement. 
 
The consultant shall not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation, age, marital status, national origin, physical or mental disability in the 
performance of the work under this Agreement. The consultant shall comply with all equal 
employment opportunity requirements and any and all applicable requirements established 
by state and federal law. 
 

5. PUBLIC RECORDS: Upon award, recommendation, or ten (10) days after the RFQ 
submittal opening, whichever is earlier, any material submitted in response to this RFQ will 
become a "public record" and shall be subject to public disclosure consistent with Fla. 
Stat. Chapter 119, (Public Records Law). Consultants must claim the applicable 
exemptions to disclosure, provided by law, in their response to the RFQ by identifying 
materials to be protected, and must state the reasons why such exclusion from public 
disclosure is necessary and legal. The Town reserves the right to make all final 
determination(s) of the applicability of the Florida Public Records Law.  

 
 

Page 168



Page 6 of 16 
 

 

6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The consultant agrees to adhere to and be governed by the 
Miami-Dade County Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Ordinance Section 2-11.1, as 
amended; and by Town of Surfside Ordinance No.07-1474, which are incorporated by 
reference herein as if fully set forth herein, in connection with the Agreement conditions 
hereunder. The consultant covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire 
any interest, direct or indirectly that should conflict in any manner or degree with the 
performance of the services. 

 
7. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR: The consultant is an Independent Contractor under this 

Agreement. Personnel provided by the consultant shall be employees of the consultant 
and subject to supervision by the consultant, and not as officers, employees, or agents of 
the Town. Personnel policies, tax responsibilities, social security, health insurance, 
worker's compensation insurance, employee benefits, purchasing policies and other 
similar administrative procedures applicable to the work rendered under this Agreement 
shall be those of the consultant. 

 
8. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

Termination. The Town has the right to terminate this Agreement for convenience and for 
any reason or no reason, in whole or in part, upon thirty (30) days written notice to 
consultant. Upon termination of this Agreement, and final payment of any undisputed 
outstanding amounts due for the work rendered by the consultant prior to and through the 
date of the notice of termination, copies of all records, charts, sketches, studies, plans, 
drawings, and other documents related to the work performed under this Agreement, 
whether finished or not, shall be turned over to the Town within ten (10) days. 

Termination for Default. If the consultant fails to timely begin the work, or fails to perform 
the work with sufficient workers and equipment or with sufficient materials to insure the 
prompt completion of the work according to the work order and/or this Agreement, or shall 
perform the work unsuitably, or cause it to be rejected as defective and unsuitable, or shall 
discontinue the prosecution of the work pursuant to the accepted schedule, or if the 
consultant shall fail to perform any material term set forth in the Agreement 
Documents/Work Order, or if the consultant shall  become insolvent or  be declared 
bankrupt, or commit any act of bankruptcy or insolvency, or shall make an assignment for 
the benefit of creditors, or from any other cause whatsoever shall not carry on the work in 
an acceptable manner, the Town may, upon seven (7) days written notice of termination, 
terminate the work of the consultant, exclude the consultant from the Project sites, provide 
for alternate prosecution of the work, appropriate or use any or all materials and 
equipment on the Project site as may be suitable and acceptable, and may perform the 
work by whatever methods it may deem expedient. In such case, the consultant shall not 
be entitled to receive any further payment. All damages, costs and charges incurred by the 
Town, together with the costs of completing the work, shall be deducted from any monies 
due or which may become due to the consultant. In case the damages and expenses so 
incurred by the Town shall exceed monies due to the consultant from the Town, consultant 
shall be liable and shall pay to the Town the amount of said excess promptly upon 
demand therefore by the Town. In the event it is adjudicated that the Town was not 
entitled to terminate the Agreement as described hereunder for default, the Agreement 
shall automatically be deemed terminated by the Town for convenience as described 
below. 

Page 169



Page 7 of 16 
 

 

Payment after Termination. Provided that the consultant has performed in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement as of the date of termination pursuant to the provision 
provided for herein, the consultant shall receive all payments due to the consultant for 
work rendered and accepted prior to and up to the date of termination. 

9. ASSIGNMENT; AMENDMENTS: This Agreement or the work shall not be assigned, sold, 
transferred or otherwise encumbered, under any circumstances, in whole or in part, by the 
consultant, without the prior written consent of the Town, in its sole and absolute 
discretion. 

No modification, amendment or alteration in the terms or conditions of this Agreement 
shall be effective unless contained in a written document executed with the same formality 
as this Agreement by both parties. 

10. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION: The parties submit to the jurisdiction of any Florida state 
or federal court in any action or proceeding arising out of and/or relating to this Agreement. 
Venue of any action to enforce this Agreement shall be proper exclusively in Miami-Dade 
County, Florida. 

11. GOVERNING LAW: This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed 
by the laws of the State of Florida. 

12. NO WAIVER OF BREACH: The failure of a party to insist on strict performance of any 
provision of this Agreement shall not be construed to constitute a waiver of a breach of 
any other provision or of a subsequent breach of the same provision. 

13. STANDARD OF CARE: Consultant shall exercise the same degree of care, skill, and 
diligence in the performance of the work as is ordinarily provided by a professional under 
similar circumstances and consultant shall, at no additional cost to the Town, re-perform 
services which fail to satisfy the foregoing standard of care. 

 
14. INDEMNIFICATION: The consultant shall at all times indemnify and hold harmless and, at 

the Town Attorney’s option, defend or pay for an attorney selected by the Town Attorney to 
defend the Town of Surfside, its officers, agents, and employees from and against all 
causes of action, demands, claims, losses, liabilities, damages, and costs, including, but 
not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees, to the extent caused by the acts, omissions, 
negligence, recklessness, wrongful conduct, acts, errors or omissions of the consultant or 
any subcontractors or other persons employed or utilized by the consultant in the 
performance of the work pursuant to this Agreement. The consultant’s obligation under 
this paragraph shall not be limited in any way by the agreed upon cost of services/contract 
price, or the consultant’s limit of, or lack of, sufficient insurance protection. 

 
The indemnification obligations under this clause shall not be limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for 
the consultant or any subcontractor or other persons employed or utilized by the 
consultant in the performance of this Agreement, under worker's compensation acts, 
disability benefit nets, or other employee benefit acts. 

The consultant shall not specify or allow any subcontractor or other persons employed or 
utilized by the consultant in the performance of this Agreement to specify a particular 

Page 170



Page 8 of 16 
 

 

design, process or product that infringes upon any patent. The consultant shall indemnify 
and hold the Town and its officers and employees harmless from any loss, cost or 
expense, including reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred, on account thereof if the 
consultant violates the requirements of this section. 

15. OTHER ISSUES 
 
The Town reserves the right to determine whether the consultant’s responses are 
adequate or inadequate, complete or incomplete, and to determine what constitutes the 
grounds for disqualification of a consultant who may submit inadequate or incomplete 
responses.  The Town reserves the right to determine if a submittal is unresponsive. The 
Town may disqualify a consultant who submits a submittal determined by the Town to be 
unresponsive or which contains insufficient, inadequate, or incomplete responses to be 
deemed unresponsive. The Town Manager shall make such determinations and will rely 
on the staff selection committee for input in this matter. 

 
The Town reserves the right to request clarification of information submitted and to request 
additional information from consultants after the deadline for receipt of qualifications. 

 
Any submittal may be withdrawn until the date and time set above for submission of the 
submittals. 

 
Costs of preparation of a response to this RFQ are solely those of the consultant and the 
Town assumes no responsibility for any such costs incurred by the consultant. 
 
The consultant understands that this RFQ does not constitute an agreement or contract 
with the Town. 
 
Any consultant, who submits in its response to the Town, any information that is 
determined by the Town to be substantially inaccurate, misleading, exaggerated, or 
incorrect, may be disqualified from consideration. The Town Manager will determine if a 
consultant will be disqualified. 

 
16. EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

The qualifications will be reviewed and evaluated in accordance with the following criteria: 
 

Criteria Points 
 

Ability of Professional Personnel 25 
Past Performance and Experience – Firm 25 
Past Performance and Experience – Individual/Project Team 25 
Location 10 
Approach to the Project 15 

 
TOTAL         100 

 
 
NOTE TO CONSULTANTS: Labor rates will not be a factor at this stage of the 
process and should not be provided. 
 

 
 

Page 171



Page 9 of 16 
 

 

17. SELECTION PROCESS 
 

a. An evaluation committee comprised of appropriate Town staff and/or members of 
the community, as deemed necessary with the appropriate technical expertise 
and/or knowledge shall be appointed by the Town Manager to assist in the 
necessary evaluation.  

b. The committee shall have a minimum of three (3) members. All meetings of the 
selection committee shall be conducted in a manner consistent with the Sunshine 
Law and all applicants shall receive notice by mail, fax, or email. A quorum shall 
be a majority of members except that if there are only three members all three 
members must be present. All members shall be free of any conflicts of interest 
as set forth in Fla. Stat. Chapter 112. The selection committee shall then set forth 
the procedure for reviewing the consultant submittals. The selection committee 
shall reduce the number of firms to a short list of a minimum of five (provided at 
least five members responded.)  In short-listing firms, the committee shall use the 
criteria set forth in the RFQ and attempt to select the best qualified firms for the 
particular project. The committee shall then hold discussion with all short-listed 
firms. This may be undertaken at the same meeting or a separate meeting 
scheduled by the committee. 

c. After discussions are held with the short-listed firms, the voting members of the 
selection committee may discuss the presentations and the qualifications of each 
firm further and shall rank the firms based upon which firms will best serve the 
Town based upon the factors set forth in the RFQ. The firms shall be ranked in 
order of preference.  The ranking shall be reported to the Town Commission who 
shall make the final decision with regard to the firms that should be chosen.  The 
Town Commission may approve the rankings as set forth by the selection 
committee or, re-rank the applicants based upon the criteria.  Prior to re-ranking 
the consultants based upon the criteria set forth in the RFQ, the Town 
Commission must undertake a 4/5 vote to indicate that it may wish to rank the 
consultants in an order different from those established by the selection 
committee. 

d. Upon the Town Commission approving a ranking, negotiations shall be 
undertaken with the top ranked firms. The Town Manager or his/her designee 
shall undertake said negotiations. Upon the successful negotiation of a contract 
or, if the Town Manager or his/her designee is unable to negotiate a satisfactory 
contract with the first ranked firm, negotiations with that firm shall be completed 
or formerly terminated in a writing sent to the firm. Upon termination or 
completion of said negotiations, negotiations shall then be undertaken with the 
second ranked firm, with this process being repeated until agreements are 
reached with the desired number of consultants; the agreements are then 
approved by the negotiator and formally approved by the Town Commission. If 
the desired amounts of agreements are not entered into by the Town and if the 
short-list is exhausted, a new request for qualifications shall be undertaken. The 
Town reserves the right to award to less than five firms. 

 
18. Protest Procedures  

 
Standing - Parties that are not actual proposers, including, but not limited to, 
subcontractors, material and labor suppliers, manufacturers and their representatives, 
shall not have standing to protest or appeal any determination made pursuant to this 
Section.  

 

Page 172



Page 10 of 16 
 

 

Protest of Failure to Qualify - Upon notification by the Town that a proposer is deemed 
non-responsive and/or non-responsible, the proposer who is deemed non-responsive 
and/or non-responsible may file a protest with the Town Clerk by close of business on the 
third Business Day after notification (excluding the day of notification) or any right to 
protest is forfeited. (Town Hall hours are as follows: Monday-Friday from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 
p.m.)  
 
Protest of Award of Agreement - After a Notice of Intent to Award an Agreement is 
posted, any proposer who is aggrieved in connection with the pending award of the 
agreement or any element of the process leading to the award of the agreement may file a 
protest with the Town Clerk by close of business on the third Business Day after posting 
(excluding the day of posting) or any right to protest is forfeited. A Notice of Intent to 
Reject all Submittals is subject to the protest procedure.  
 
Content and Filing - The protest shall be in writing, shall identify the name and address of 
the protester, and shall include a factual summary of, and the basis for, the protest. Filing 
shall be considered complete when the protest and the Protest Bond are received by the 
Town Clerk. The official clock at the Town Hall reception desk shall govern.  
 
Protest Bond - Any consultant filing a protest shall simultaneously provide a Protest Bond 
to the Town in the amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000). If the protest is decided in 
the protester's favor, the entire Protest Bond shall be returned to the protester. If the 
protest is not decided in the protester's favor, the Protest Bond shall be forfeited to the 
Town. The Protest Bond shall be in the form of a cashier's check.  
 
Protest Committee - The Protest Committee shall review all protests. The Town Manager 
shall appoint the members of the Protest Committee. The Town Attorney or designee shall 
serve as counsel to the Committee. The meeting of the Protest Committee shall be 
opened to the public and all of the actual proposers shall be notified of the date, time and 
place of the meeting. If the Protest Committee determines that the protest has merit, the 
Town Manager shall direct that all appropriate steps be taken. If the Protest Committee 
denies the protest, the protester may appeal to the Town Commission. All of the actual 
proposers shall be notified of the determination by the Protest Committee. The Protest 
Committee shall terminate upon the award of the contract, or such other time as 
determined by the Town Commission.  
 
Stay of Ranking in the RFQ Process - In the event of a timely protest, the Town 
Manager shall stay the ranking of qualified consultants in the RFQ process unless the 
Town Manager determines that the award of the Agreement without delay or the 
continuation of the RFQ process is necessary to protect any substantial interest of the 
Town. The continuation of the RFQ process or award under these circumstances shall not 
preempt or otherwise affect the protest.  
 
Appeals to Town Commission - Any actual consultant who is aggrieved by a 
determination of the Protest Committee may appeal the determination to the Town 
Commission by filing an appeal with the Town Clerk by close of business on the third 
Business Day after the protester has been notified (excluding the day of notification) of the 
determination by the Protest Committee. The appeal shall be in writing and shall include a 
factual summary of, and the basis for, the appeal. Filing of an appeal shall be considered 
complete when the appeal is received by the Town Clerk.  
 
 
 

Page 173



Page 11 of 16 
 

 

Failure to File Protest - Any actual proposer that does not formally protest or appeal in 
accordance with this Section shall not have standing to protest the Town Commission's 
award. 
 

19. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Questions regarding this RFQ must be directed to: 
 
Michael Crotty 
Town Manager 
Tel: (305) 993-1052 
Email: mcrotty@townofsurfsidefl.gov 

 
Responses to this RFQ must be delivered by the date and time specified in the Notice to 
Architects, and addressed to: 
 
Sandra Novoa, CMC 
Town Clerk 
Town Clerk’s Office 
9293 Harding Avenue 
Surfside, FL 33154 

 
• The Town is under no obligation to return the submittals.  
• The Town will not be liable for any cost incurred in the preparation of the response to the 

RFQ.  
• The submittal shall be prima facie evidence that the consultant has full knowledge of the 

scope, nature, quantity and quality of work to be performed; the detailed requirements of 
the specifications; and the conditions under which the work is to be performed. 

• The consultants shall furnish the Town with such additional information as the Town may 
reasonably require. 

• Under no circumstance should any prospective consultant, or anyone acting on their 
behalf, seek to influence or to gain the support of any member of the  Town Commission 
or the Town Staff favorable to the interest of the prospective consultant.  Likewise, 
contact with the Town Commission or Town Staff against the interest of other 
prospective consultants is prohibited.  Any such activities may result in the exclusion of 
the prospective consultant from consideration by the Town. 

 

Page 174

mailto:mcrotty@townofsurfsidefl.gov


Page 12 of 16 
 

 

Town of Surfside, Florida 
Request for Qualifications No. 14- 

 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
Section I. General Objectives 
 
The Town of Surfside is soliciting professional architectural services of an individual(s) or firm(s) 
qualified to serve as the Town’s Consulting Architect. The selected consultant(s) shall provide 
professional architectural services on an as-needed, project-by-project basis, under the terms of 
a Continuing Contract for a three (3) year period with up to two additional consecutive one (1) 
year renewal clauses, subject to mutual agreement. The Town reserves the right to also have 
other professional architectural consultants perform assignments or related architectural work 
tasks during the contract period. 
 
The Town is soliciting professional architectural services and related work which may include, 
but not limited to, the tasks identified below: 
 

• Design/Programming, Schematic 
• Reports 
• Analysis 
• Graphic conceptual drawings 
• Color selection and coordination 
• Inspection  
• General design work 
• Preparation of complete construction contract plans, specifications for permitting and 

special provisions for the assigned projects 
• Submission of plans for building permits prior to selection of contractor 
• Procurement and negotiation services 
• Construction administration 
• Interior layout and design including furniture 
• Public engagement and public agencies interface 
• Post design services (e.g., submittal review, responses to Request for Information and 

services during construction) 
• Landscaping layout and design 
• Assist and Propose - Design Build Services 

 
The Town does not guarantee that any or all of the services identified in this Request for 
Qualifications (“RFQ”) will be assigned to the selected consultant(s) during the term of 
their agreements. 

Page 175



Page 13 of 16 
 

 

 
DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE CERTIFICATION 

 
IDENTICAL TIE BIDS/SUBMITTALS - In accordance with Fla. Stat. §287.087, 
preference shall be given to businesses with drug-free workplace programs. Whenever 
two or more bids, which are equal with respect to price, quality, and service, are 
received by the State or by any political subdivision for the procurement of commodities 
or contractual services, a bid received from a business that certifies that it has 
implemented a drug-free workplace program shall be given preference in the award 
process. Established procedures for processing tie bids will be followed if none of the 
tied vendors have a drug-free workplace program. In order to have a drug-free 
workplace program, a business shall: 

 
1. Publish a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, 
distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited 
in the workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees 
for violations of such prohibition. 
 
2. Inform employees about the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace, the 
business policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace, any available drug 
counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs, and the penalties 
that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations. 
 
3. Give each employee engaged in providing the commodities or contractual 
services that are under bid a copy of the statement specified in subsection (1). 
 
4. In the statement specified in subsection (1), notify the employees that, as a 
condition of working on the commodities or contractual services that are under bid, 
the employee will abide by the terms of the statement and will notify the employer 
of any conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any violation of Fla. 
Stat. Chapter 893 or of any controlled substance law of the United States or any 
state, for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five (5) days after 
such conviction. 
 
5. Impose a sanction on, or require the satisfactory participation in a drug abuse 
assistance or rehabilitation program if such is available in the employee’ s 
community, by any employee who is so convicted. 
 
6. Make a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through 
implementation of this section. 

 
 
As the person authorized to sign the statement, I certify that this firm complies fully with 
the above requirements. 
 
 
______________________ 
VENDOR’S SIGNATURE 
 

Page 176



Page 14 of 16 
 

 

SWORN STATEMENT PURSUANT TO FLA. STAT. §287.133(3)(a) 
PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES 

 
THIS FORM MUST BE SIGNED AND SWORN TO IN THE PRESENCE OF A NOTARY PUBLIC OR 
OTHER OFFICIAL AUTHORIZED TO ADMINISTER OATHS. 
 
1. This sworn statement is submitted to: __________________________________________________ 

By: _____________________________________________________________________________ 
For: _____________________________________________________________________________ 
whose business address is: __________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
and (if applicable,) its Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN) is: ______________________ 
(IF the entity has no FEIN, include the Social Security Number of the individual signing this sworn 
statement: 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
2. I understand that a “public entity crime” as defined in Fla. Stat. §287.133(l)(g), 

means a violation of any state or federal law by a person with respect to and directly 
related to the transaction of business with any public entity or with an agency or 
political subdivision of any other state or of the United States, including, but not 
limited to, any bid or contract for goods or services to be provided to any public 
entity or an agency or political subdivision of any other state or of the United States 
and involving antitrust, fraud, theft, bribery, collusion, racketeering, conspiracy, or 
material misrepresentation. 

 
3. I understand that “convicted” or “conviction” as defined in Fla. Stat. §287.133(l)(b), 

means a finding of guilt or a conviction of a public entity crime, with or without an 
adjudication of guilt, in any federal or state trial court of record relating to charges 
brought by indictment or information after July 1, 1989, as a result of a jury verdict, 
nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contenders. 

 
4. I understand that an “affiliate” as defined in Fla. Stat. §287.133(l)(a), means:  

 

a. A predecessor or successor of a person convicted of a public entity crime; or  
b. An entity under the control of any natural person who is active in the 

management of the entity and who has been convicted of a public entity 
come.  The term “affiliate” includes those officers, directors, executives, 
partners, shareholders, employees, members, and agents who are active in 
the management of an affiliate. The ownership by one person of shares 
constituting a controlling interest in another person, or a pooling of 
equipment or income among persons when not for fair market value under 
an arm's length agreement, shall be a prima facie case that one person 
controls another person. A person who knowingly enters into a joint venture 
with a person who has been convicted of a public entity crime in Florida 
during the preceding 36 months shall be considered an affiliate. 

 
5. I understand that a “person” as defined in Fla. Stat. § 287.133(l)(e), means any 

natural person or entity organized under the laws of any state or of the United States 
with the legal power to enter into a binding contract and which bids or applies to bid 
on contracts for the provision of goods or services let by a public entity, or which 
otherwise transacts or applies to transact business with a public entity. The term 

Page 177



Page 15 of 16 
 

 

“person” includes those officers, directors, executives, partners, shareholders, 
employees, members, and agents who are active in management of any entity. 

 
6. Based on information and belief, the statement which I have marked below is true in 

a relation to the entity submitting this sworn statement. (Please indicate which one 
(1) of the following three (3) statements is applicable.)  

 
____ (1)  Neither the entity submitting this sworn statement, nor any of its officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who 
are active in the management of the entity, or any affiliate of the entity has been 
charged with and convicted of a public entity crime within the past 36 months.  
 
____ (2)  The entity submitting this sworn statement, or one or more of its officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who 
are active in the management of the entity, or any affiliate of the entity has been 
charged with and convicted of a public entity crime within the past 36 months.  
 
____ (3)  The entity submitting this sworn statement, or one or more of its officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who 
are active in the management of the entity, or agents who are active in management 
of the entity, or any affiliate of the entity has been charged with and convicted of a 
public entity crime within the past 36 months. However, there has been a 
subsequent proceeding before a Hearing Officers of the State of Florida, Division of 
Administrative Hearings and the Final Order by the Hearing Officer determined that it 
was not in the public interest to place the entity submitting this sworn statement on 
the convicted vendor list. (Attached is a copy of the final order.)  
 

I UNDERSTAND THAT THE SUBMISSION OF THIS FORM TO THE CONTRACTING 
OFFICER FOR THE PUBLIC ENTITY IDENTIFIED IN PARAGRAPH 1 (ONE) ABOVE 
IS FOR THE PUBLIC ENTITY ONLY AND, THAT THIS FORM IS VALID THROUGH 
DECEMBER 31 OF THE CALENDAR YEAR IN WHICH IT IS FILED AND FOR THE 
PERIOD OF THE CONTRACT ENTERED INTO, WHICHEVER PERIOD IS LONGER. I 
ALSO UNDERSTAND THAT I AM REQUIRED TO INFORM THE PUBLIC ENTITY 
PRIOR TO ENTERING INTO A CONTRACT IN EXCESS OF THE THRESHOLD 
AMOUNT PROVIDED IN FLA. STAT. §287.017, FOR THE CATEGORY TWO OF ANY 
CHANGE IN THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS FORM.  
 
_________________________                        _________________________________________ 
SIGNATURE OF AFFIANT      (Printed or Typed Legal Name of Affiant) 
 
State of ___________County of _______________ 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this ________ day of ________________________, 2014 by  
_________________________________________________________________________. 
___________________________________________________ Notary Seal: 
Notary’s Name Printed, Stamped or Typed 
 
Personally Known: _________ or Produced Identification _____ 
Identification Produced _________________________________ 

Page 178



NON-COLLUSIVE AFFIDAVIT 

State of ___________) 

County of ___________) 

__________________________________________________ being first duly sworn deposes 
and says that: 

(1)  He/she is the (Owner, Partner, Officer, Representative or Agent) of the Bidder that 
has submitted the attached Bid/Submittal; 

(2)  He/she is fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached 
Bid/Submittal and of all pertinent circumstances respecting such Bid/Submittal; 

(3)  Such Bid/Submittal is genuine and is not a collusive or sham Bid/Submittal; 

(4)  Neither the said bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, 
representatives, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, have in any 
way colluded, conspired, connived or agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other 
Bidder, firm, or person to submit a collusive or sham Bid/Submittal in connection with 
the work for which the attached Bid/Submittal has been submitted; or to refrain from 
bidding in connection with such work; or have in any manner, directly or indirectly, 
sought by agreement or collusion, or communication, or conference with any Bidder, 
firm, or person to fix the price or prices in the attached Bid/Submittal or of any other 
Bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit, or cost elements of the Bid/Submittal price or 
the Bid/Submittal price of any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, 
conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any advantage against the  Town of 
Surfside, Florida, or any person interested in the proposed work; 

(5)  The price or prices quoted in the attached Bid/Submittal are fair and proper and are 
not tainted by any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement on the 
part of the Bidder or any other of its agents, representatives, owners, employees or 
parties in interest, including this Affiant. 

____________________________ ____________________________________ 
SIGNATURE OF AFFIANT  (Printed or Typed Legal Name of Affiant) 

State of ___________County of ______________ 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this ________ day of _______________________, 2014 by 

____________________________________________________________________________. 

___________________________________________________ Notary Seal: 
Notary’s Name Printed, Stamped or Typed 

Personally Known: _________ or Produced Identification ______ 

Identification Produced _________________________________ 

Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



5B2

Page 183



Page 184



Page 1 of 17 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS (RFQ) 

PROFESSIONAL GENERAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 

The Town of Surfside (Town), Miami-Dade County, Florida, hereby gives notice that it is seeking 
qualifications for professional general engineering services to the Town on a continuing and/or 
consulting contract basis. Selection of the firm(s) or individual(s) will be made in accordance 
with Fla. Stat. §287.055-Consultants’ Competitive Negotiations Act. 

Submittals shall be accepted until 10:00 a.m. on April 4th 2014. A total of six (6) copies (one (1) 
of the six (6) copies shall be an electronic copy) of the submittal must be submitted and clearly 
marked on the front of the envelope: 

“SEALED QUALIFICATIONS” 

RFQ # 14-002 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
OPENING DATE AND TIME: April 4, 2014, 10:15 A.M. 

Sealed submittals will be received by the Town Clerk until 10:00 a.m. April 4, 2014, at Town of 
Surfside, Town Hall located at 9293 Harding Avenue, Surfside, Florida, 33154. Submittals 
received after this time will not be accepted. Submittals will be opened publicly at this time. 

A mandatory pre-submittal conference will be held in the Commission Chambers of the 
Town of Surfside, 9293 Harding Avenue, Surfside, FL 33154 at 10:00 a.m. on March 14, 
2014. 
Only those firms with representatives in the room at 10:00 a.m. will be allowed to submit 
a Response on April 4, 2014.  
Deadline to submit requests for clarification will be 10:00 a.m., March 28, 2014. 

Proposers are responsible for making certain that their submittal is received at the location 
specified by the due date and time. The Town of Surfside is not responsible for delays caused 
by any mail, package or courier service, including the U.S. mail, or caused by any other 
occurrence or condition. 

RFQ packages may be obtained from the Office of the Town Clerk, Town of Surfside, 9293 
Harding Avenue, Surfside, Florida 33154, at no cost, and are also available on line at 
www.townofsurfsidefl.gov. 

The Town reserves the right to reject any or all submittals, with or without cause, and to waive 
technical errors and informalities, and to accept the submittal which best serves the interest of 
the Town. 

Sandra Novoa, CMC, Town Clerk 
Town of Surfside 

ATTACHMENT "1"

Page 185

http://www.townofsurfsidefl.gov/


Page 2 of 17 
 

 

Town of Surfside, Florida 
Request for Qualifications No. 14-002 

 
PROFESSIONAL GENERAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 

 
The Town of Surfside (Town) is accepting Submittals from qualified and properly licensed firms 
or individuals (all respondents shall hereinafter be referred to as “consultants” and/or “firms”) 
interested in providing professional general engineering services. The Town is soliciting 
professional engineering services for civil engineering related work which may include, but not 
limited to, the following tasks: Survey; Geotechnical; Structural; Environmental; Traffic; 
Landscape Architecture; Construction Management; Construction Inspection; Construction 
Testing; Electrical; Hurricane Recovery and Debris Monitoring Services; General Design Work; 
Preparation of Complete Construction Contract Plans and Special Provisions for the Assigned 
Projects; Public Involvement; Post Design Services (shop drawing review, responses to 
Request for Information and services during construction); and Bid Administration (selection and 
letting). 
 
SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS: 
 
1. SELECTION PROCESS: Selection of the firm or individual will be made in accordance 

with Fla. Stat. §287.055 –Consultants’ Competitive Negotiations Act. 
 

2. ELIGIBILITY: In addition to the other requirements stated in this document, to be eligible 
to respond to this RFQ, the consultants must have successfully provided within the past 
five years services similar to those outlined in the Scope of Work (included herein) of this 
RFQ. Each consultant shall meet all legal, technical, and professional requirements for 
providing the requested services. The consultants shall furnish such additional 
information as the Town may reasonably require. This includes information that indicates 
financial resources as well as the ability to provide and maintain the requested services. 
The consultants shall have no record of judgments, pending lawsuits against the Town 
or criminal activities involving moral turpitude. 

 
3. SUBMITTAL: Submittals must be received by the Town Clerk’s Office at the date and 

time stated in the Notice to Consultants at the Surfside Commission Chambers, 9293 
Harding Avenue, Surfside, FL 33154. A total of ten (10) copies of the submittal must be 
submitted at the date and time stated in the Notice to Consultants at the Surfside 
Commission Chambers, 9293 Harding Avenue, Surfside, FL 33154. 

 
4. SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS: All submittals shall contain no more than ten (10) 

pages and a total of six (6) copies shall be submitted, with one (1) marked “Original” 
containing all original documents of the required response to the Request for 
Qualifications (RFQ) and one (1) electronic copy (in PDF format) on electronic media 
(CD-R/flash drive). The submittal should include as a minimum guideline at least the 
following: 
 

a. Name, address and company, including but not limited to, a business overview, 
financial state of the business, annual revenue for the past two years, and 
names and addresses of persons having financial interest in the firm. 

b. Details of your qualifications and capabilities to provide services under this 
solicitation. 

c. Composition and experience of the project team that will be assigned under this 
solicitation. Resumes of key personnel should be included. Location of the 
project team members should be clearly identified. 

Page 186



Page 3 of 17 
 

 

d. The number of all projects (including government projects) completed or in 
process for the past 5 (five) years, and a synopsis of those projects most 
relevant to the services sought in herein. Include a list of client references with 
contact names and telephone numbers. 

e. Disclosure of any potential conflict of interest that your firm may have due to 
other clients, contracts or property interests in the Town’s projects under this 
solicitation. 

f. A current GSA SF 254 and 255 should be furnished, i.e. firm’s capabilities, 
adequacy of personnel, past performance record and experience. (Note:  These 
forms will NOT be counted as part of the 10 page maximum.) 

g. Sworn statement pursuant to Fla. Stat. §287.133(3)(A), Public Entity Crime, a 
copy of which is attached hereto. (Note: These forms will NOT be counted as 
part of the 10 page maximum.) 

h. Non-Collusive Affidavit, a copy of which is attached hereto. (Note: These forms 
will NOT be counted as part of the 10 page maximum.) 

i. Evidence of recent, current and projected person-hour workload should be 
provided for the proposed project team members. The candidate firm must have 
at least one (1) registered professional engineer under Fla. Stat. Chapter 471, 
as principal officer or partner of the firm. The candidate firm must comply with 
Fla. Stat. Chapter 471. 

j. Proof of authorization to transact business in Florida from the Florida Secretary 
of State, from the prime as well as supporting firms. 

 
The attached Scope of Service provides more detail as to actual tasks involved within 
the scope of this submittal. Failure to satisfy the requirements contained herein may 
result in the submittal being deemed non-responsive.  

 
5. PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES STATEMENT: All submittals must be accompanied by an 

executed form PUR 7068, SWORN STATEMENT PURSUANT TO FLA. STAT. 
§287.133, ON PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES. (Copy enclosed) 

 
6. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE: In accordance with Fla. Stat. §287.087, preference will be 

given to businesses with drug-free workplace programs; whenever bids are similar in all 
other respects, award will be made to the entity having a Drug-Free Workplace Program 
if a Drug-Free Workplace Certification is submitted with the response. 

 
 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
1. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS: Selection of the consultant will be made in accordance 

with the Fla. Stat. §287.055, “Consultants’ Competitive Negotiation Act”. Pursuant to Fla. 
Stat. Chapter 119, Public Records Law, §119.071, Inspection and examination of 
records; exemptions (b): “Sealed bids or proposals received by an agency pursuant to 
invitations to bid or request for proposals are exempt from Fla. Stat. §119.07(1) and Fla. 
Const. §24(a), Art. 1 until such time as the agency provides notice of the decision or 
intended decision pursuant to Fla. Stat. §120.57(3)(a) or within 10 days after bid or 
proposal opening, whichever is earlier.”  

 
2. RESERVATION OF RIGHTS: While pursuing this RFQ process, the Town reserves the 

right to: 
 

• accept any or all responses, and the right, in its sole discretion, to accept the 
consultants it considers most favorable to the Town’s interests; 

Page 187



Page 4 of 17 
 

 

• reject any and all qualifications and to seek new qualifications when such a 
procedure is reasonably in the best interest of the Town at any time during the 
process; 

• investigate the financial capability, integrity, experience, and quality of 
performance of each consultant, including officers, principals, senior 
management, and supervisors, as well as staff identified in the response to 
RFQ; 

• investigate the consultants’ qualifications or any of its agents, as it deems 
appropriate; 

• conduct personal interviews of any or all prospective consultants prior to 
selection (the Town shall not be liable for any costs incurred by the consultant in 
connection with such interviews); and 

• waive any of the conditions or criteria set forth in this RFQ. 
 
3. PROOF OF INSURANCE: The consultant shall secure and maintain throughout the 

duration of this Agreement insurance of such types and in such amounts not less than 
those specified below as satisfactory to the Town, naming the Town as an Additional 
Insured, underwritten by a firm rated A-X or better by A.M. Best and qualified to do 
business in the State of Florida. The insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with 
respect to the Town, its officials, employees, agents and volunteers naming the Town as 
additional insured. Any insurance maintained by the Town shall be in excess of the 
consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute to the consultant’s insurance. The 
insurance coverage shall include at a minimum the following amounts set forth in this 
Section 16: 
 

a. Commercial General Liability coverage with limits of liability of not less than a 
$1,000,000 per Occurrence combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage. This Liability Insurance shall also include Completed Operations and 
Product Liability coverages and eliminate the exclusion with respect to property 
under the care, custody and control of consultant. The General Aggregate 
Liability limit (including Products/Completed Operations) shall be in the amount 
of $2,000,000. 

b. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability insurance, to apply for all 
employees for statutory limits as required by applicable State and Federal laws.  
The policy(ies) must include Employer’s Liability with minimum limits of 
$1,000,000 each accident. No employee, subcontractor or agent of the 
consultant shall be allowed to provide work pursuant to this Agreement who is 
not covered by Workers’ Compensation insurance. 

c. Business Automobile Liability with minimum limits of $1,000,000 per Occurrence 
combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage. Coverage must be 
afforded on a form no more restrictive than the latest edition of the Business 
Automobile Liability policy, without restrictive endorsements, as filed by the 
Insurance Service Office, and must include Owned, Hired, and Non-Owned 
Vehicles. 

d. Builder’s Risk property insurance upon the entire work to the full replacement 
cost value thereof. This insurance shall include the interest of the Town and the 
consultant and shall provide All-Risk coverage against loss by physical damage 
including, but not limited to, Fire, Extended Coverage, Theft, Vandalism and 
Malicious Mischief, Windstorm and Flood. 

 
The consultant acknowledges that it shall bear the full risk of loss for any portion of the 
work damaged, destroyed, lost or stolen until final completion has been achieved for a 

Page 188



Page 5 of 17 
 

 

Project, and all such work shall be fully restored by the consultant, at its sole cost and 
expense, in accordance with the Agreement Documents. 
 
Certificate of Insurance. On or before the Effective Date of this Agreement and prior to 
commencing of any work, Certificates of Insurance shall be provided to the Town, 
reflecting the Town as an Additional Insured. Each certificate shall include no less than a 
(30) thirty-day advance written notice to the Town prior to cancellation, termination, or 
material alteration of said policies or insurance. The consultant shall be responsible for 
assuring that the insurance certificates required by this Section remain in full force and 
effect for the duration of this Agreement, including any extensions or renewals that may 
be granted by the Town. The Certificates of Insurance shall not only name the types of 
policy(ies) provided, but also shall refer specifically to this Agreement and shall state that 
such insurance is as required by this Agreement. The Town reserves the right to inspect 
and return a certified copy of such policies, upon written request by the Town. If a policy 
is due to expire prior to the completion of the work, renewal Certificates of Insurance 
shall be furnished thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date of their policy expiration. 
Acceptance of the Certificate(s) is subject to approval of the Town. 
 
Additional Insured. The Town is to be specifically included as an Additional Insured for 
the liability of the Town resulting from work performed by or on behalf of the consultant 
in performance of this Agreement. The consultant’s insurance, including that applicable 
to the Town as an Additional Insured, shall apply on a primary basis and any other 
insurance maintained by the Town shall be in excess of and shall not contribute to the 
consultant’s insurance. The consultant’s insurance shall contain a severability of interest 
provision providing that, except with respect to the total limits of liability, the insurance 
shall apply to each Insured or Additional Insured (for applicable policies) in the same 
manner as if separate policies had been issued to each. 
 
Deductibles. All deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and be 
reasonably approved by the Town. The consultant shall be responsible for the payment 
of any deductible or self-insured retention in the event of any claim. 

 
The provisions of this section shall survive termination of this Agreement. 

 
4. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: The consultant shall be licensed and certified by all 

appropriate federal, state, county and local agencies. Prior to the commencement of the 
work and at all times during the Term of this Agreement, the consultant shall procure 
and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, and provide copies to the Town, all required 
licenses and certifications for the performance of the work and the operations set forth in 
this Agreement. 
 
The consultant shall not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation, age, marital status, national origin, physical or mental disability in the 
performance of the work under this Agreement. The consultant shall comply with all 
equal employment opportunity requirements and any and all applicable requirements 
established by state and federal law. 

5. PUBLIC RECORDS: Upon award, recommendation or ten (10) days after RFQ submittal 
opening, whichever is earlier, any material submitted in response to this RFQ will 
become a "public record" and shall be subject to public disclosure consistent with Fla. 
Stat. Chapter 119 (Public Record Law). Proposers must claim the applicable exemptions 
to disclosure provided by law in their response to the RFQ by identifying materials to be 
protected, and must state the reasons why such exclusion from public disclosure is 
necessary and legal. The Town reserves the right to make all final determination(s) of 

Page 189



Page 6 of 17 
 

 

the applicability of the Florida Public Records Law.  
 
6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The consultant agrees to adhere to and be governed by the 

Miami-Dade County Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Ordinance Section 2-11.1, as 
amended; and by Town of Surfside Ordinance No.07-1474, which are incorporated by 
reference herein as if fully set forth herein, in connection with the Agreement conditions 
hereunder. The consultant covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not 
acquire any interest, direct or indirectly that should conflict in any manner or degree with 
the performance of the services. 

 
7. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR: The consultant is an Independent Contractor under 

this Agreement. Personnel provided by the consultant shall be employees of the 
consultant and subject to supervision by the consultant, and not as officers, employees, 
or agents of the Town. Personnel policies, tax responsibilities, social security, health 
insurance, worker's compensation insurance, employee benefits, purchasing policies 
and other similar administrative procedures applicable to the work rendered under this 
Agreement shall be those of the consultant. 

 
8. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

Termination. The Town has the right to terminate this Agreement for convenience and 
for any reason or no reason, in whole or in part, upon thirty (30) days written notice to 
consultant. Upon termination of this Agreement, and final payment of any undisputed 
outstanding amounts due for the work rendered by the consultant prior to and through 
the date of the notice of termination, copies of all records, charts, sketches, studies, 
plans, drawings, and other documents related to the work performed under this 
Agreement, whether finished or not, shall be turned over to the Town within ten (10) 
days. 

Termination for Default. If the consultant fails to timely begin the work, or fails to 
perform the work with sufficient workers and equipment or with sufficient materials to 
insure the prompt completion of the work according to the work order and this 
Agreement, or shall perform the work unsuitably, or cause it to be rejected as defective 
and unsuitable, or shall discontinue the prosecution of the work pursuant to the accepted 
schedule, or if the consultant shall fail to perform any material term set forth in the 
Agreement Documents/Work Order, or if the consultant shall become insolvent or be 
declared bankrupt, or commit any act of bankruptcy or insolvency, or shall make an 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or from any other cause whatsoever shall not 
carry on the work in an acceptable manner, the Town may, upon seven (7) days written 
notice of termination, terminate the work of the consultant, exclude the consultant from 
the Project sites, provide for alternate prosecution of the work, appropriate or use any or 
all materials and equipment on the Project site as may be suitable and acceptable, and 
may perform the work by whatever methods it may deem expedient. In such case, the 
consultant shall not be entitled to receive any further payment. All damages, costs and 
charges incurred by the Town, together with the costs of completing the work, shall be 
deducted from any monies due or which may become due to the consultant. In case the 
damages and expenses so incurred by the Town shall exceed monies due to the 
consultant from the Town, consultant shall be liable and shall pay to the Town the 
amount of said excess promptly upon demand therefore by the Town. In the event it is 
adjudicated that the Town was not entitled to terminate the Agreement as described 
hereunder for default, the Agreement shall automatically be deemed terminated by the 
Town for convenience as described below. 

Page 190



Page 7 of 17 
 

 

Payment after Termination. Provided that the consultant has performed in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement as of the date of termination pursuant to the provision 
provided for herein, the consultant shall receive all payments due to the consultant for 
work rendered and accepted prior to and up to the date of termination. 

9. ASSIGNMENT; AMENDMENTS: This Agreement or the work shall not be assigned, 
sold, transferred or otherwise encumbered, under any circumstances, in whole or in part, 
by the consultant, without the prior written consent of the Town, in its sole and absolute 
discretion. 

No modification, amendment or alteration in the terms or conditions of this Agreement 
shall be effective unless contained in a written document executed with the same 
formality as this Agreement by both parties. 

10. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION: The parties submit to the jurisdiction of any Florida 
state or federal court in any action or proceeding arising out of and/or relating to this 
Agreement. Venue of any action to enforce this Agreement shall be proper exclusively in 
Miami-Dade County, Florida. 

11. GOVERNING LAW: This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and 
governed by the laws of the State of Florida. 

12. NO WAIVER OF BREACH: The failure of a party to insist on strict performance of any 
provision of this Agreement shall not be construed to constitute a waiver of a breach of 
any other provision or of a subsequent breach of the same provision. 

13. STANDARD OF CARE: Consultant shall exercise the same degree of care, skill, and 
diligence in the performance of the work as is ordinarily provided by a professional under 
similar circumstances and consultant shall, at no additional cost to the Town, re-perform 
services which fail to satisfy the foregoing standard of care. 

14. INDEMNIFICATION: The consultant shall at all times indemnify and hold harmless and, 
at the Town Attorney’s option, defend or pay for an attorney selected by the Town 
Attorney to defend the Town of Surfside, its officers, agents, and employees from and 
against all causes of action, demands, claims, losses, liabilities, damages, and costs, 
including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees, to the extent caused by the acts, 
omissions, negligence, recklessness, wrongful conduct, acts, errors or omissions of the 
consultant or any subcontractors or other persons employed or utilized by the consultant 
in the performance of the work pursuant to this Agreement. The consultant’s obligation 
under this paragraph shall not be limited in any way by the agreed upon cost of 
services/contract price, or the consultant’s limit of, or lack of, sufficient insurance 
protection. 
 
The indemnification obligations under this clause shall not be limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for 
the consultant or any subcontractor or other persons employed or utilized by the 
consultant in the performance of this Agreement, under worker's compensation acts, 
disability benefit nets, or other employee benefit acts. 

The consultant shall not specify or allow any subcontractor or other persons employed or 
utilized by the consultant in the performance of this Agreement to specify a particular 
design, process or product that infringes upon any patent. The consultant shall indemnify 
and hold the Town and its officers and employees harmless from any loss, cost or 

Page 191



Page 8 of 17 
 

 

expense, including reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred, on account thereof if 
the consultant violates the requirements of this section. 

15. OTHER ISSUES 
 

The Town reserves the right to determine whether the consultant’s responses are 
adequate or inadequate, complete or incomplete, and to determine what constitutes the 
grounds for disqualification of a consultant who may submit inadequate or incomplete 
responses. The Town reserves the right to determine if a submittal is unresponsive.  The 
Town may disqualify a consultant who submits a submittal determined by the Town to be 
unresponsive or which contains insufficient, inadequate, or incomplete responses to be 
deemed unresponsive. The Town Manager shall make such determinations and will rely 
on the staff selection committee for input in this matter. 

 
The Town reserves the right to request clarification of information submitted and to 
request additional information from consultants after the deadline for receipt of 
qualifications. 
 
Any submittal may be withdrawn until the date and time set above for submission of the 
submittals. 
 
Costs of preparation of a response to this RFQ are solely those of the consultant and the 
Town assumes no responsibility for any such costs incurred by the consultant. 
 
The consultant understands that this RFQ does not constitute an agreement or contract 
with the Town. 
 
Any consultant, who submits in its response to the Town, any information that is 
determined by the Town to be substantially inaccurate, misleading, exaggerated, or 
incorrect, may be disqualified from consideration. The Town Manager will determine if a 
consultant will be disqualified. 

 
16. EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

The qualifications will be reviewed and evaluated in accordance with the following 
criteria: 

 
Criteria Points 

 
Ability of Professional Personnel 25 
Past Performance and Experience – Firm 25 
Past Performance and Experience – Individual/Project Team 25 
Location 10 
Approach to the Project   15 

 
TOTAL         100 

 
 
NOTE TO CONSULTANTS: Price will not be a factor at this stage of the process 
and no prices should be quoted. 
 
 

 

Page 192



Page 9 of 17 
 

 

17. SELECTION PROCESS 
 

a. An evaluation committee comprised of appropriate Town staff and/or members 
of the community, as deemed necessary with the appropriate technical expertise 
and/or knowledge, shall be appointed by the Town Manager to assist in the 
necessary evaluation.  

b. The committee shall have a minimum of three (3) members. All meetings of the 
selection committee shall be conducted in a manner consistent with the 
Sunshine Law and all applicants shall receive notice by mail, fax, or email. A 
quorum shall be a majority of members except that if there are only three 
members all three members must be present. All members shall be free of any 
conflicts of interest as set forth in Fla. Stat. Chapter 112. The selection 
committee shall then set forth the procedure for reviewing the applicants. The 
selection committee shall reduce the number of firms to a short list of a 
minimum of five (provided at least five members responded.) In short-listing 
firms, the committee shall use the criteria set forth in the RFQ and attempt to 
select the best qualified firms for the particular project. The committee shall then 
hold discussion with all short-listed firms. This may be undertaken at the same 
meeting or a separate meeting scheduled by the committee. 

c. After discussions are held with the short-listed firms, the voting members of the 
selection committee may discuss the presentations and the qualifications of 
each firm further and shall rank the firms based upon which firms will best serve 
the Town based upon the factors set forth in the RFQ. The firms shall be ranked 
in order of preference. The ranking shall be reported to the Town Commission 
who shall make the final decision with regard to the firms that should be chosen. 
The Town Commission may approve the rankings as set forth by the selection 
committee or, re-rank the consultants based upon the criteria. Prior to re-ranking 
the consultants based upon the criteria set forth in the RFQ, the Town 
Commission must undertake a 4/5 vote to indicate that it may wish to rank the 
consultants in an order different from those established by the selection 
committee. 

d. Upon the Town Commission approving a ranking, negotiations shall be 
undertaken with the top three (3) ranked firms. The Town Manager or his/her 
designee shall undertake said negotiations. If the Town Manager or his/her 
designee is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the first ranked firm, 
negotiations with that firm shall be formerly terminated in a writing sent to the 
firm. Upon termination of said negotiations, negotiations shall then be 
undertaken with the second ranked firm, with this process being repeated until 
an agreement is reached which is then approved by the negotiator and formally 
approved by the Town Commission or until the short-list is exhausted in which 
case a new request for qualifications shall be undertaken. The Town reserves to 
award to more than one firm. 

 
18. PROTEST PROCEDURES  

 
Standing - Parties that are not actual proposers, including, but not limited to, 
subcontractors, material and labor suppliers, manufacturers and their representatives, 
shall not have standing to protest or appeal any determination made pursuant to this 
Section.  

 
Protest of Failure to qualify - Upon notification by the Town that a proposer is deemed 
non-responsive and/or non-responsible, the proposer who is deemed non-responsive 
and/or non-responsible may file a protest with the Town Clerk by close of business on 

Page 193



Page 10 of 17 
 

 

the third Business Day after notification (excluding the day of notification) or any right to 
protest is forfeited. (Town Hall hours are as follows: Monday-Friday from 9:00 a.m. to 
5:00 p.m.)  
 
Protest of Award of Agreement. After a Notice of Intent to Award an Agreement is 
posted, any proposer who is aggrieved in connection with the pending award of the 
agreement or any element of the process leading to the award of the agreement may file 
a protest with the Town Clerk by close of business on the third Business Day after 
posting (excluding the day of posting) or any right to protest is forfeited. A Notice of 
Intent to Reject all Submittals is subject to the protest procedure.  
 
Content and Filing - The protest shall be in writing, shall identify the name and address 
of the protester, and shall include a factual summary of, and the basis for, the protest. 
Filing shall be considered complete when the protest and the Protest Bond are received 
by the Town Clerk. The official clock at the Town Hall reception desk shall govern.  

 
Protest Bond - Any consultant filing a protest shall simultaneously provide a Protest 
Bond to the Town in the amount of ten thousand dollars ($10,000). If the protest is 
decided in the protester's favor, the entire Protest Bond shall be returned to the 
protester. If the protest is not decided in the protester's favor, the Protest Bond shall be 
forfeited to the Town. The Protest Bond shall be in the form of a cashier's check.  
 
Protest Committee - The Protest Committee shall review all protests. The Town 
Manager shall appoint the members of the Protest Committee. The Town Attorney or 
designee shall serve as counsel to the Committee. The meeting of the Protest 
Committee shall be opened to the public and all of the actual proposers shall be notified 
of the date, time and place of the meeting. If the Protest Committee determines that the 
protest has merit, the Town Manager shall direct that all appropriate steps be taken. If 
the Protest Committee denies the protest, the protester may appeal to the Town 
Commission. All of the actual proposers shall be notified of the determination by the 
Protest Committee. The Protest Committee shall terminate upon the award of the 
contract, or such other time as determined by the Town Commission.  

 
Stay of Ranking in the RFQ Process - In the event of a timely protest, the Town 
Manager shall stay the ranking of qualified consultants in the RFQ process unless the 
Town Manager determines that the award of the Agreement without delay or the 
continuation of the RFQ process is necessary to protect any substantial interest of the 
Town. The continuation of the RFQ process or award under these circumstances shall 
not preempt or otherwise affect the protest. 
  
Appeals to Town Commission - Any actual consultant who is aggrieved by a 
determination of the Protest Committee may appeal the determination to the Town 
Commission by filing an appeal with the Town Clerk by close of business on the third 
Business Day after the protester has been notified (excluding the day of notification) of 
the determination by the Protest Committee. The appeal shall be in writing and shall 
include a factual summary of, and the basis for, the appeal. Filing of an appeal shall be 
considered complete when the appeal is received by the Town Clerk. 
 
Failure to File Protest - Any actual proposer that does not formally protest or appeal in 
accordance with this Section shall not have standing to protest the Town Commission's 
award. 
 

 

Page 194



Page 11 of 17 
 

 

19. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Questions regarding this RFQ must be directed to: 
 
Michael Crotty 
Town Manager 
Tel: (305) 993-1052 
Email: mcrotty@townofsurfsidefl.gov 
 
Responses to this RFQ must be delivered by the date and time specified in the Notice to 
Engineers, and addressed to: 
 
Sandra Novoa, CMC 
Town Clerk 
Town Clerk’s Office 
9293 Harding Avenue 
Surfside, FL 33154 

 
• The Town is under no obligation to return the submittals. 
• The Town will not be liable for any cost incurred in the preparation of the 

response to RFQ.  
• The submittal shall be prima facie evidence that the consultant has full 

knowledge of the scope, nature, quantity and quality of work to be performed; 
the detailed requirements of the specifications; and the conditions under which 
the work is to be performed. 

• The consultants shall furnish the Town with such additional information as the 
Town may reasonably require. 

• Under no circumstance should any prospective consultant, or anyone acting on 
their behalf, seek to influence or to gain the support of any member of the Town 
Commission or the Town Staff favorable to the interest of the prospective 
consultant. Likewise, contact with the Town Commission or Town Staff against 
the interest of other prospective consultants is prohibited. Any such activities 
may result in the exclusion of the prospective consultant from consideration by 
the Town. 

 

Page 195

mailto:mcrotty@townofsurfsidefl.gov


Page 12 of 17 
 

 

Town of Surfside, Florida 
Request for Qualifications No. 14- 

 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
Section I. General Objectives 
 
The Town of Surfside is soliciting professional engineering services of an individual or firm 
qualified to serve as the Town’s Consulting Engineer as detailed below in Sections II and III. 
The consultant(s) selected shall provide professional engineering services under the terms of a 
Continuing Contract for a three (3) year period with up to two additional consecutive one (1) 
year renewal clauses, subject to mutual agreement. The Town may also have other consultants 
perform engineering assignments or related engineering work tasks during the contract period 
as determined exclusively by the Town. 
 
Section II. Public Works Department Staff Augmentation 
 
The Town’s Consulting Engineer shall provide continuing engineering services to augment 
existing staff in the Public Works Department related to the planning, design, review and/or 
construction of projects, which may include, but are not limited to the following services: 
 

• Contract administration for maintenance of public rights-of-way, landscaping and 
irrigation systems to provide safe and aesthetically attractive public spaces for the 
benefit of the Town 

• Contract administration for the construction, operation and maintenance of public 
facilities 

• Contract administration and coordination of sidewalk and streetlight maintenance for 
all public roadways to ensure safe passage throughout Surfside 

• Contract administration and assistance with local, state and federal grants for 
improvements to public works facilities and services within the Town 

• Contract administration and oversight of the Town’s solid waste management 
operations and regulatory compliance 

• Recommend, develop and implement a capital improvement plan for the Town 
• Administer the Town’s NPDES/Stormwater Master Plan programs and provide 

associated regulatory monitoring and compliance services 
• Oversee the operation and maintenance of water, wastewater and stormwater 

utilities and provide associated regulatory monitoring and compliance services 
• Manage traffic management/improvement projects and contracts implemented by the 

Town 
• Disaster recovery and debris monitoring oversight services 
• Public Engagement  
• Procurement Administration 
• Attend all regular monthly meetings of the Town Commission 
• Attend other public meetings as-requested by the Town Manager or his designee 
• Perform related services as-requested by the Town Manager or his designee 
• Prepare proposal, specifications, plans, contract documents and overall assistance 

and coordination of Design Build Services 
 
Section III. Consulting Engineering Services 
 
The below description of services the Consultant may be called upon to perform is not all-
inclusive and is given as a guide for submittal preparation. The Town and its selected 

Page 196



Page 13 of 17 
 

 

engineering consultant(s) on a project-by-project basis will prepare detailed scopes of work for 
specific projects. Services required for projects may be provided by other consultants, at the 
discretion of the Town. The Town may also have other consultants perform engineering 
assignments or related engineering work tasks during the contract period. The Town’s 
Consulting Engineer may be required to review the work of other Professional Engineers. The 
scope of services shall include, but are not necessarily limited to the following disciplines: 
 

• Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing Engineering 
• Landscape Architecture 
• Environmental Engineering 
• Traffic Engineering 
• Construction/Project Management 
• Engineering Code Development 
• Plan and Development Review 
• Civil Engineering 
• Geotechnical Engineering 
• Value Engineering 
• Sampling and Testing Services 
• Inspection Services 
• Engineering Studies  
• Cost Estimating 
• Oversight, coordination, and preparation of Design Build Services  

 
 
The Town does not guarantee that any or all of the services identified in this Request for 
Qualifications (“RFQ”) will be assigned to the selected consultant(s) during the term of 
their agreements. 

Page 197



Page 14 of 17 
 

 

 
DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE CERTIFICATION 

 
IDENTICAL TIE BIDS/SUBMITTALS - In accordance with Fla. Stat. §287.087, 
preference shall be given to businesses with drug-free workplace programs. Whenever 
two or more bids, which are equal with respect to price, quality, and service, are 
received by the State or by any political subdivision for the procurement of commodities 
or contractual services, a bid received from a business that certifies that it has 
implemented a drug-free workplace program shall be given preference in the award 
process. Established procedures for processing tie bids will be followed if none of the 
tied vendors have a drug-free workplace program. In order to have a drug-free 
workplace program, a business shall: 
 

1. Publish a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, 
distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is 
prohibited in the workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken 
against employees for violations of such prohibition. 

 
2. Inform employees about the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace, the 

business policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace, any available drug 
counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs, and the 
penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations. 

 
3. Give each employee engaged in providing the commodities or contractual 

services that are under bid a copy of the statement specified in subsection 
(1). 

 
4. In the statement specified in subsection (1), notify the employees that, as a 

condition of working on the commodities or contractual services that are 
under bid, the employee will abide by the terms of the statement and will 
notify the employer of any conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere 
to, any violation of Fla. Stat. Chapter 893 or of any controlled substance law 
of the United States or any state, for a violation occurring in the workplace no 
later than five (5) days after such conviction. 

 
5. Impose a sanction on, or require the satisfactory participation in a drug abuse 

assistance or rehabilitation program if such is available in the employee’ s 
community, by any employee who is so convicted. 

 
6. Make a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through 

implementation of this section. 
 

 
As the person authorized to sign the statement, I certify that this firm complies fully with 
the above requirements. 
 
 
______________________ 
VENDOR’S SIGNATURE 

Page 198



Page 15 of 17 
 

 

SWORN STATEMENT PURSUANT TO FLA. STAT. §287.133(3)(a) 
 ON PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES 

 
THIS FORM MUST BE SIGNED AND SWORN TO IN THE PRESENCE OF A NOTARY PUBLIC OR 
OTHER OFFICIAL AUTHORIZED TO ADMINISTER OATHS. 
 
1. This sworn statement is submitted to: __________________________________________________ 

By: _____________________________________________________________________________ 
For: _____________________________________________________________________________ 
whose business address is: __________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 and (if applicable,) its Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN) is: ______________________ 
(IF the entity has no FEIN, include the Social Security Number of the individual signing this sworn 
statement: 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
2. I understand that a “public entity crime” as defined in Fla. Stat. §287.133(l)(g), 

means a violation of any state or federal law by a person with respect to and directly 
related to the transaction of business with any public entity or with an agency or 
political subdivision of any other state or of the United States, including, but not 
limited to, any bid or contract for goods or services to be provided to any public 
entity or an agency or political subdivision of any other state or of the United States 
and involving antitrust, fraud, theft, bribery, collusion, racketeering, conspiracy, or 
material misrepresentation. 

 
3. I understand that “convicted” or “conviction” as defined in Fla. Stat. §287.133(l)(b), 

means a finding of guilt or a conviction of a public entity crime, with or without an 
adjudication of guilt, in any federal or state trial court of record relating to charges 
brought by indictment or information after July 1, 1989, as a result of a jury verdict, 
nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contenders. 

 

4. I understand that an “affiliate” as defined in Fla. Stat. §287.133(l)(a), means: 
 
a. A predecessor or successor of a person convicted of a public entity crime; or 
b. An entity under the control of any natural person who is active in the 

management of the entity and who has been convicted of a public entity 
come. The term “affiliate” includes those officers, directors, executives, 
partners, shareholders, employees, members, and agents who are active in 
the management of an affiliate. The ownership by one person of shares 
constituting a controlling interest in another person, or a pooling of 
equipment or income among persons when not for fair market value under 
an arm's length agreement, shall be a prima facie case that one person 
controls another person. A person who knowingly enters into a joint venture 
with a person who has been convicted of a public entity crime in Florida 
during the preceding 36 months shall be considered an affiliate. 

 
5. I understand that a “person” as defined in Fla. Stat. §287.133(l)(e), means any 

natural person or entity organized under the laws of any state or of the United States 
with the legal power to enter into a binding contract and which bids or applies to bid 
on contracts for the provision of goods or services let by a public entity, or which 
otherwise transacts or applies to transact business with a public entity. The term 

Page 199



Page 16 of 17 
 

 

“person” includes those officers, directors, executives, partners, shareholders, 
employees, members, and agents who are active in management of any entity. 

 
6. Based on information and belief, the statement which I have marked below is true in 

a relation to the entity submitting this sworn statement. (Please indicate which one 
(1) of the following three (3) statements is applicable.)  

 
____ (1)  Neither the entity submitting this sworn statement, nor any of its officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who 
are active in the management of the entity, or any affiliate of the entity has been 
charged with and convicted of a public entity crime within the past 36 months.  
 
____ (2)  The entity submitting this sworn statement, or one or more of its officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who 
are active in the management of the entity, or any affiliate of the entity has been 
charged with and convicted of a public entity crime within the past 36 months. 
 
____ (3)  The entity submitting this sworn statement, or one or more of its officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who 
are active in the management of the entity, or agents who are active in management 
of the entity, or any affiliate of the entity has been charged with and convicted of a 
public entity crime within the past 36 months. However, there has been a 
subsequent proceeding before a Hearing Officers of the State of Florida, Division of 
Administrative Hearings and the Final Order by the Hearing Officer determined that it 
was not in the public interest to place the entity submitting this sworn statement on 
the convicted vendor list. (Attached is a copy of the final order.)  
 

I UNDERSTAND THAT THE SUBMISSION OF THIS FORM TO THE CONTRACTING 
OFFICER FOR THE PUBLIC ENTITY IDENTIFIED IN PARAGRAPH 1 (ONE) ABOVE 
IS FOR THE PUBLIC ENTITY ONLY AND, THAT THIS FORM IS VALID THROUGH 
DECEMBER 31 OF THE CALENDAR YEAR IN WHICH IT IS FILED AND FOR THE 
PERIOD OF THE CONTRACT ENTERED INTO, WHICHEVER PERIOD IS LONGER. I 
ALSO UNDERSTAND THAT I AM REQUIRED TO INFORM THE PUBLIC ENTITY 
PRIOR TO ENTERING INTO A CONTRACT IN EXCESS OF THE THRESHOLD 
AMOUNT PROVIDED IN FLA. STAT. §287.017 FOR THE CATEGORY TWO OF ANY 
CHANGE IN THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS FORM.  
 
_________________________                         _________________________________________ 
SIGNATURE OF AFFIANT       (Printed or Typed Legal Name of Affiant) 
 
State of ___________County of _______________ 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this ________ day of ______________________________, 2014 by  
___________________________________________________________________________________. 
___________________________________________________ Notary Seal: 
Notary’s Name Printed, Stamped or Typed 
 
Personally Known: _________ or Produced Identification _____ 
Identification Produced _________________________________ 

Page 200



Page 17 of 17 

NON-COLLUSIVE AFFIDAVIT 

State of _____________) 

County of ___________) 

__________________________________________________ being first duly sworn, deposes and 
says that: 

(1)  He/she is the (Owner, Partner, Officer, Representative or Agent) of the Bidder that has 
submitted the attached Bid/Submittal; 

(2)  He/she is fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached 
Bid/Submittal and of all pertinent circumstances respecting such Bid/Submittal; 

(3)  Such Bid/Submittal is genuine and is not a collusive or sham Bid Bid/Submittal; 

(4)  Neither the said bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, 
employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, have in any way colluded, 
conspired, connived or agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm, or person 
to submit a collusive or sham Bid in connection with the work for which the attached 
Bid/Submittal has been submitted; or to refrain from bidding in connection with such work; 
or have in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion, or 
communication, or conference with any Bidder, firm, or person to fix the price or prices in 
the attached Bid/Submittal or of any other Bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit, or cost 
elements of the Bid/Submittal price or the Bid/Submittal price of any other Bidder, or to 
secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any 
advantage against the  Town of  Surfside, Florida, or any person interested in the 
proposed work; 

(5)  The price or prices quoted in the attached Bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by 
any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or 
any other of its agents, representatives, owners, employees or parties in interest, including 
this Affiant. 

____________________________ __________________________________________ 
SIGNATURE OF AFFIANT  (Printed or Typed Legal Name of Affiant) 

State of ___________County of ____________ 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this ________ day of _______________________, 2014 by 

___________________________________________________. 

____________________________________________________ Notary Seal: 
Notary’s Name Printed, Stamped or Typed 

Personally Known: _________ or Produced Identification ______ 

Identification Produced _________________________________ 

Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



5C1, 5C2 and 5C3

Page 205



Page 206



5C1

Page 207



Page 208



5C2

Page 209



Page 210



5C3

Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



5D

Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



TO
W

N
 O

F 
SU

R
FS

ID
E,

 F
L

20
14

.0
6.

26
S

IT
E

 P
L

A
N

L
0-

00

94
th

 S
T

R
E

E
T

COLLINS AVE.

H
O

T
E

L
 B

E
A

C
H

 C
L

U
B

BULKHEAD LINE

B
E

A
C

H
 A

C
C

E
S

S

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 D
U

N
E

S

SAND ROADS

B
IK

E
 R

A
C

K
S

B
E

A
C

H
 S

H
O

W
E

R
 

A
Z

U
R

E
 C

O
N

D
O

M
IN

IU
M

S
C

U
L

P
T

U
R

E

B
LD

G
 E

X
IT

D
R

IV
E

W
A

Y

TO
W

N
 O

F 
SU

R
FS

ID
E,

 F
L

20
14

.0
4.

21

0
fe
et

40

1"
=
20
'

20
60

4.
0%

 S
LO

P
E

12
11

10
9

Page 224



TO
W

N
 O

F 
SU

R
FS

ID
E,

 F
L

20
14

.0
6.

26
C

IR
C

U
L

A
T

IO
N

 A
N

A
LY

S
IS

L
0-

01

94
th

 S
T

R
E

E
T

COLLINS AVE.

V
E

H
IC

U
LA

R
 C

IR
C

U
LA

T
IO

N

P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 C

IR
C

U
LA

T
IO

N

B
IC

Y
C

LE
 C

IR
C

U
LA

T
IO

N

BULKHEAD LINE

B
E

A
C

H
 A

C
C

E
S

S

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 D
U

N
E

S

E
M

E
R

G
E

N
C

Y
V

E
H

IC
LE

S
 O

N
LY

SAND ROADS

A
Z

U
R

E
 C

O
N

D
O

M
IN

IU
M

B
LD

G
 E

X
IT

D
R

IV
E

W
A

Y

TO
W

N
 O

F 
SU

R
FS

ID
E,

 F
L

20
14

.0
4.

21

0
fe
et

40

1"
=
20
'

20
60

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
R

O
M

E
N

A
D

E

H
O

T
E

L
 B

E
A

C
H

 C
L

U
B

B
IK

E
 R

A
C

K
S

B
E

A
C

H
 S

H
O

W
E

R
 

S
C

U
L

P
T

U
R

E
4.

0%
 S

LO
P

E
12

11
10

Page 225



TO
W

N
 O

F 
SU

R
FS

ID
E,

 F
L

20
14

.0
6.

26

L
0-

02
A

O
C

E
A

N
 V

IE
W

Page 226



TO
W

N
 O

F 
SU

R
FS

ID
E,

 F
L

20
14

.0
6.

26

L
0-

02
B

P
R

O
M

E
N

A
D

E

Page 227



TO
W

N
 O

F 
SU

R
FS

ID
E,

 F
L

20
14

.0
6.

26

C
o

co
s 

n
u

ci
fe

ra
 -

 C
o

co
n

u
t 

P
al

m
C

o
cc

o
lo

b
a 

d
iv

er
si

fo
lia

 -
 P

ig
eo

n
 P

lu
m

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 P
la

n

C
o

n
cr

et
e 

P
av

er
E

xi
st

in
g

 C
o

n
cr

et
e 

S
id

ew
al

k
B

ik
e 

R
ac

k
B

ea
ch

 S
h

o
w

er

B
IK

E
 R

A
C

K
S

E
xi

st
in

g
 C

o
n

cr
et

e 
S

id
ew

al
k

C
o

n
cr

et
e 

P
av

er
s

C
o

co
n

u
t 

P
al

m

P
ig

eo
n

 P
lu

m
B

E
A

C
H

 S
H

O
W

E
R

 

P
R

O
M

E
N

A
D

E

L
0-

03

Page 228



5E

Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



9A

Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



1

Sandra Novoa

From: Michael Karukin
Sent: Sunday, June 29, 2014 2:14 PM
To: Michael Crotty
Cc: Linda  Miller; Sandra Novoa; Donald Nelson; Duncan Tavares
Subject: discussion item for July 8 2014 TC meeting 

Discussion item for July 8th TC Agenda 

Submitted by Michael Karukin on June 29th 2014 

Topic: Resort Tax allocation to Tourist Board (TB) 

This purpose of this discussion item is to modify section 70 and any other relevant section of the town code to create 
language that maximizes the amount of money that can be reasonably retained from total resort tax revenue for 
allowable general fund expenditures. 

Direction was given at the March 11 2014 TC meeting to submit revised legislation that addressed a number of 
concerns with what was proposed at that time (see section 4A4, page 131 of the March Agenda Book).  At that time, I 
asked about 1) placing a cap on how much is allocated to the tourist board if total revenues exceed an amount to be 
negotiated; 2) consider combining TB and DVAC to create operational efficiencies due to overlapping interests of the two 
committees; and 3) removing the requirement to perform and annual review of the TB Chair, something not done for any 
other committee chair.  

In addition, at the May 22nd budget workshop, where we were asked to provide our feedback on budget issues to the 
town; placing a cap on how much is allocated to the tourist board if total revenues exceed a certain amount was 
submitted as one of my priorities.   

At present, the code says the TC is required to allocate a minimum of 34% of the total resort tax collections to the Tourist 
Board but there is no maximum amount in the code.  In my opinion, this is too open ended.  If there is an opportunity to 
use the expected increases in resort tax revenue for projects allowed by section 69-A of the Charter (such as 
expanding and operating the community center and beach management), it is reasonable to consider how that can be 
accomplished.  In my opinion placing a cap on the TB allocation if the total revenue exceeds a certain amount is a 
practical and efficient way to help fill the gap created by losing the non recurring revenue stream in upcoming fiscal years 
and still pay for planned and unplanned projects.   

I propose we amend the code so the maximum the TB can receive is the lesser of $350,000 per year or 34% of the total 
resort tax revenue.  

For example, according to the finance director the "The total annual budgeted revenue for 2013-14 in the Tourist Resort 
Fund is $287,471 (34 percent) and the General Fund $491,209 (66 percent)."  That means, with a total resort tax 
revenue of 778,680 (287,471 plus 491,209), the TB was allocated $287,471.  Under my proposal for example, if resort 
tax revenue reaches 1 million dollars (which it is expected to do very quickly), the TB will receive $340,000, an 18 percent 
increase.  I think that is plenty of money to cover the programs recommended by the TB.   

Therefore, I would like to ask staff to map out the legislative process so this can be in place by October 1, 2014: the start 
of the next fiscal year.  If approved, we will be able to retain more of the resort tax revenue into the general fund in a 
manner consistent with our charter and state law while still providing ample funding to the tourist board.  

Thank you for your consideration. 

9C

Page 236



2

Thank you, 

Michael Karukin 

Commissioner 

Town of Surfside 

9293 Harding Ave 

Surfside, FL 33154 

Tel: (305) 861-4863  / Fax: (305) 993-5097 / Cell: (305) 710-5894 

Email: mkarukin@townofsurfsidefl.gov 

www.townofsurfsidefl.gov 

Page 237



Town of Surfside
2014/2015 Proposed Budget

BUDGET PREPARATION CALENDAR

Distribution of Department Budget 
Package to Department Directors February 13 (Thursday)

Submission of Department Budget 
Requests to Finance Department March 13 (Thursday)

Department Budget Meetings with the 
Town Manager March 17 - March 28

First Budget Workshop May 22 (Thursday)

Miami Dade Property Appraiser 2014 
Assessment Roll Estimate May 30 (Friday)

2014/2015 Proposed Budget Delivered 
to the Town Commission July 1 (Tuesday)

Miami-Dade Property Appraiser 
Certified Taxable Value July 1 (Tuesday)

Town Commission Budget Meeting and 
Preliminary Millage Rate Adoption at 
Special Commission Meeting July 22 (Tuesday 5:00pm)

First Public Hearing September 9 (Tuesday 6:30pm)*      

Budget Summary and Notice of Hearing 
Published September 18 and September 19

Second Public Hearing September 23  (Tuesday 6:30pm)**

2014/2015 Fiscal Year Begins October 1

*Date to be determined based on Public Hearing dates of:
Miami-Dade County (September 4)
Miami Dade County School Board (July 24)

**Date to be determined based on Public Hearing dates of: 
Miami-Dade County (September 18)
Miami Dade County School Board (September 3)

9D

Page 238



9F

Page 239



Marcum LLP  One Southeast Third Avenue  16th Floor  Miami, Florida 33131  Phone 305.995.9600  Fax 305.995.9601  www.marcumllp.com

 

June 30, 2014 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Town Commission, Town Manager 
Town of Surfside, Florida 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of 
Surfside, Florida (the Town) for the year ended September 30, 2013.  We did not audit the 
financial statements of the Town of Surfside Employees Retirement System; those financial 
statements were audited by other auditors.  Professional standards require that we provide you 
with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards and the Florida Single Audit Act as well as certain information 
related to the planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such information 
in our letter to you dated May 17, 2013.  Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Our Responsibilities under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards and the Florida 
Single Audit Act 
 
As stated in our engagement letter dated May 17, 2013, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to express opinions about whether the financial statements prepared by 
management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  Our audit of the financial statements does not 
relieve you or management of your responsibilities. 
 
In planning and performing our audit, we will consider the Town’s internal control over financial 
reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over 
financial reporting.  We will also consider internal control over compliance with requirements 
that could have a direct and material effect on a major state project in order to determine our 
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Florida Single Audit Act. 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town’s financial statements are free 
of material misstatement, we will perform tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grants, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions is not an objective of our audit. Also in accordance with the 
Florida Single Audit Act, we will examine, on a test basis, evidence about the Town’s 
 



To the Honorable Mayor, Town Commission, Town Manager 
Town of Surfside, Florida 
June 30, 2014 
Page 2 
 
 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the Catalog of State 
Financial Assistance Compliance Supplement applicable to each of its major state projects for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the Town’s compliance with those requirements.  While 
our audit will provide a reasonable basis for our opinion, it will not provide a legal determination 
on the Town’s compliance with those requirements. 
 
Our responsibility for the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, as 
described by professional standards, is to evaluate the presentation of the supplementary 
information in relation to the financial statements as a whole and to report on whether the 
supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 
 
Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
As part of our audit, we will consider the internal control of the Town. Such considerations will 
be solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance 
concerning such internal control. 
 
We are responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting 
process. However, we are not required to design procedures specifically to identify such matters. 
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 
 
We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to 
in our meeting about planning matters on October 21, 2013. 
 
Significant Audit Findings 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The 
significant accounting policies used by the Town are described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements.  No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies 
was not changed during 2013.  The Town did however implement Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of 
Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position and Statement No. 65, Items 
Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, during the current fiscal year which had an impact 
on the financial statements.  We noted no transactions entered into by the governmental unit 
during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant 
transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management 
and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 



To the Honorable Mayor, Town Commission, Town Manager 
Town of Surfside, Florida 
June 30, 2014 
Page 3 
 
 
assumptions about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  The most sensitive estimate 
affecting the Town’s financial statements was: 
 

Management’s estimate of the allowance for uncollectible receivables is based on 
historical trend information.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to 
develop the allowance in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users.  There were no sensitive disclosures. 
 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit other than the delays in receiving financial data more specifically related to 
the separate pension audit which caused a delay in the overall issuance of the Town’s financial 
statements.  
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the 
appropriate level of management.  Management has corrected all such misstatements.  In 
addition, there were certain misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures that were 
material to the financial statements. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the 
financial statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 
arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated June 30, 2014. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a 



To the Honorable Mayor, Town Commission, Town Manager 
Town of Surfside, Florida 
June 30, 2014 
Page 4 
 
 
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial 
statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to 
determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the governmental unit’s 
auditors.  However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
The schedule of findings and questioned costs included in the Town’s Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report, in our report dated June 30, 2014 notes a material weakness in internal control 
over financial reporting. 
 
Other Matters 
 
With respect to the supplementary information (combining and individual fund statements and 
schedules and schedules and the schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance) 
accompanying the financial statements, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated 
the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information 
complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate 
and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements.  We compared and reconciled 
the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves. 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Mayor, Town Commission and Town 
Manager and management of the Town of Surfside, Florida and is not intended to be, and should 
not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 

 
 
Marcum LLP 
 
 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA 
 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL  
FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING    
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 



 

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2013 

 

Prepared by 

Finance Department 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA 

CONTENTS 

Introductory Section 

   Letter of Transmittal ................................................................................................................. i-iv 
 Listing of Elected Officials and Administrative Personnel ..........................................................v 
 Organization Chart ...................................................................................................................... vi 
 Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting ........................................... vii 

Basic Financial Statements 

 Independent Auditors’ Report ................................................................................................... 1-3 

 Management's Discussion and Analysis (Required Supplementary Information) ................. 4-15 

 Basic Financial Statements 
  Government-wide Financial Statements 
   Statement of Net Position .....................................................................................................16
   Statement of Activities ..........................................................................................................17
  Fund Financial Statements 
   Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds ..................................................................................18 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –  
    Governmental Funds ..........................................................................................................19
   Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
    Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities .................................................20 
   Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds .....................................................................21 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – Proprietary Funds .........22 
   Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds ................................................................ 23-24 
   Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – Pension Trust Fund ..................................................25 
   Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position – Pension Trust Fund ...............................26 

  Notes to Basic Financial Statements .................................................................................. 27-58 

  Required Supplementary Information (Other than Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis)

   Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund ................................................................59 
   Note to Budgetary Comparison Schedule .............................................................................60 
   Schedule of Funding Progress – Pension Trust Fund ...........................................................61 
   Schedule of Employer Contributions – Pension Trust Fund ................................................62 
   Schedule of Funding Progress – OPEB ................................................................................63 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA 

CONTENTS 

Basic Financial Statements (continued) 

 Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules 

   Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds ..............................................64 
   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –
    Nonmajor Governmental Funds .........................................................................................65 
   Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –
    Budget and Actual – Tourism Fund ...................................................................................66 
   Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –
    Budget and Actual – Transportation Surtax Fund .............................................................67 
   Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –
    Budget and Actual – Police Forfeiture Fund .....................................................................68 

 Statistical Section (Unaudited) 

  Changes in Net Position – Governmental Activities ...............................................................69 
  Changes in Net Position – Governmental Activities – Percentage of Total ............................70 
  Changes in Net Position – Business-type Activities ................................................................71 
  Changes in Total Net Position .................................................................................................72
  Government-wide Net Position by Category ...........................................................................73 
  Chart – Total Government-wide Net Position .........................................................................74 
  General Government Revenues by Source ..............................................................................75 
  Chart – Total General Governmental Revenues ......................................................................76 
  Tax Revenues by Source – Governmental Funds ....................................................................77 
  Chart – Tax Revenues by Source – Governmental Funds .......................................................78 
  General Governmental Expenditures by Function ...................................................................79 
  General Governmental Current Expenditures by Function .....................................................80 
  Chart – Total General Governmental Current Expenditures ...................................................81 
  Summary of Changes in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds ............................................82 
  Chart – Changes in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds ....................................................83 
  Fund Balances - Governmental Funds .....................................................................................84 
  Fund Balances - Governmental Funds .....................................................................................85 
  Taxable Assessed Value – Real and Personal Property ...........................................................86 
  Chart – Total Assessed Value ..................................................................................................87
  Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates ............................................................................88 
  Chart – Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates ...............................................................89 
  Total Property Tax Levies and Collections .............................................................................90 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA 

CONTENTS 

Statistical Section (Unaudited) (continued)

  Principal Real Property Taxpayers ..........................................................................................91
  Principal Personal Property Taxpayers ....................................................................................92 
  Ratios of Total Debt Outstanding by Type ..............................................................................93 
  Pledged Revenue Coverage .....................................................................................................94
  Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt ............................................................................95 
  Demographic and Economic Statistics ....................................................................................96 
  Principal Employers .................................................................................................................97
  Town Full-Time Funded Positions by Function/Program .......................................................98 
  Operating Statistics by Function/Program ...............................................................................99 
  Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program........................................................................100 

Reporting Section 

 Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
  Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  
  Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards .................................. 101-102 

 Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project and  
  Report on Internal Control over Compliance Required by Chapter 10.550,
  Rules of the Auditor General ......................................................................................... 103-104

 Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance ..........................................................105 

 Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance ......................................106 

 Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ..................................................................... 107-109 

 Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings .............................................................................110 

 Management Letter in Accordance with the Rules of the Auditor General of the  
  State of Florida ............................................................................................................... 111-112 



INTRODUCTORY SECTION 











v

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

LISTING OF ELECTED OFFICIALS AND ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 

TOWN COMMISSION 

Daniel Dietch, Mayor 

Michael Karukin, Vice Mayor 

Joe Graubart, Commissioner 

Michelle Kligman, Commissioner 

Marta Olchyk, Commissioner 

OFFICIALS 

Michael P. Crotty, Town Manager

David Allen, Chief of Police 

Sandra Novoa, Town Clerk 

Linda Miller, Town Attorney 

Tim Milian, Parks and Recreation Director 

Joseph Kroll, Public Works Director  

Duncan Tavares, Tourism, Economic Dev, & Community Svs. Director 

Rosendo Prieto, Building Official 

Joe Damien, Code Compliance Director 

Sarah Sinatra Gould, AICP, Planning/Zoning Manager 

Yamileth Slate-McCloud, Human Resource Director 

Donald G. Nelson, Finance Director 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Marcum LLP 



vi

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

ORGANIZATION CHART 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 

Finance

Director 

Town Clerk Building

Official

Chief of 

Police 

Public

Works 

Director 

Parks and 

Recreation 

Director 

Tourism/

Economic/

Community 

Svs. 

Director 

Residents

Town
Committees/Boards 

Town Attorney 
Town Manager 

HR Director 

Code Compliance 

Planning/Zoning 

Town Commission 

Plans,
Coordinates 
and Directs 
Community 
Events and 
Parks and 
Recreation
Programs 

Plan, organize 
and manage 

Tourism/ 
Economic/ 
Community 

events.
Implement 

tourism 
marketing, 
plans and 
strategies

Water & 
Sewer, 

Sanitation,
Street

Cleaning,
Stormwater, 
Building and 

Property 
Maintenance,
Community 

Services 

Police patrol, 
Community 
Relations,
Criminal 

Investigation, 
Traffic and 

Parking 
Enforcement, 
Emergency 

Management 

Building
Inspections 

and, 
Permitting 

Commission 
Agenda, 
Minutes, 
Records

Management 
Retention,

Local
Business

Taxes and 
Information 
Technology 

Finance, 
Accounting, 

Budget, 
Accounts
Payable, 

Purchasing, 
Payroll, Debt 
Service and 

Risk
Management  



vii



 
FINANCIAL SECTION 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  

REPORT 



Marcum LLP � One Southeast Third Avenue � 16th Floor � Miami, Florida 33131 � Phone 305.995.9600 � Fax 305.995.9601 � www.marcumllp.com

1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor, Town Commission and Town Manager 
Town of Surfside, Florida 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
Town of Surfside, Florida (the Town), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2013, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
did not audit the financial statements of the Retirement Plan for the Employees of the Town of 
Surfside, Florida (the Pension Trust Fund) which represents 94%, 98% and 85%, respectively, of 
the assets, net position/fund balance and revenues/additions of the aggregate remaining fund 
information.  Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has 
been furnished to us, and our opinion on the financial statements, insofar as it relates to the 
amounts included for the Pension Trust Fund, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 



2

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Town’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal 
control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of the other auditors, the financial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Town as of September 30, 2013, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of a Matter 

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Town implemented Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred 
Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position and Statement No. 65, 
Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities as of October 1, 2012.  Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 15, the budgetary comparison 
information on pages 59 and 60, and the schedules of funding progress and employer 
contributions on pages 61 through 63 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context.  We and the other auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 



3

preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary and Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements.  The introductory and statistical 
sections, the combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules and schedule of 
expenditures of State financial assistance, as required by Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. 

The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules and the schedule of 
expenditures of State financial assistance, as required by Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General, are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America by us and the other auditors.  In our opinion, based on our audit, the combining and 
individual fund financial statements and schedules and the schedule of expenditures of State 
financial assistance, as required by Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General are fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 30, 
2014 on our consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide 
an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Miami, FL 
June 30, 2014 



 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION  

AND ANALYSIS 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

4

Within this section of the comprehensive annual financial report for the Town of Surfside (the Town), the 
Town’s management is pleased to provide this narrative discussion and analysis of the financial activities 
of the Town for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013.  The Town’s financial performance is 
discussed and analyzed within the context of the accompanying financial statements and disclosures 
following this section.

2013 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

The Town’s assets exceeded its liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources by $32,266,101(total 
net position) as of September 30, 2013. 
Total net position increased $2,336,073 and is comprised of the following: 

(1) Capital assets, net of related debt, of $26,395,129 include property and equipment, net of 
accumulated depreciation, and reduced by related outstanding debt.   

(2) Net position of $1,972,031 are restricted by constraints imposed from outside the Town such as 
grantors, laws, or regulations. 

(3) Unrestricted net position consists of $3,898,941 that may be used to meet the Town’s ongoing 
obligations to citizens and creditors.

The Town’s governmental funds reported total ending fund balance of $5,923,420 at September 30, 
2013.  This compares to the prior year restated total ending fund balance of $5,988,878, showing a 
decrease of $65,458 during the current year.  This increase includes the prior period adjustment.  
Unassigned fund balance is $3,151,275 at September 30, 2013. 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned and unrestricted fund balance for the General 
Fund was $5,151,275, or 50.2% of total General Fund expenditures.  The unrestricted fund balance 
for the General fund was $3,151,275 or 30.7% of total General Fund expenditures. 
Overall, the Town continues to maintain a strong financial position. 

The above financial highlights are explained in more detail in the “financial analysis” section of this 
document. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This Management Discussion and Analysis document introduces the Town’s basic financial statements.  
The basic financial statements include:  (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial 
statements, and (3) notes to the basic financial statements.  The Town also includes in this report 
additional information to supplement the basic financial statements.  Comparative data is presented to 
allow comparison to the prior fiscal year. 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The Town’s annual report includes two government-wide financial statements.  These statements provide 
both long-term and short-term information about the Town's overall financial status.  Financial reporting 
at this level uses a perspective similar to that found in the private sector with its basis in accrual 
accounting and elimination or reclassification of activities between funds. 

The first of these government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position.  This is the government-
wide statement of position presenting information that includes all of the Town’s assets plus deferred 
outflows of resources and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net
position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the 
financial position of the Town as a whole is improving or deteriorating.  Evaluation of the overall health 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

5

of the Town would extend to other nonfinancial factors such as diversification of the taxpayer base or the 
condition of the Town’s infrastructure, in addition to the financial information provided in this report. 

The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities, which reports how the Town’s net 
position changed during the current fiscal year.  All current year revenues and expenses are included 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.  An important purpose of the design of the statement of 
activities is to show the financial reliance of the Town's distinct activities or functions on revenues 
provided by the Town's taxpayers. 

Both government-wide financial statements distinguish governmental activities of the Town principally 
supported by taxes from business-type activities intended to recover all or a significant portion of their 
costs through user fees and charges.  Governmental activities include general government, public safety, 
public works, leisure services and transportation.  Business-type activities include water and sewer, 
municipal parking, sanitation and storm water utilities activities. 

The government-wide financial statements are presented on pages 16 and 17 of this report. 

Fund Financial Statements 

A fund is an accountability unit used to maintain control over resources segregated for specific activities 
or objectives.  The Town uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related laws and 
regulations.  Within the basic financial statements, fund financial statements focus on the Town’s most 
significant funds rather than the Town as a whole.  Major funds are separately reported while all others 
are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for nonmajor funds is provided 
in the form of combining statements in a later section of this report. 

The Town has three types of funds: 

Governmental funds are reported in the fund financial statements and encompass the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, the focus is 
very different with fund statements providing a distinctive view of the Town’s governmental funds.  
These statements report short-term fiscal accountability focusing on the use of spendable resources and 
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the year.  They are useful in evaluating annual 
financing requirements of governmental programs and the commitment of spendable resources for the 
near-term. 

Since the government-wide focus includes the long-term view, comparisons between these two 
perspectives may provide insight into the long-term impact of short-term financing decisions.   Both the 
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund operating statement provide a reconciliation 
to assist in understanding the differences between these two perspectives. 

The basic governmental fund financial statements are presented on pages 18 - 19 of this report. 

Individual fund information for nonmajor governmental funds is found in combining statements in a later 
section of this report. 

Proprietary funds are reported in the fund financial statements and generally report services for which the 
Town charges customers a fee.  The Town’s proprietary funds are classified as enterprise funds.  The 
enterprise funds essentially encompass the same function reported as business-type activities in the 
government-wide statements.   



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

6

The basic proprietary fund financial statements are presented on pages 21 - 24 of this report.  

The Town’s Fiduciary fund is reported in the fiduciary fund financial statements, but is excluded from the 
government-wide reporting.  Fiduciary fund financial statements report resources that are not available to 
fund the Town’s programs.  The Town’s fiduciary fund reports the Town’s single employer pension plan 
balances and activities. 

The basic fiduciary fund financial statements are presented on pages 25 and 26 of this report. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements provide information essential to a full 
understanding of the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the basic financial 
statements begin on page 27 of this report. 

Required Supplementary Information 

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary.  A budgetary comparison schedule is included as “required supplementary 
information” for the General Fund.  Budgetary comparison schedules for all other governmental funds 
can be found in the supplementary information section of this report.  These schedules demonstrate 
compliance with the Town’s adopted and final revised budget.  In addition, some required trend 
information for the Town’s pension trust fund and other post employment benefits (OPEB) plan are 
presented in this section.  Required supplementary information can be found on pages 59 - 63 of this 
report.

Supplementary Information 

As discussed, the Town reports major funds in the basic financial statements.  Combining and individual 
fund statements and schedules for nonmajor funds are presented in a supplementary information section 
of this report beginning on page 64. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN AS A WHOLE 

The Town’s net position at fiscal year-end is $32,266,101.  The following table provides a summary of 
the Town’s net position: 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

7

                    

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Assets:
  Current assets 6,881,276$         6,965,075$       1,380,385$     2,858,944$     8,261,661$        9,824,019$       
  Non-current assets
    Other 189,706              207,392            3,433,023       5,859,707       3,622,729          6,067,099         
    Capital assets 13,866,206         14,095,832       28,112,800     20,132,159     41,979,006        34,227,991       

Total assets 20,937,188         21,268,299       32,926,208     28,850,810     53,863,396        50,119,109       

Liabilities:
  Current liabilities 1,086,852           1,609,879         2,329,770       6,796,626       3,416,622          8,406,505         
  Long-term liabilities 554,574              627,762            17,602,823     11,154,814     18,157,397        11,782,576       

Total liabilities 1,641,426           2,237,641         19,932,593     17,951,440     21,574,019        20,189,081       

Deferred inflows of resources 23,276                -                    -                 -                 23,276               -                    

Net position:
  Net investment in 
    capital assets 13,562,457         13,528,097       12,832,672     11,239,664     26,395,129        24,767,761       
  Restricted 364,115              416,070            1,283,916       1,283,916       1,648,031          1,699,986         
  Unrestricted 5,345,914           5,086,491         (1,122,973)     (1,624,210)     4,222,941          3,462,281         

Total net position 19,272,486$       19,030,658$     12,993,615$   10,899,370$   32,266,101$      29,930,028$     

Summary of Net Poition

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

The following chart reports the Town’s total net position balances from fiscal year 2004 - 2013. 

$19,490,947 

$21,068,771 

$21,959,920 

$23,871,169 

$22,518,626 

$23,074,825 

$24,706,676 

$27,898,476 

$29,801,668 

$32,266,101 

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $35,000,000

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Fiscal Year

Total Net Position

Note over the last ten years, the total net position have increased $12,775,154 or 65.5%. 

Current assets in governmental activities and business-type activities decreased in fiscal year September 30, 
2013.  Unrestricted cash for governmental activities increased approximately $97,689.  For business-type 
activities, restricted cash decreased approximately $1.5 million.  



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

8

The Town continues to maintain high current ratios.  The current ratio compares current assets to current 
liabilities and is an indication of the ability to pay current obligations.  The current ratio for governmental 
activities is 6.3 to 1 as compared to 4.3 to 1 at September 30, 2012.  The current liabilities exceed the 
current assets.  Overall, the total current ratio at September 30, 2013 was 2.4 to 1 as compared to 1.2 to 1 
at September 30, 2012 or an improvement. 

The Town reported positive balances in net position for both governmental and business-type activities.  
During 2013, net position increased $241,828 for governmental activities and increased $2,094,245 for 
business-type activities.  The Town's overall financial position improved during fiscal year 2013.  The 
Town remains in a strong financial position, in spite of a continued depressed economy. 

Note that 66.2% of the governmental activities’ total assets are tied up in capital assets.  The Town uses 
these capital assets to provide services to its citizens.  Approximately, 85.4% of the business-type 
activities total assets are included in capital assets.  These capital assets provide utility and parking 
services to the Town’s citizens.  By combining governmental activities with business-type activities, the 
Town has invested approximately 77.9% of its total assets in capital assets, as presented in the 
government-wide statement of net position. 

The following table provides a summary of the Town’s changes in net position:  



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

9

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenues:
 Program:
  Charges for services 2,446,239$     2,288,488$     5,427,160$    5,401,035$     7,873,399$      7,689,523$      
  Operating grants and contributions 271,588          245,305          -                 -                 271,588           245,305           
  Capital grants 350,000          -                  1,086,000      276,844          1,436,000        276,844           
 General:
  Property taxes 5,257,726       5,264,387       -                 -                 5,257,726        5,264,387        
  Other taxes 1,539,957       1,540,780       -                 -                 1,539,957        1,540,780        
  Unrestricted intergovermental 638,944          639,582          -                 -                 638,944           639,582           
  Unrestricted investment earnings 30,399            62,782            (13,811)          14,790            16,588             77,572             
  Miscellaneous 241,930          205,832          -                 -                 241,930           205,832           

Total revenues 10,776,783     10,247,156   6,499,349    5,692,669     17,276,132      15,939,825     

Program Expenses:

  General government 3,555,197       3,117,750       -                 -                 3,555,197        3,117,750        
  Public safety 4,404,897       4,418,680       -                 -                 4,404,897        4,418,680        
  Public works 1,034,890       980,590          -                 -                 1,034,890        980,590           
  Leisure services 1,767,787       1,691,572       -                 -                 1,767,787        1,691,572        
  Transportation 168,417          138,815          -                 -                 168,417           138,815           
  Interest 6,045              4,754              -                 -                 6,045               4,754               
  Water and sewer -                  -                  1,837,645      1,730,300       1,837,645        1,730,300        
  Municipal parking -                  -                  888,502         622,208          888,502           622,208           
  Sanitation -                  -                  1,131,680      1,073,281       1,131,680        1,073,281        
  Stormwater utility -                  -                  144,999         130,323          144,999           130,323           

Total expenses 10,937,233     10,352,161     4,002,826      3,556,112       14,940,059      13,908,273      

Changes in net position 
  before transfers (160,450)         (105,005)         2,496,523      2,136,557       2,336,073        2,031,551        

Transfers 402,278          26,329            (402,278)        (26,329)          -                  -                  

Changes in net position
  after transfers 241,828          (78,676)           2,094,245      2,110,228       2,336,073        2,031,552        

Beginning net position 19,030,658     19,109,334     10,899,370    8,789,142       29,930,028      27,898,476      

Ending net position 19,272,486$   19,030,658$   12,993,615$  10,899,370$   32,266,101$    29,930,028$    

Summary of Changes in Net Position

Governmental

Activities

Business-type

Activities Total

Governmental Activities Revenues 

The Town is heavily reliant on property taxes to support governmental operations.  Property taxes 
provided 48.8% of the Town’s total revenues as compared to 51.4% in fiscal year 2012.  Other taxes, 
which includes resort, franchise, utility and communications taxes provided 14.3% of the Towns total 
revenues as compared to 15% in fiscal year 2012.   The charges for services increased $157,751, due 
primarily to building permit activity and from Recreation Camp programs. Because of the Town’s 
healthy financial position, we have been able to earn $30,399 in unrestricted investment earnings to 
support governmental activities.  The $350,000 capital contribution relates to a contribution from 
developers of large-scale commercial developments. 

Note that program revenues covered 28% of governmental operating expenditures as compared to 24.5% 
in fiscal year 2012.  This means that the government’s taxpayers and the Town’s other general revenues 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

10 

normally fund 72% of the governmental activities, primarily from property taxes, other taxes and 
unrestricted intergovernmental revenue.  As a result, the general economy and the success of local 
businesses have a major impact on the Town’s revenue streams.     

Governmental Activities Expenses 

The following table presents the cost of each of the Town’s services, including the net costs (i.e., total 
cost less program revenues generated by the activities).  The net costs illustrate the financial burden that is 
placed on the Town’s taxpayers by each of these services. 

Total Cost Percentage Net Cost Percentage
of Services of Total of Services of Total

  General government 3,555,197$            32.5% 2,159,204$       27.2%

  Public safety 4,404,897              40.3% 3,693,453         46.5%

  Physical environment 1,034,890              9.5% 684,890            8.6%

  Leisure services 1,767,787              16.2% 1,363,344         17.2%

  Transportation 168,417                 1.5% 37,530              0.5%

  Interest 6,045                     0.0% 6,045                0.0%

  Total 10,937,233$       100.0% 7,944,466$       100.0%

Governmental Activities

The public safety expenditures, both gross and net of program revenues total over 40% of total costs.  As 
noted, total cost and net costs do not differ substantially by percentage for each service.   

Business-Type Activities  

The Town reports four major enterprise funds.   

Overall Analysis of Major Funds – Total operating revenues increased just $26,125 or ½ of 1%.  
Operating expenses increased $383,374 or 10.8%.  In total, the operating income decreased $357,294.  
The total increase in net position for all enterprise funds was $2,094,245.

The operating income for each major enterprise fund was as follows for fiscal years 2013 and 2012: 

Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease)

Water and sewer 843,785$             1,055,048$         (211,263)$
Municipal parking 167,965               270,818              (102,853)         
Sanitation 107,262               146,408              (39,146)           
Stormwater 368,662               372,649              (3,987)             

Total 1,487,674$         1,844,923$        (357,249)$

The following includes an analysis of the fiscal year 2013 financial activities for each fund.   

Water and Sewer Fund - The total assets increased $5,266,090, due primarily to $7 million increase in 
the cost of capital assets and a decrease in restricted cash of $1.7 million.  Total liabilities and deferred 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

11 

inflows of resources increased about $4,469,100.  Operating revenues decreased $153,302 or 5.5%.  This 
decrease occurred due to the installation of new Town wide water and sewer system and customer credits. 

There was a $100,000 capital improvement reimbursement from Indian Creek Village for public right of 
way improvements to Surfside Boulevard.  

In total, operating expenses increased $57,961 or 3.3%.  Net position decreased $538,872 or 9.5% in 
fiscal year 2013, resulting in ending net position of $6,473,656.   

Municipal Parking Fund – The total assets decreased $139,665.  Capital assets costs increased $220,018 
and the accumulated depreciation increased approximately $87,574. 

Operating revenues increased $163,441 or 18.3% due to increased parking demand from all the large 
commercial construction projects.  In total, operating expenses increased $266,294 or 42.8%.  The cost of 
personal services increased $117,119 or 46.5%.  Salary and benefit costs increased from additional full 
time staff, the effect of a compensation study and health/life insurance costs. 

In total, operating income decreased $102,853 in fiscal year 2013 from fiscal year 2012.  Net position 
increased $20,693 or 6/10 of 1% in fiscal year 2013, resulting in an ending net position of $3,345,994. 

Sanitation Fund - The total assets increased $28,806.  Total liabilities increased $40,276.  Operating 
revenues were $19,253 above the fiscal year 2012 amount.  In total, operating expenses increased $58.399 
or 5.4%.  Personal costs increased $65,476 or 12.7%. Salary and benefit cost increase from the effect of a 
compensation study and Health/Life insurance cost increase. 

Operating income decreased $39,146 or 26.7%.  Net position decreased $4,931 or 1.7% in fiscal year 
2013, resulting in an ending net position of $293,042. 

Stormwater Fund - The total assets increased $2,696,866, due primarily to an interfund receivable of 
approximately $2.9 million due from the general fund.   

Total liabilities increased $1,434,212 due to an increase in the new state revolving loan.  Both the 
operating revenues and operating expenses were almost identical to those of fiscal year 2012.  As a result, 
operating income was $368,662, or down $3,987 from fiscal year 2012.  This fund received a $986,000 
capital grant from the Florida Department of Environmental Protection for storm water improvements. 

Net position increased $1,262,654 or 78% in fiscal year 2013, resulting in ending net position of 
$2,880,923. 

FUND ANALYSIS 

Governmental Funds 

Governmental funds are reported in the fund statements with a short-term, inflow and outflow of 
spendable resources focus.  This information is useful in assessing resources available at the end of the 
year in comparison with upcoming financing requirements.  Governmental funds reported ending fund 
balances of $5,923,420 compared to a restated $ 5,988,878 at September 30, 2012. 

The total governmental expenditures exceeded revenues by $467,736.  This difference results primarily 
from the activity of our two major funds.  The general fund’s expenditures exceeded its revenues by 
$313,892.  The capital projects fund’s expenditures exceeded total revenue, by $111,171. 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

12 

Governmental funds report total fund balance of $5,923,420.  Of this year-end total, $364,115 is 
restricted.  $2 million is assigned in the General Fund for emergencies and disasters since we are a coastal 
community subject to hurricane risk and $255,263 is assigned in the Capital Projects Fund for future 
capital projects.  $152,767 is considered nonspendable and $3,151,275 is unassigned and available for 
future appropriation within the General Fund.    

The total ending fund balances of governmental funds show an adjusted increase of $108,193 or 1.8% 
over the prior year. 

Major Governmental Funds  

The Town reports two major governmental funds, the General Fund and the Capital Projects Fund. 

General Fund - The General Fund is the Town’s primary operating fund and the largest source of day-to-
day service delivery.  The General Fund’s fund balance increased just $37,668 or 7/10 of 1% as compared 
to a 23.7% decrease in 2012.  The ending assigned and unassigned fund balance is considered adequate, 
representing the equivalent of 30.7% of annual expenditures.   This compares to 53% at September 30, 
2012. 

Utility tax revenue increased $31,598 or 6.7% for electric and gas from customer demand.  All other 
revenue streams were consistent with the 2012 amounts. 

Total General Fund expenditures increased $608,251 or 6.3% above the fiscal year 2012 level.  The most 
significant changes, by department, from fiscal year 2012 are described below. 

General government costs were $405,652 over the 2012 amount due to increases in salaries, retirement 
funding and benefits for additional staff in 2012-2013.  Public safety expenditures increased $508,502 or 
12.9% due to police personnel, benefit cost increases from the collective bargaining wage increase, and 
police capital equipment leases. 

Public works and Leisure services costs were similar to the prior year. 

Capital Projects Fund - This fund reported revenue from investment earnings totaling $5,735 and the 
$350,000 developer contribution explained above.  This fund spent $466,808 on capital items.  At 
September 30, 2013, this fund reported approximately $510,000 in cash and investments.  At year-end, 
this fund reported fund balance of $255,263. 

Proprietary Funds 

Proprietary fund statements share the same focus as the government-wide statements, reporting both 
short-term and long-term information about financial status.  The business-type activities analysis above 
discusses the Town’s enterprise funds. 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS  

The General Fund’s revenue budget was amended upward in this fiscal year, by just $37,592.  An 
increase of $15,000 in miscellaneous revenue was the largest amendment.  In total, actual revenues 
exceeded the final budget by just $45,392 or ½ of 1%.  The largest revenue stream over budget was 
miscellaneous revenue by $119,768.  Because of the variety of revenue streams included in 
miscellaneous, this budget is very difficult to project.  Fines and forfeiture revenue was over the budget 
by $99,712 due to conservative budgeting.   



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

13 

Property taxes were below budget by $90,523 or 1.7% because of adjustments to property values approved 
by the Miami-Dade County Value Adjustment Board from taxpayer request for adjustment hearings. 

Licenses and permits were over budget by $51,472. 

The General Fund’s expenditure (excluding transfers) budget was increased $1,088,905 or 10.8%.  In 
total, actual expenditures were below the budget by $893,589.  

The executive, finance and administration final budget was underspent by $284,506 due to cost savings 
throughout the departments within this function. 

The public works budget was underspent by $112,058 from reduced expenditures for salaries, benefits, 
repairs and maintenance of buildings, operating cost and utility services.  The leisure services budget was 
underspent by $206,153 due to various cost saving within this function.  The general fund’s capital outlay 
budget was underspent by $131,508 because some budgeted equipment was not expended and the 
purchase of police vehicles was financed over five years. 

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets 

The Town's net investment in capital assets, for governmental and business-type activities as of 
September 30, 2013, was $13,866,206 and $28,112,800 respectively.  The change in this net investment 
was a 1.6% decrease for governmental activities and a 39.6% increase for business-type activities.    See 
Note 6 for additional information about changes in capital assets during the fiscal year and outstanding at 
the end of the year.   

The following table provides a summary of capital asset activity: 

       Business-type Activities                        Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Non-depreciable assets:
  Land 1,461,229$        1,461,229$        1,358,011$    1,358,011$    2,819,240$      2,819,240$       
  Construction in progress 434,878             411,606             25,388,873    17,600,215    25,823,751      18,011,821       

  Total non-depreciable 1,896,107          1,872,835          26,746,884    18,958,226    28,642,991      20,831,061       

Depreciable assets:
  Buildings 10,384,409        10,551,831        -                 -                 10,384,409      10,551,831       
  Machinery, equipment 
    and furniture 2,955,794          3,024,117          1,003,434      940,410         3,959,228        3,964,527         
  Infrastructure 2,808,646          2,315,800          2,969,014      2,718,195      5,777,660        5,033,995         

Total depreciable assets 16,148,849        15,891,748        3,972,448      3,658,605      20,121,297      19,550,353       

Less accumulated depreciation 4,178,750          3,668,751          2,606,532      2,484,672      6,785,282        6,153,423         

Book value - depreciable assets 11,970,099        12,222,997        1,365,916      1,173,933      13,336,015      13,396,930       

Percentage depreciated 26% 23% 66% 68% 34% 31%

Total net capital assets 13,866,206$      14,095,832$      28,112,800$  20,132,159$  41,979,006$    34,227,991$     

Capital Assets

Governmental Activities



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

14 

At September 30, 2013, the depreciable capital assets for governmental activities were 26% depreciated.  
This compares to the 23% at September 30, 2012.  With the Town’s business-type activities, 66% of the 
asset values were depreciated at September 30, 2013 compared to 68% at September 30, 2012.  These 
percentages indicate that the Town is replacing their capital assets at the same rate, as they are being 
depreciating, which is a positive financial indicator.  However, about two-third of the business-type 
activities are depreciation which means are Town needs to be reviewing asset replacement. 

The increase of $492,846 in governmental activities infrastructure included traffic calming pavers, 
stamped cross walks, bus shelters and wayfarer signs.  The additions to construction in progress of 
$434,878 relate to the Harding Avenue and 95th Street Streetscape improvements and seawall 
improvements. 

The additions to construction in progress of $8,020,510 for business-type activities relate to Town wide 
new water, sewer and storm water line replacement.  The increase to the infrastructure of $250,810 
included Improvements to the Abbott Avenue and 94th Street parking lots and new parking wayfarer 
signs.

Debt  

In this fiscal year, the Town borrowed $7,361,834.in a state revolving loan for construction of wastewater 
and storm water improvements. 

The following table reports long-term debt balances at September 30, 2013 and 2012: 

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenue bonds -$                -$               10,985,348$        11,507,445$        10,985,348$       11,507,445$         

Capital lease 303,749          427,130          -                       -                       303,749              427,130                

Notes -                  -                 80,000                 160,000               80,000                160,000                

State revolving loan -                  -                 7,255,844            -                       7,255,844           -                        

Compensated absences 281,316          296,509          96,598                 73,872                 377,914              370,381                

Net OPEB obligation 121,781          89,352            33,414                 22,981                 155,195              112,333                

Total 706,846$      812,991$     18,451,204$     11,764,298$     19,158,050$     12,577,289$

Outstanding Long-term Debt

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Totals

See Note 8 for additional information about the Town’s long-term debt. 

A SUMMARY OF THE ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AFFECTING THE TOWN

The State of Florida, by constitution, does not have a state personal income tax and therefore the State 
operates primarily using sales, gasoline and corporate income taxes.  Local governments (towns and 
cities, counties, school boards) primarily rely on property and an array of permitted other taxes (utility 
taxes, franchise fees and local business taxes) as well as intergovernmental revenues for their 
governmental activities.   

For business-type activities and certain governmental activities (building/construction services and 
recreational programs), the user pays a related fee or charge associated with the service.  The 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Surfside, Florida 
As of and For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 

15 

unemployment rate for Miami-Dade County/Fort Lauderdale is currently 9.5%, which is a decrease from 
a rate of 10.3% a year ago. The Town’s residents would expect to have a lower unemployment rate than is 
reported for the county.  In the 2012–2013 adopted budget, we continued operating in a tight economic 
environment. 

Some of the key elements affecting the fiscal year 2012-2012 budget include: 

An increase in taxable property values 
No increase in the Solid Waste collection rates to customer. 
Large-scale commercial developments will continue for the next three years. 
Building permit activity for residential and commercial construction will increase. 
The General Fund balance is projected to increase over the next three years.  

All of these factors result in many budget challenges in fiscal year 2012-2013 and beyond.   

The millage rate for fiscal year 2013 was decreased from 5.500 to 5.300.  This slight decrease was 
possible through an increase in property values as well as a strict control over expenditures. 

CONTACTING THE TOWN’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town’s finances, comply with 
finance-related laws and regulations, and demonstrate the Town’s commitment to public accountability.  
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or request for additional information 
should be addressed to the Finance Director, Town of Surfside, 9293 Harding Avenue, Surfside, FL 
33154.



 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These basic financial statements contain  

Government-wide Financial Statements, Fund Financial  

Statements and Notes to the Financial Statements. 



Business-
Governmental type

Activities Activities Total
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6,001,684$    499,200$       6,500,884$
Investments 107,636         5,873             113,509         
Receivables 619,189         847,722         1,466,911      
Prepaid items 152,767         27,590           180,357         
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents --                    3,433,023      3,433,023      
Net pension asset 189,706         --                    189,706         
Capital assets not being depreciated 1,896,107      26,746,884    28,642,991    
Capital assets being depreciated, net 11,970,099 1,365,916 13,336,015

Total Assets 20,937,188 32,926,208 53,863,396

Liabilities
Accounts payable 243,174         488,498         731,672         
Accrued liabilities 542,859         82,290           625,149         
Due to other governments --                    69,838           69,838           
Interest payable --                    244,669         244,669         
Retainage payable --                    391,959         391,959         
Customer deposits 148,547         204,135         352,682         
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 152,272         848,381         1,000,653      
Due in more than one year 554,574 17,602,823 18,157,397

Total Liabilities 1,641,426 19,932,593 21,574,019

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Unearned revenue 23,276 -- 23,276

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 13,562,457    12,832,672    26,395,129    
Restricted for:

Tourism 94,497           --                    94,497           
Transportation 131,475         --                    131,475         
Police forfeiture 138,143         --                    138,143         
Renewal and replacement --                    1,283,916      1,283,916      
Loan reserve --                    324,000         324,000         

Unrestricted 5,345,914 (1,446,973) 3,898,941

Total Net Position 19,272,486$  12,993,615$  32,266,101$

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

16



C
ha

rg
es

O
pe

ra
ti

ng
C

ap
it

al
B

us
in

es
s-

fo
r

G
ra

nt
s 

an
d

G
ra

nt
s 

an
d

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l
ty

pe
F

un
ct

io
ns

/P
ro

gr
am

s
E

xp
en

se
s

S
er

vi
ce

s
C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
T

ot
al

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
G

en
er

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t
3,

55
5,

19
7

$ 
  

1,
39

5,
99

3
$ 

  
--

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

--
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
(2

,1
59

,2
04

)
$ 

 
--

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

(2
,1

59
,2

04
)

$
P

ub
li

c 
sa

fe
t y

4,
40

4,
89

7
   

 
64

5,
80

3
   

   
 

65
,6

41
   

   
   

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
(3

,6
93

,4
53

)
   

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
(3

,6
93

,4
53

)
P

ub
li

c 
w

or
ks

1,
03

4,
89

0
   

 
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
35

0,
00

0
   

   
  

(6
84

,8
90

)
   

  
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

(6
84

,8
90

)
L

ei
su

re
 s

er
vi

ce
s

1,
76

7,
78

7
   

 
40

4,
44

3
   

   
 

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

(1
,3

63
,3

44
)

   
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

(1
,3

63
,3

44
)

T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n

16
8,

41
7

   
   

 
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

20
5,

94
7

   
   

 
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

37
,5

30
   

   
   

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
37

,5
30

In
te

re
st

 o
n 

lo
ng

-t
er

m
 d

eb
t

6,
04

5
--

--
--

(6
,0

45
)

--
(6

,0
45

)
T

ot
al

 G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
10

,9
37

,2
33

2,
44

6,
23

9
27

1,
58

8
35

0,
00

0
 

(7
,8

69
,4

06
)

--
(7

,8
69

,4
06

)
B

u
si

n
es

s-
ty

p
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

W
at

er
 a

nd
 s

ew
e r

1,
83

7,
64

5
   

 
2,

63
2,

04
6

   
 

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

08
6,

00
0

   
  

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

88
0,

40
1

   
 

1,
88

0,
40

1
M

un
ic

ip
al

 p
ar

ki
n g

88
8,

50
2

   
   

 
1,

05
6,

46
7

   
 

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
16

7,
96

5
   

   
 

16
7,

96
5

S
an

it
at

io
n

1,
13

1,
68

0
   

 
1,

23
8,

94
2

   
 

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
10

7,
26

2
   

   
 

10
7,

26
2

S
to

rm
w

at
er

 u
ti

li
t y

14
4,

99
9

49
9,

70
5

--
--

--
35

4,
70

6
35

4,
70

6
T

ot
al

 B
u

si
n

es
s-

ty
p

e 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
4,

00
2,

82
6

5,
42

7,
16

0
--

1,
08

6,
00

0
 

--
2,

51
0,

33
4

2,
51

0,
33

4

T
ot

al
14

,9
40

,0
59

$
 

7,
87

3,
39

9
$

 
27

1,
58

8
$

 
1,

43
6,

00
0

$
 

(7
,8

69
,4

06
)

 
2,

51
0,

33
4

 
(5

,3
59

,0
72

)

G
en

er
al

 R
ev

en
u

es
T

ax
es

P
ro

pe
rt

y 
ta

xe
s

5,
25

7,
72

6
   

 
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

5,
25

7,
72

6
R

es
or

t t
ax

es
34

3,
73

3
   

   
 

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
34

3,
73

3
F

ra
nc

hi
se

 f
ee

s 
ba

se
d 

on
 g

ro
ss

 r
ec

ei
pt

s
39

4,
61

3
   

   
 

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
39

4,
61

3
U

ti
li

ty
 ta

xe
s

50
3,

59
2

   
   

 
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

50
3,

59
2

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
ta

x
29

8,
01

9
   

   
 

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
29

8,
01

9
U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d 

in
te

rg
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l r
ev

en
ue

s
63

8,
94

4
   

   
 

--
   

   
   

   
   

  
63

8,
94

4
U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d 

in
ve

st
m

en
t e

ar
ni

ng
s 

30
,3

99
   

   
   

(1
3,

81
1)

   
   

 
16

,5
88

M
is

ce
ll

an
eo

us
 r

ev
en

ue
s

24
1,

93
0

   
   

 
--

   
   

   
   

   
  

24
1,

93
0

T
ra

n
sf

er
s

40
2,

27
8

(4
02

,2
78

)
--

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

 a
n

d
 T

ra
n

sf
er

s
8,

11
1,

23
4

(4
16

,0
89

)
7,

69
5,

14
5

C
h

an
ge

 in
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

24
1,

82
8

   
   

 
2,

09
4,

24
5

   
 

2,
33

6,
07

3
N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

 -
 B

eg
in

ni
ng

19
,0

30
,6

58
10

,8
99

,3
70

29
,9

30
,0

28

N
et

 P
os

it
io

n
 -

 E
nd

in
g

19
,2

72
,4

86
$

 
12

,9
93

,6
15

$
 

32
,2

66
,1

01
$

T
O

W
N

 O
F

 S
U

R
F

S
ID

E
, F

L
O

R
ID

A

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

P
ro

gr
am

 R
ev

en
ue

s

S
T

A
T

E
M

E
N

T
 O

F
 A

C
T

IV
IT

IE
S

F
O

R
 T

H
E

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
 E

N
D

E
D

 S
E

P
T

E
M

B
E

R
 3

0,
 2

01
3 N

et
 (

E
xp

en
se

) 
R

ev
en

ue
 a

nd

T
h

e 
ac

co
m

pa
n

yi
n

g 
n

ot
es

 a
re

 a
n

 in
te

gr
al

 p
ar

t o
f 

th
es

e 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

. 17



Nonmajor Total
Capital Governmental Governmental

General Projects Funds Funds
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4,568,098$  585,721$     847,865$      6,001,684$
Investments 78,984         24,850         3,802            107,636
Receivables 465,941       100,200 53,048          619,189
Due from other funds 958,685       --                 --                  958,685
Prepaid items 152,767 -- -- 152,767

Total Assets 6,224,475$  710,771$  904,715$  7,839,961$

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances 

Liabilities
Accounts payable 209,069$     18,388$       15,717$        243,174$
Accrued liabilities 540,941       --                 1,918            542,859
Due to other funds --                 437,120 521,565        958,685
Customer deposits 148,547 -- -- 148,547

Total Liabilities 898,557 455,508 539,200 1,893,265

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue 21,876         --                 1,400            23,276

Fund Balances
Non-spendable:

Prepaid items 152,767       --                 --                  152,767
Restricted for:
  Tourism --                 --                 94,497          94,497
  Transportation surtax --                 --                 131,475        131,475
  Police forfeiture --                 --                 138,143        138,143
Assigned for:

Hurricanes and emergencies 2,000,000    --                 --                  2,000,000
Capital projects --                 255,263       --                  255,263

Unassigned 3,151,275 -- -- 3,151,275

Total Fund Balances 5,304,042 255,263 364,115 5,923,420

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of 
Resources and Fund Balances 6,224,475$ 710,771$ 904,715$

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement 
of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources 
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 13,866,206

A net pension asset is not considered to represent a financial asset 
and therefore is not reported in the governmental funds. 189,706

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and 
therefore are not reported in the funds.

   Compensated absences (281,316)
Capital lease (303,749)
Net OPEB obligation (121,781)

Net Position of Governmental Activities 19,272,486$

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

18



Nonmajor Total
Capital Governmental Governmental

General Projects Funds Funds
Revenues

Property taxes 5,257,726$    --$                  --$                  5,257,726$
Resort taxes 343,733         --                    180,266         523,999         
Utility taxes 503,592         --                    --                    503,592         
Communications services tax 298,019         --                    --                    298,019         
Franchise fees 394,613         --                    --                    394,613         
Licenses and permits 1,395,993      --                    --                    1,395,993      
Intergovernmental 638,944         --                    205,947         844,891         
Charges for services 224,177         --                    --                    224,177         
Fines and forfeitures 645,803         --                    65,641           711,444         
Developer fees --                    350,000 --                    350,000         
Investment earnings 23,833           5,735 831                 30,399           
Miscellaneous 230,219 -- 14,015 244,234

Total Revenues 9,956,652 355,735 466,700 10,779,087

Expenditures
Current:

General government 3,116,668      98                   271,280         3,388,046      
Public safety 4,457,239      --                    50,601           4,507,840      
Public works 925,189         --                    --                    925,189         
Leisure services 1,581,992      --                    --                    1,581,992      
Transportation --                    --                    123,254         123,254         

Capital outlay 60,031           466,808         64,238           591,077         
 Debt service:

Principal 123,380         --                    --                    123,380         
Interest and fiscal charges 6,045 -- -- 6,045

Total Expenditures 10,270,544 466,906 509,373 11,246,823

Deficiency of Revenues 
over Expenditures (313,892) (111,171) (42,673) (467,736)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 351,560         60,000           --                    411,560         
Transfers out -- -- (9,282) (9,282)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 351,560 60,000 (9,282) 402,278

Net Change in Fund Balances 37,668           (51,171)          (51,955)          (65,458)          

Fund Balances - Beginning, as Previously Reported 5,266,374      132,783         416,070         5,815,227      
Prior Period Adjustment -- 173,651 -- 173,651

Fund Balances - Beginning, as Restated 5,266,374 306,434 416,070 5,988,878

Fund Balances - Ending 5,304,042$  255,263$  364,115$  5,923,420$

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

19



Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 
activities (Page 16) are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (Page 18) (65,458)$        

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in
the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their 
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  This is the 
amount by which depreciation exceeded capital outlays in the current 
period.

The details of the difference are as follows:
Cost of assets 585,759$       
Depreciation and amortization (636,140)

            Net adjustment (50,381)          

   Loss on disposal of capital assets (5,593)            

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides
current financial resources to governmental funds, while the
repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the
current financial resources to governmental funds.  Neither
transaction, however, has any effect on net position.  Also,
governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs,
premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first
issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized
in the statement of activities.  This detail of the difference
is as follows:

Repayment of principal 123,380         

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the 
use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as 
expenditures in governmental funds.

The detail of the difference is as follows:
Claim settlement 274,802         
Compensated absences 15,193           
Net OPEB obligation (32,429)

            Net adjustment 257,566         

Governmental funds report pension contributions as expenditures.
However, contributions in excess of annual pension cost is reported as a 
net pension asset in the statement of net position. (17,686)

     Change in net position of governmental activities (Page 16) 241,828$

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

20



 Water and  Municipal  Stormwater 
Sewer Parking Sanitation Utility Totals

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 38,012$         189,725$         271,463$  --$                   499,200$        
Accounts receivable, net 647,746         15,661             80,505      96,705             840,617          
Due from other funds --                   916,291           --               2,860,408        3,776,699       
Due from other governments --                   --                     7,105 --                     7,105              
Prepaid items 17,180 2,950 6,575 885 27,590

Total Current Assets 702,938 1,124,627 365,648 2,957,998 5,151,211

Noncurrent Assets
Investments 5,873             --                     --               --                     5,873              
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,906,402      --                     --               1,526,621        3,433,023       

Capital Assets
Construction in progress 22,426,000    --                     --               2,962,873        25,388,873    
Land --                   1,358,011        --               --                     1,358,011       
Infrastructure 1,273,252      1,427,934        --               267,828           2,969,014       
Equipment 157,215 468,019 378,200 -- 1,003,434

23,856,467    3,253,964        378,200    3,230,701        30,719,332    
Less: accumulated depreciation (1,299,278) (894,544) (312,432) (100,278) (2,606,532)

Total Capital Assets, Net 22,557,189 2,359,420 65,768 3,130,423 28,112,800

Total Noncurrent Assets 24,469,464 2,359,420 65,768 4,657,044 31,551,696

Total Assets 25,172,402 3,484,047 431,416 7,615,042 36,702,907

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 407,449         29,678             28,006      23,365             488,498          
Accrued liabilities 50,857           10,604             17,980      2,849               82,290            
Due to other funds 3,776,699      --                     --               --                     3,776,699       
Due to other governments 69,838           --                     --               --                     69,838            
Interest payable 183,502         --                     --               61,167             244,669          
Retainage payable 355,474         --                     --               36,485             391,959          
Current portion note payable --                   80,000             --               --                     80,000            
Current portion of revenue bonds payable 410,055         --                     --               136,685           546,740          
Current portion of state revolving loan payable 158,987         52,996             211,983          
Compensated absences 2,101             727                  6,791        39                    9,658              
Customer deposits 188,664 6,860 8,611 -- 204,135

Total Current Liabilities 5,603,626 127,869 61,388 313,586 6,106,469

Noncurrent Liabilities
Net OPEB obligation 11,341           3,636               15,864      2,573               33,414            
Compensated absences 18,917           6,548               61,122      353                  86,940            
Revenue bonds payable 7,781,967      --                     --               2,656,641        10,438,608    
State revolving loan payable 5,282,895 -- -- 1,760,966 7,043,861

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 13,095,120 10,184 76,986 4,420,533 17,602,823

Total Liabilities 18,698,746 138,053 138,374 4,734,119 23,709,292

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenue 18,839 6,860 8,611 -- 34,310

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 10,474,213    2,279,420        65,768      13,271             12,832,672    
Restricted for renewal and replacement 1,017,776      --                     --               266,140           1,283,916       
Restricted for loan reserve 243,000         --                     --               81,000             324,000          
Unrestricted (5,261,333) 1,066,574 227,274 2,520,512 (1,446,973)

Total Net Position 6,473,656$  3,345,994$  293,042$  2,880,923$  12,993,615$

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

21



Water
and Municipal  Stormwater 

Sewer Parking Sanitation Utility Totals
Operating Revenues

Charges for services:
Water sales 1,348,490$  --$               --$             --$               1,348,490$    
Sewer charges 1,278,483    --                 --               --                 1,278,483      
Parking fees --                 1,056,467    --               --                 1,056,467      
Solid waste fees --                 --                 1,125,947  --                 1,125,947      
Recycling fees --                 --                 85,151       --                 85,151           
Drainage fees --                 --                 --               499,705       499,705         
Miscellaneous 5,073 -- 27,844 -- 32,917

Total Operating Revenues 2,632,046 1,056,467 1,238,942 499,705 5,427,160

Operating Expenses
Personal services 279,292       369,214       579,253     67,348         1,295,107      
Administrative 50,783         431,712       134,515     50,199         667,209         
Water system 483,868       --                 --               --                 483,868         
Sewer system 971,156       --                 --               --                 971,156         
Solid waste system --                 --                 400,285     --                 400,285         
Depreciation and amortization 3,162 87,576 17,627 13,496 121,861

Total Operating Expenses 1,788,261 888,502 1,131,680 131,043 3,939,486

Operating Income 843,785 167,965 107,262 368,662 1,487,674

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest earnings 2,605           --                 --               264              2,869             
Interest expense (16,623)        --                 --               (57)               (16,680)          
Debt related costs (49,384) -- -- (13,956) (63,340)

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (63,402) -- -- (13,749) (77,151)

Income Before Capital
Contributions and Transfers 780,383       167,965       107,262     354,913       1,410,523      

   Capital contributions and grants 100,000 -               --               986,000       1,086,000      
   Transfers (64,554) (147,272) (112,193) (78,259) (402,278)

Total Contributions and Transfers 35,446 (147,272) (112,193) 907,741 683,722

Change in Net Position 815,829       20,693         (4,931)        1,262,654    2,094,245      

Net Position - Beginning 5,657,827 3,325,301 297,973 1,618,269 10,899,370

Net Position - Ending 6,473,656$  3,345,994$  293,042$  2,880,923$  12,993,615$

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

22



Water
and Municipal Stormwater

Sewer Parking Sanitation Utility Totals
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from customers 2,622,779$   1,046,754$   1,241,146$   497,271$        5,407,950$
Payments to suppliers (511,140)       (517,683)       (523,863)       (511,414)         (2,064,100)    
Payments to employees (273,905)       (365,793)       (554,088)       (66,162)           (1,259,948)    
Cash paid to other funds -- (916,291) -- (2,860,408) (3,776,699)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,837,734 (753,013) 163,195 (2,940,713) (1,692,797)

Cash Flows from Noncapital 
Financing Activities

Transfers out (64,554) (147,272) (112,193) (78,259) (402,278)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital
   and Financing Activities (64,554) (147,272) (112,193) (78,259) (402,278)

Cash Flows from Capital and Related
   Financing Activities

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (8,578,025)    (220,020)       (13,859)         (654,861)         (9,466,765)    
Capital contributions and grants 100,000        --                   --                   986,000          1,086,000     
Principal payments (518,055)       (80,000)         --                   (110,032)         (708,087)       
Interest expense and debt related costs (62,250)         --                   (57)                  (62,307)         
Proceeds of loans payable 5,521,375 -- -- 1,840,459 7,361,834

Net  Cash Used by Capital and 
Related Financing Activities (3,536,955) (300,020) (13,859) 2,061,509 (1,789,325)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest earnings 2,605            --                   --                   264                 2,869             
Sale of investments 4,877 -- -- -- 4,877

Net Cash Provided by 
   Investing Activities 7,482 -- -- 264 7,746

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and 
   Cash Equivalents (1,756,293)  (1,200,305)  37,143         (957,199)         (3,876,654)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 3,700,707 1,390,030 234,320 2,483,820 7,808,877

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending 1,944,414$ 189,725$ 271,463$ 1,526,621$  3,932,223$

Cash and Cash Equivalents per 
   Statement of Net Position

Unrestricted 38,012$        189,725$      271,463$      --$                   499,200$      
Restricted 1,906,402 -- -- 1,526,621 3,433,023

1,944,414$ 189,725$ 271,463$ 1,526,621$  3,932,223$

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

23



Water
and Municipal Stormwater

Sewer Parking Sanitation Utility Totals
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net

Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
Operating income 843,785$  167,965$  107,262$  368,662$  1,487,674$

Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash provided by (used) operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 3,162            87,576         17,627         13,496           121,861        

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable (16,589)         (9,713)         9,309           (2,434)           (19,427)         
Prepaid items (12,596)         (2,192)         2,365           (279)              (12,702)         
Due from other funds --                   (916,291)      (7,105)         (2,860,408)    (3,783,804)    

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable (2,134,240)    (87,916)        3,544           (462,703)       (2,681,315)    
Accrued liabilities (26,757)         4,137           4,747           1,767             (16,106)         
Due to other funds 3,776,699     --                 --                 --                   3,776,699     
Other liabilities (608,439)       --                 --                 --                   (608,439)       
Compensated absences 2,195            375              19,764         392                22,726          
Net OPEB obligation 3,192            1,046           5,401           794                10,433          
Unearned revenue (7,813)           2,000           281              --                   (5,532)           
Customer deposits 15,135 -- -- -- 15,135

Total adjustments 993,949 (920,978) 55,933 (3,309,375) (3,180,471)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 1,837,734$  (753,013)$  163,195$  (2,940,713)$  (1,692,797)$

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

(Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

24



Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 506,582$

Receivables
Plan members' contributions 39,564
Due from broker for unsettled investment sales 84,559
Accrued investment income 38,710

Total Receivables 162,833

Prepaid Expenses 9,533

Investments, at Fair Value
U.S. Government securities 918,851
U.S. Government agency bonds 738,272
Mortgage backed securities 307,965
Corporate bonds 2,816,043
Municipal obligations 32,744
Common stocks 2,117,088
DROP Plan Assets 20,621
Mutual funds - I shares 7,029,002

Total Investments 13,980,586

Total Assets 14,659,534

Liabilities and Net Position

Liabilities
Accounts payable 11,796
Due to broker for unsettled investment purchases 119,654
DROP Plan Liability 20,621
Refunds payable 1,108

Total Liabilities 153,179

Net Position Held in Trust for Pension Benefits 14,506,355$

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
PENSION TRUST FUND

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

25



Additions

Contributions
Employer's contributions 664,394$
Plan members' contributions 375,275
Buy back of contributions 108,273

Total Contributions 1,147,942

Investment Earnings
Interest 112,203
Dividends 207,056
Net appreciation in fair value of investments 1,222,215

1,541,474
Less: investment expenses 72,517

Net Investment Earnings 1,468,957

Total Additions 2,616,899

Deductions
Benefits paid 533,907
Refunds of contributions 63,484
Administrative expenses 69,278

Total Deductions 666,669

Net Increase 1,950,230

Net Position Held in Trust for Pension Benefits
Net position - beginning 12,556,125

Net position - ending 14,506,355$

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
PENSION TRUST FUND

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

26



 

NOTES TO BASIC  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



27

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Town of Surfside, Florida (The Town) was incorporated on May 19, 1935.  The Town 
of Surfside’s Charter was adopted under the provisions of Chapter 27914, Laws of Florida, 
1951.  The Town is governed by an elected five-member Town Commissioners and 
operates under a commissioner-manager form of government.  The Town provides services 
to its approximately 5,800 residents in many areas including general government and 
administrative services, public safety (police), physical environment, solid waste collection, 
transportation (maintenance of roads and streets), culture and recreation, tourism 
development, water/sewer and stormwater utilities. 

The summary of the Town’s significant accounting policies is presented to assist the reader 
in interpreting the financial statements and other data in this report.  These policies are 
considered essential and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 

The financial statements of the Town have been prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) as applied to governmental 
units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  
The more significant of the Town’s accounting policies are described below:

A. FINANCIAL REPORTING ENTITY

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, these financial statements present the Town and its organizations for which the 
Town is considered financially accountable.  Financial accountability includes 1) the 
appointment of a voting majority of the organization’s governing body, 2) the ability of the 
primary government to impose its will on the organization, or 3) if there is a financial 
benefit/burden relationship.  In addition, an organization, which is fiscally dependent on the 
primary government, should be included in its reporting entity.  Based on the application of 
these criteria, there were no organizations that met the criteria described above. 

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the Town.  
The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental
activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees 
and charges for support. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

28

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a 
function or segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are 
clearly identifiable with a specific function or identifiable activity.  Program revenues
include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from 
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.  The Town does not employ an 
indirect cost allocation system. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
the fiduciary fund, even though the latter is excluded from the government-wide financial 
statements.  Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are 
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.  All remaining nonmajor 
governmental funds are aggregated and reported as other governmental funds. 

Since the governmental fund financial statements are presented on a different measurement 
focus and basis of accounting than the government-wide financial statements, 
reconciliations are provided to briefly explain the adjustments necessary to reconcile the 
governmental fund financial statements to the government-wide governmental activities 
financial statements. 

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT

PRESENTATION

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and 
fiduciary fund financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and 
similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by 
the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized 
as soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay 
liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the Town considers revenues to be 
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

29

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT

PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as required by accrual 
accounting, except for expenditures related to compensated absences, which are recorded 
when payment is due. 

Property taxes and other taxes (such as franchise taxes, utilities taxes, and sales tax), 
charges for services, intergovernmental revenue, licenses, and interest associated with the 
current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 
recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  Revenues for expenditure driven grants 
are recognized when the qualifying expenditures are incurred.  All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the Town. 

The reporting practices of the proprietary fund types closely parallel comparable 
commercial financial reporting, which recognize revenue when earned and expenses when 
incurred (the accrual basis) including, in the case of the enterprise funds, depreciation on its 
exhaustible capital assets.  Earned, but unbilled service receivables have been accrued as 
revenue in the enterprise funds. 

GAAP sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets and deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, revenue or expenditures/expenses of 
either fund category or the governmental and enterprise combined) for the determination of 
major funds.  The nonmajor funds are presented in the combining and individual fund 
financial statements and schedules section. 

The Town reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund is the Town’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial 
resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in 
another fund. 

The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the capital projects of the Town which 
have received the approval of the Town Commission.  Transfers from the general and 
other funds are made to this fund to cover such expenditures. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

30

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT

PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The Town reports the following major proprietary funds: 

The Water and Sewer Fund is used to account for water and sewer utility operations, 
which are financed and operated in manner similar to private business enterprises.  The 
intent of the Town is that the costs (expenses including depreciation) of providing services 
to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user 
charges.

The Municipal Parking Fund accounts for all parking revenues and expenses.  Parking 
citation revenue is allocated to the General Fund. 

The Sanitation Fund is used to account for the activities of the Town residential, multi-
family, and commercial refuse and recycling. 

The Stormwater Utility Fund is used to account for the stormwater utility fees, which 
are collected to construct, operate, and maintain a stormwater management system. 

Additionally, the government reports the following fund type: 

The Pension Trust Fund is used to account for the Town’s single-employer defined 
benefit pension plan covering substantially all of its employees. 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements.  Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the Town’s 
enterprise functions and various other functions of the Town for services rendered.  
Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported 
for the various functions concerned. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for 
goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital 
grants and contributions, including special assessments.  Internally dedicated resources are 
reported as general revenues rather than program revenues.  The general revenues include 
all taxes. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

31

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT

PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

Proprietary Funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing 
and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  
The principal operating revenues and expenses of the Town’s enterprise fund are charges to 
customers for services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets.  All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues 
and expenses. 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION/FUND 

BALANCE

1. Deposits and Investments 

The Town utilizes a pooled cash account for cash of all Town funds other than those that 
are required to be physically segregated.  The pooled cash account concept allows each 
participating fund to benefit from the economies of scale and improved yield which are 
inherent to a larger investment pool.  Formal accounting records detail the individual 
equities of the participating funds.  The pooled cash system utilizes a single checking 
account for Town receipts and disbursements with a separate checking account for payroll 
disbursements. 

The Town’s cash and cash equivalents, for purposes of the statement of cash flows, are 
considered to be cash and short-term investments with original maturities of three months 
or less from the date of acquisition.  The Town’s cash and cash equivalents include cash on 
hand, demand deposits, and investments with Florida PRIME administered by the State 
Board of Administration.  Fund B, which is also administered by the State Board of 
Administration, is classified as an investment. 

The Town’s investment policy follows the requirements of Florida Statutes Chapter 
218.415, Local Government Investment Policies, and attempts to promote, in order of 
priority, safety of principal, adequate liquidity, and maximization of total return.  
Investments in the Town of Surfside’s local government surplus funds are governed by the 
provisions of Florida Statutes Section 218.415.  Investments in the Town’s retirement plan 
are governed by the Plan’s investment policy.  All investments of the Town, except Florida 
PRIME and Fund B, are reported at fair value using quoted market prices.  The Florida 
PRIME is recorded at its value of the pool shares (2a-7 like pool), which is fair value.  Fund 
B is a fluctuating NAV pool and is reported based on a fair value factor. Income or loss is 
recorded in the respective funds as it is earned. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

32

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION/FUND 

BALANCE (CONTINUED)

2. Interfund Receivables and Payables 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” 
(i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the non-
current portion of the interfund loans).  Any residual balances outstanding between the 
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide 
financial statements as “internal balances”. 

3. Receivables 

Receivables include amounts due from other governments and others for services provided 
by the Town.  Receivables are recorded and revenues are recognized as earned or as 
specific program expenditures/expenses are incurred.  Allowances for uncollectible 
receivables are based upon historical trends and the periodic aging of receivables. 

4. Prepaid Items 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items in the fund financial statements.  Prepaid items are accounted for 
under the purchases method. 

5. Restricted Assets 

Certain resources set aside for the repayment of certain obligations are classified as 
restricted assets on the statement of net position because they are maintained in separate 
bank accounts and/or their use is limited such as bond proceeds restricted for debt service 
and renewal and replacement under the terms of the revenue bonds.  Additionally, the 
Town reports amounts paid for water and sewer development fees as restricted assets. 

6. Capital Assets 

Capital assets include property, buildings, machinery, furniture and equipment, intangible 
and infrastructure assets (e.g., sidewalks and other similar items), and are reported in the 
applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide 
financial statements. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

33

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION/FUND 

BALANCE (CONTINUED)

6. Capital Assets (continued) 

Capital assets are defined by the Town as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than 
$1,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year, except for infrastructure and 
intangible assets for which the Town utilizes a $25,000 capitalization threshold.  Capital 
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  
Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation.  
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend assets lives are not capitalized.  The Town was not required to and did 
not retroactively report infrastructure assets acquired prior to the implementation of GASB 
Statement No. 34 during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. 

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 
constructed.  Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-
type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed.  The 
Town’s business-type activities incurred interest costs of $456,919 in the current fiscal 
year, all of which was capitalized. 

Capital assets of the Town are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives: 

Assets  Years 
Buildings  15-50 
Machinery, furniture and equipment  5-10 
Infrastructure   10-30 
Intangibles  10-30 

7. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred 
outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future 
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/ expenditure) 
until then.  The Town has no items that qualify for reporting in this category. 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, 
deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a 
future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that 
time.  There are two types of items that qualify for reporting in this category: 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

34

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION/FUND 

BALANCE (CONTINUED)

7. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (continued)

Business tax receipts that are received by the Town prior to the period for which the taxes 
are levied are reported as deferred inflows on both the government-wide statement of net 
position, and on the governmental funds balance sheet. 

At September 30, 2013, the Town had reported unearned revenue for business tax licenses 
as deferred inflows of resources in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet. 

8. Compensated Absences 

The Town’s policy is to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused sick as well as 
vacation pay benefits, limited to certain maximums.  All vacation and sick pay is accrued 
when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.  A 
liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for 
example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements.  Compensated absences of 
the governmental funds are typically liquidated from the general fund. 

9. Long-Term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund 
financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the applicable business-type activities or proprietary fund type statement of net 
position.

10. Fund Equity 

The Town follows the criteria for classifying governmental fund balances into specifically 
defined classifications.  Classifications are hierarchical and are based primarily on the 
extent to which the Town is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which 
amounts in the funds may be spent.  The Town’s accounting and financial policies are used 
to interpret the nature and/or requirements of the funds and their corresponding 
classification of nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned. 

The following are the fund balance classifications: 

Nonspendable fund balance.  Nonspendable fund balances are amounts that are (a) not in 
spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

35

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION/FUND 

BALANCE (CONTINUED)

10. Fund Equity (continued) 

Restricted fund balance.  Restricted fund balances are amounts that can be spent only for 
specific purposes stipulated by (a) external resource providers such as creditors (by debt 
covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) 
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Committed fund balance.  These amounts can only be used for the specific purposes 
determined by a formal action (Ordinance or resolution, which are equally binding) of the 
Town Commission, the Town’s highest level of decision making authority.  
Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the Town Commission taking the same 
formal action (Ordinance or resolution) that imposed the constraint originally.  Resources 
accumulated pursuant to stabilization arrangements sometimes are reported in this 
category. 

Assigned fund balance. Assigned fund balances are amounts that are constrained by the 
Town’s intent to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed.  
Intent is established by management of the Town to which the Commission has delegated 
the authority to assign, modify or rescind amounts to be used for specific purposes. There 
is no formal policy through which this authority has been established. This balance 
includes (a) all remaining amounts that are reported in governmental funds (other than 
the General Fund) that are not classified as nonspendable, restricted, or committed, and 
(b) amounts in the General Fund that are intended to be used for a specific purpose.  
Specific amounts that are not restricted or committed in a special revenue or capital 
projects fund are assigned for the purposes in accordance with the nature of their fund 
type.  Assignment within the General Fund conveys that the intended use of those 
amounts is for a specific purpose that is narrower than the general purposes of the Town 
itself. 

Unassigned fund balance.  This fund balance is the residual classification for the General 
Fund.  It is also used to report negative fund balances in other governmental funds. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

36

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION/FUND 

BALANCE (CONTINUED)

11. Fund Balance Flow Assumptions 

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted 
and unrestricted resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance).  
In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and 
unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements a flow assumption 
must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the 
Town’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using any of 
the components of unrestricted fund balance.  Further, when the components of unrestricted 
fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, 
followed by assigned fund balance.  Unassigned fund balance is applied last, unless the 
Town Commission has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions by 
either ordinance or resolution. 

12. Net Position 

Net position of the government-wide and proprietary funds is categorized as net investment 
in capital assets, restricted or unrestricted. The net investment in capital assets consists of 
capital assets reduced by accumulated depreciation and by any outstanding debt and 
deferred inflows/outflows of resources incurred to acquire, construct or improve those 
assets, excluding unexpended proceeds. Restricted net position is that portion of net 
position that has been restricted for general use by external parties (creditors, grantors, 
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments) or imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  Unrestricted net position consists of net 
position that does not meet the definition of either of the other two components. When 
expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net 
position is available, the Town considers restricted funds to have been spent first. 

13. Net Position Flow Assumption 

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted 
and unrestricted resources.  In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted – net 
position and unrestricted – net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund 
financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the 
resources are considered to be applied.  When both restricted and unrestricted resources are 
available for use, it is the Town’s policy to consider restricted – net position to have been 
depleted before unrestricted – net position is applied. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

37

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION/FUND 

BALANCE (CONTINUED)

14. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results 
may differ from management’s estimates. 

15. Implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements 

The Town implemented the following GASB Statements during the year ended 
September 30, 2013: 

GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus; an amendment of 
GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34. 

This statement modifies existing requirements for the assessment of potential component 
units in determining what should be included in the financial reporting entity, the display of 
component units (blending vs. discrete presentation), and certain requirements.  The 
requirements of this statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning 
after June 15, 2012.  The Town has applied the requirements, as applicable, of Statement 
No. 61 effective October 1, 2012 and it had no impact on the Town’s financial statements. 

GASB Statement No. 62 Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance 
Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements. 

This statement incorporates into GASB literature certain accounting and financial reporting 
guidance contained in the Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements 
which does not conflict with GASB pronouncements which had no impact on the financial 
information in the current year. 

GASB Statement No. 63 Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred 
Inflows of Resources, and Net Position. 

This statement provides financial reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources.  It further identifies net position as the residual of all other 
elements presented in a statement of net position.  This statement had an impact by adding 
new terminology in the current year. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

38

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION/FUND 

BALANCE (CONTINUED)

15. Implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements (continued) 

GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. 

This statement provides additional guidance for the items listed in GASB 63 and includes 
additional changes in accounting and financial reporting standards that reclassify, as 
deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, certain items that were 
previously reported as assets and liabilities. 

NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

DEPOSITS

In addition to insurance provided by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation, all 
deposits are held in banking institutions approved by the State Treasurer of the State of 
Florida to hold public funds.  Under Florida Statutes Chapter 280, Florida Security for 
Public Deposits Act, the State Treasurer requires all Florida qualified public depositories to 
deposit with the Treasurer, or any other banking institution, eligible collateral of the 
depository.  In the event of a failure of a qualified public depository, the remaining public 
depositories would be responsible for covering any resulting losses.  Accordingly, all 
amounts reported as deposits are insured or collateralized. 

INVESTMENTS – TOWN

The Town’s Investment Policy authorizes Town officials to invest in those instruments 
authorized by the Florida Statutes and the Town’s Investment Policy, including the 
certificates of deposit and money market funds (placed with “qualified public 
depositories”); U.S. Treasury and Government Agency securities; corporate bonds; 
commercial paper; mutual funds; repurchase agreements; and the Florida PRIME 
administered by the Florida State Board of Administration. 

Florida PRIME and Fund B are both governed by Chapter 19-7 of the Florida 
Administrative Code and Chapters 215 and 218 of the Florida Statutes.  These rules provide 
guidance and establish the policies and general operating procedures for the administration 
of the Florida PRIME and Fund B.  The Florida PRIME is not a registrant with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC); however, the Board has adopted operating 
procedures consistent with the requirements for a 2a-7 fund, which permits money market 
funds to use amortized cost to maintain a constant net asset value (NAV) of $1 per share.  
The fair value of the position in the Florida PRIME is equal to the value of the pool shares. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

39

NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS – TOWN (CONTINUED)

The Fund B does not meet the requirements of an SEC 2a-7 like fund and therefore is 
accounted for as a fluctuating NAV pool.  As of September 30, 2013, the fair value factor 
for Fund B was $1.1326 per share.  The Fund B is not subject to participant withdrawal 
requests.  Distributions from Fund B, as determined by the SBA, are effected by transferring 
eligible cash or securities to the Florida PRIME, consistent with the pro rata allocation of 
pool shareholders of record at the creation of Fund B.  One hundred percent of such 
distributions from Fund B are available as liquid balance within the Florida PRIME.  The 
investments in the Florida PRIME and Fund B are not insured by FDIC or any other 
governmental agency. 

As of September 30, 2013, the Town had the following investments: 

Weighted
Fair Value Average Maturity

Investments
Florida PRIME 3,351,675$   44  days
Fund B 113,509 4.04 years

Total Investments - Town 3,465,184$

Florida PRIME is presented as cash and cash equivalents in the financial statements. 

Interest Rate Risk
The Town has an investment policy to invest in a manner that is consistent with sound 
business practices in order to protect the assets of the Town residents, provide effective 
cash management to meet anticipated obligations and earn a rate of return consistent with 
these inherent restraints.  Safety of capital and liquidity are also inherent in the Town’s 
policy.  The policy is structured to provide sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they 
come due.  The Town’s investment policy limits the maturities to no more than 7 years for 
direct United States obligations and to no more than 5 years for United States agency 
obligations and corporate obligations.  Term repurchase agreements are limited to 
maturities of 90 days or less and certificate of deposits are limited to 2 years or less. 

Credit Risk 
The Town’s investment policy limits investments to the highest ratings issued by a 
nationally recognized statistical rating organization (NRSRO).  The Florida PRIME is rated 
AAAm by Standard and Poor’s.  The Fund B is not rated by an NRSRO. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

40

NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS – TOWN (CONTINUED)

Concentration of Credit Risk 
The Town’s investment policy states that assets shall be diversified to control the risk of 
loss resulting from concentration of assets to a specific maturity, instrument, issue, dealer, 
or bank through which these securities are bought and sold.  As of September 30, 2013, the 
Town’s portfolio did not have any investments subject to a concentration of credit risk. 

INVESTMENTS – PENSION TRUST FUND

The investment activity of the Plan is directed by an investment advisory firm. All 
investments made or held by the Fund shall be limited to the following: 

1. Cash equivalents. 

2. Obligations issued by the United States Government or obligations guaranteed as to 
principal and interest by the United States Government or by an agency of the United 
States Government. 

3. Bonds issued by the State of Israel. 

4. Bonds or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by a corporation 
organized under the laws of the United States or any state, organized territory of the 
United States, or District of Columbia provided the corporation is listed on the 
recognized national stock exchanges or on the National Market System of the 
NASDAQ stock market, the issuer has an investment quality rating within the top 
three rating classifications by at least two major services (Standard and Poor’s, 
Moody’s or Fitch).  Up to 10% of the bond portfolio may be invested in the fourth 
rating classification (by two of the above rating services. 

5. Equity investments (common stock, convertible bonds and preferred stocks) in a 
corporation listed on one or more of the recognized national exchanges or on the 
National Market System of the NASDAQ stock market and ETF exchange-traded 
funds.

6. Commingled equity, bond or money market funds whose investments are restricted to 
securities meeting the criteria of this section. Investments in equities are not to exceed 
70% of the Fund assets at market, and no more than 5% at cost of the equities may be 
invested in a single company. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

41

NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS – PENSION TRUST FUND (CONTINUED)

As of September 30, 2013, the percentage of investment in equities, excluding the cash, 
ETF and IShares funds totaled 15.2% of the total investments.  The ETF and IShares Funds 
are not under management.  The cost and fair value of Fiduciary Net Position held in trust 
for Plan benefits at September 30 follows: 

Cost Fair Value
Cash and Cash Equivalents:

U.S. Treasury portfolio 506,582$ 506,582$

Investments:
U.S. Government Securities 895,755       918,851
Government Agency bonds 739,708       738,272
Mortgage backed securities 294,362       307,965
Corporate bonds 2,860,110    2,816,043
Municipal bonds 30,000         32,744
Mutual funds 6,293,160    7,029,002
Common stocks 1,718,657    2,117,088
DROP Plan Assets 20,621 20,621

12,852,373 13,980,586

Total 13,358,955$ 14,487,168$

2013

As of September 30, 2013, the Plan had the following investment types subject to interest 
rate risk: 

Fair Weighted Average
Investment Type Value Maturity (Years)

U.S. Treasuries 918,851$      4.81
Government Agency bonds 738,272       2.00
Mortgage backed securities 307,965       2.00
Corporate bonds 2,816,043    5.21
Build America bonds (Municipal obligations) 32,744 6.89

Total Fair Value 4,813,875$

Portfolio Weighted Average Maturity 4.25



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

42

NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS – PENSION TRUST FUND (CONTINUED)

Interest Rate Risk 
In accordance with its investment policy, the Plan manages its exposure to declines in the 
fair market value of its securities through a conservative approach of managing portfolio 
exposure to duration, maturity and sector relative to market indices. 

Credit Risk 
State law limits investments in commercial paper to the two top ratings issued by nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations (NRSROs).  It is the Plan’s policy to limit its 
investments in this investment type to the top two ratings issued by NRSROs.  As of 
September 30, 2013, the Plan’s investments in the U.S. Treasury Portfolio (cash and cash 
equivalents) were rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s, and Aaa by Moody’s Investors 
Service.  The Investment Policy of the Plan states it is  permitted to invest in corporate 
bonds with an investment quality rating with the top three rating classifications by at least 
two major rating services (Standards &Poor, Moody’s or Fitch).  The corporate bonds held 
by the Plan were in the top three rating classifications.  The mortgage backed securities 
were ranked AAA and Aaa by Standard & Poor’s, and Moody’s, respectively. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 
The Town’s investment policy does not allow for an investment in any one issuer, other 
than U.S. Government securities, that is in excess of five percent of the government’s total 
investments.  No investment in any one organization represents five percent or more of 
total investments. 

Custodial Credit Risk 
For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the 
Town will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are 
in the possession of an outside party.  All of the securities, whether fixed or equities are 
held in the name of the Plan. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

43

NOTE 3 – RECEIVABLES

Receivables as of September 30, 2013 for the Town’s major and nonmajor funds, including 
the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows: 

Water
Capital Nonmajor and Municipal Stormwater 

General Projects Governmental Sewer Parking Sanitation Utility Total
Receivables

Property taxes 86,095$    --$           --$               --$           --$         --$          --$              86,095$      
Intergovernmental 193,480    100,200 53,048        41,451 --          7,105    --                395,284     
Other 186,366    --             --                18,747    15,661  --           --                220,774     
Accounts - billed --              --             --                123,248 --          94,710  14,656       232,614     
Accounts - unbilled --              --             --                472,377 --          --           82,049       554,426     

Gross receivables 465,941    100,200    53,048        655,823  15,661  101,815 96,705       1,489,193
Less: allowance for 

uncollectibles --              --             --                (8,077)     --          (14,205) --                (22,282)      

Total Receivables, Net 465,941$  100,200$  53,048$       647,746$ 15,661$ 87,610$ 96,705$     1,466,911$

NOTE 4 – PROPERTY TAXES

Under Florida law, the assessment of all properties and the collection of all county, municipal 
and school board taxes are consolidated in the offices of the County Property Appraiser and 
County Tax Collector.  The laws of the State regulating tax assessments, also, are designed to 
assure a consistent property valuation method statewide.  State statutes permit municipalities 
to levy property taxes at a rate of up to 10.0 mils.  The millage rate assessed by the Town for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013, was 5.3000.  The tax levy of the Town is 
established by the Town Commission prior to October 1 each year, and the County Property 
Appraiser incorporates the millage into the total tax levy, which includes Miami-Dade 
County, Miami-Dade County School Board and special taxing districts. 

All property is reassessed according to its fair market value as of January 1 each year.  Each 
assessment roll is submitted to the Executive Director of the State Department of Revenue for 
review to determine if the rolls meet all of the appropriate requirements of State Statutes. 

All real and tangible personal property taxes are due and payable on November 1 of each 
year or as soon thereafter as the assessment roll is certified by the County Property 
Appraiser.  Miami-Dade County mails to each property owner on the assessment roll a 
notice of taxes due and Miami-Dade County collects the taxes for the Town.  Taxes may be 
paid upon receipt of such notice from Miami-Dade County, with discounts at the rate of 
four percent (4%) if paid in the month of November, three percent (3%) if paid in the 
month of December, two percent (2%) if paid in the month of January, and one percent 
(1%) if paid in the month of February.  Taxes paid during the month of March are without 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

44

NOTE 4 – PROPERTY TAXES (CONTINUED)

discount and all unpaid taxes on real and tangible personal property become delinquent and 
liens are placed on April 1 of the year following the year in which the taxes were assessed.  
Procedures for the collection of delinquent taxes by Miami-Dade County are provided for 
in the laws of the State of Florida.  As of September 30, 2013, there were no material 
delinquent taxes. 

NOTE 5 – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS

The composition of the interfund balances as of September 30, 2013 is as follows: 

DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

Fund Due From Due To
General Fund 958,685$      --$
Municipal Parking 916,291       --
Stormwater Utility 2,860,408    --
Water and Sewer --                  3,776,699
Capital Projects --                  437,120
Transportation Surtax --                  427,660
Police Forfeiture -- 93,905

Total Due From/To 4,735,384$ 4,735,384$

Amounts receivable noted above represent short-term loans made to cover temporary 
negative cash balances in each fund’s equity in pooled cash at year end. 

INTERFUND TRANSFERS

Fund Transfers In Transfers Out
General Fund 351,560$      --$
Capital Projects Fund 60,000         --
Transportation Surtax Fund (Nonmajor Fund) --                  9,282
Water and Sewer Fund --                  64,554
Municipal Parking Fund --                  147,272
Sanitation Fund --                  112,193
Stormwater Utility Fund -- 78,259

Total Interfund Transfers 411,560$ 411,560$



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

45

NOTE 5 – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS (CONTINUED)

INTERFUND TRANSFERS (CONTINUED)

General Fund Transfers In consisted entirely of $351,560 from the Town’s other funds 
providing cost reimbursement to recover general fund management, human resource 
utilization, payroll/accounts payable functions, pension/benefits management, billing, 
collection as well as legal recovery services. 

Capital Projects Fund Transfers In consisted of $60,000 transferred from the Stormwater 
Fund to provide funding for on-going construction projects 

Stormwater Utility Fund Transfers Out consisted of $78,259. $60,000 was transferred to 
Capital Projects Fund for the reasons previously mentioned in the Capital Projects Fund. 
$18,259 was transferred out to the General Fund for the reasons previously mentioned in 
the General Fund Transfers In above. 

All of the Transfers Out pertaining to the Transportation Surtax (a nonmajor fund), Water 
and Sewer, Municipal Parking, and Sanitation Funds were transferred to reimburse the 
General Fund as previously mentioned. 

NOTE 6 – CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2013 was as follows: 

Beginning Ending
Balances Increase Decrease Balances

Governmental Activities
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

Land 1,461,229$    --$                --$               1,461,229$    
Construction in progress 411,606        426,879       403,607      434,878         

Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 1,872,835 426,879       403,607      1,896,107      

Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Buildings 10,551,831   6,231           173,653      10,384,409     
Machinery, furniture and equipment 3,024,117     63,413         131,736      2,955,794      
Infrastructure 2,315,800 492,846       --                2,808,646      

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 15,891,748 562,490       305,389      16,148,849    

Less: Accumulated Depreciation for
Buildings 1,439,199     217,637       --                1,656,836      
Machinery, furniture and equipment 1,581,593     305,444       126,141      1,760,896      
Infrastructure 647,959        113,059       --                761,018         

Total Accumulated Depreciation 3,668,751 636,140       126,141      4,178,750      

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 12,222,997 (73,650)        179,248      11,970,099    

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net 14,095,832$  353,229$       582,855$     13,866,206$



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

46

NOTE 6 – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Beginning Ending
Balances Increase Decrease Balances

Business-type Activities
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

Land 1,358,011$    --$                --$               1,358,011$
Construction in progress 17,600,215 8,020,510      231,852       25,388,873    

Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 18,958,226 8,020,510    231,852      26,746,884    

Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Equipment 940,410        63,024         --                1,003,434      
Infrastructure 2,718,195       250,819         --                 2,969,014      

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 3,658,605     313,843       --                3,972,448      

Less: Accumulated Depreciation for
Equipment 536,610        66,408         --                603,018         
Infrastructure 1,948,062     55,452         --                2,003,514      

Total Accumulated Depreciation 2,484,672     121,860       --                2,606,532      

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 1,173,933     191,983       --                1,365,916      

Business-type Activities Capital Assets, Net 20,132,159$  8,212,493$  --$               28,112,800$

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the Town as follows: 

Governmental Activities
General government 123,622$
Public safety 171,859
Public works 109,701
Leisure services 185,795
Transportation 45,163

Total Depreciation and Amortization Expense – 
   Governmental Activities 636,140$

Business-type Activities
Water and sewer 3,163$
Municipal parking 87,573
Sanitation 17,627
Stormwater utility 13,497

Total Depreciation and Amortization Expense – 
   Business-type Activities 121,860$



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

47

NOTE 7 – LONG TERM LIABILITIES

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

The following is summary of changes in long-term liabilities of the Town for governmental 
activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013: 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental Activities
Capital lease 427,130$    -$        123,381$  303,749$       124,140$
Compensated absences 296,509      21,353   36,546     281,316        28,132
Net OPEB obligation 89,352         44,928 12,499 121,781         --

812,991$     66,281$  172,426$  706,846$       152,272$

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

The following is summary of changes in long-term liabilities of the Town for business-type 
activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013: 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Business-type Activities
Revenue bonds series 2011 11,507,445$     --$              522,097$   10,985,348$  546,740$
Note payable 160,000            --               80,000      80,000          80,000
State Revolving Loan 7,361,834  105,990    7,255,844     211,983
Compensated absences 73,872              23,063       337           96,598          9,658
Net OPEB obligation 22,981               10,862 429 33,414 --

11,764,298$      7,395,759$  708,853$  18,451,204$  848,381$

The General Fund is typically used to liquidate the compensated absences and the Net 
OPEB obligation. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

48

NOTE 7 – LONG TERM LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

UTILITY SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS SERIES 2011

On April 28, 2011, the Town issued a $16,000,000 Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 
2011 to finance the cost of certain construction projects, including improvements for the 
existing facilities for the water, sewer, and storm water systems.  Principal and interest is to 
be paid from the pledge of Water/Sewer and Storm Water fund revenues.  Principal is paid 
annually.  The Note bears interest of 4.720% payable semi-annually, and it matures on 
May 1, 2026.  Total principal and interest remaining on the bond is $15,319,887. For the 
current year, debt service which is comprised of accrued interest and principal payments is 
$1,067,829. Pledged revenues were $3,126,678. 

Principal Interest Total
Fiscal Year Ending September 30

2014 546,740$      518,508$      1,065,248$
2015 572,546       492,702       1,065,248
2016 599,571       465,678       1,065,249
2017 627,870       437,378       1,065,248
2018 657,506       407,743       1,065,249
2019-2023 3,783,395    1,542,847    5,326,242
2024-2026 4,197,720 469,682 4,667,402

10,985,348$ 4,334,539$ 15,319,887$

NOTE PAYABLE

On March 24, 2011, the Town signed two non-interest bearing promissory notes for 
$120,000 each, proceeds of which were used to acquire property to be used for municipal 
parking.  As of September 30, 2013, the outstanding balance was $80,000.  Payments are 
due on February 1st of each year.  Payments are $40,000 per year, per note, for a total 
payment of $80,000 per year for 3 years to be paid from parking revenues. 

STATE REVOLVING LOAN FUND

The Town executed a Clean Water State Revolving Fund Construction Loan Agreement 
#WW131710 with the State of Florida Department of Environmental Protection on 
August 24, 2012 in the amount of $9,310,000 for the construction of Wastewater and 
Stormwater improvements.  The loan bearing an interest rate of 1.87% matures on 
January 15, 2033.  Proceeds in the amount of $7,361,834 were received during the 2013 
fiscal year. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

49

NOTE 7 – LONG TERM LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

STATE REVOLVING LOAN FUND (CONTINUED)

The principal total outstanding at September 30, 2013 is $7,255,844. The loan is secured by 
the net water, sewer and stormwater revenues after payment of debt service on the Town’s 
existing series obligations.  Total debt service for fiscal year 2013 was $162,000 and the 
pledged revenue was $3,126,698. The loan is payable in semi-annual payments over 20 
years beginning on July 15, 2013 and is payable each January 15 and July 15.  The final 
repayment of the loan by the Town will be computed after the final disbursement of loan 
proceeds from the State based on the actual project costs, the actual loan service fee and 
capitalized interest, and actual dates and amounts of disbursements by the State.  

CAPITAL LEASES

The Town entered into two separate lease agreements, at different dates, totaling 
approximately $500,000 for the purpose of financing the acquisition of Police vehicles for 
the Town.  Both lease agreements qualify as capital leases for accounting purposes and, 
therefore, have been recorded at the present value of its future minimum lease payments as 
of the inception date. 

The first lease agreement was entered in to on September 26, 2011.  The lease agreement 
was for the amount of $300,000 with an applicable annual interest rate of 1.5848%.  The 
second lease agreement was entered into on March 23, 2012.  The lease agreement was for 
the amount of $200,000 with an applicable annual interest rate of 1.5640%.  Both are 
payable every six months. 

Asset Acquired Under the Capital Lease
Machinery and equipment 444,176$
Accumulated depreciation (133,250)

310,926$



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

50

NOTE 7 – LONG TERM LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL LEASES (CONTINUED)

The future minimum lease obligations and the net present value of these minimum lease 
payments as of September 30, 2013 were as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30, Amount

2014  $      129,425 
2015          129,425 
2016            52,090 

Total minimum lease payments          310,940 
Less: interest portion              7,191 

Present Value of Future Minimum Lease Payments  $      303,749 

NOTE 8 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

The following brief description of the Retirement Plan is provided for general information 
purposes only.  Participants should refer to the Plan documents for more complete 
information. 

PLAN DESCRIPTION

The Retirement Plan is a contributory defined benefit single-employer retirement plan 
covering substantially all employees of the Town of Surfside.  All full-time employees are 
eligible to participate in the Plan immediately upon employment.  The administration of the 
Plan is under the responsibility of a five-member Board of Trustees, which is subject to the 
ultimate authority of the Town Commission. 

The Retirement Plan was established by a Town ordinance approved by the Commissioners 
and effective January 1, 1962.  The Plan is also subject to certain provisions of Chapter 
112, Florida Statutes.  The benefit provisions and all other requirements, and amendments 
are established by Town Ordinance.  The benefits provided to the Fraternal Order of Police 
(FOP) members are subject to collective bargaining. 

Financial statements for the Retirement Plan for Employees of the Town are separately 
issued and are available at the Town Hall location at 9293 Harding Avenue, Surfside, 
Florida.



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

51

NOTE 8 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED)

CONTRIBUTIONS AND FUNDING POLICY

Funding of the Plan is provided by contributions from the Town and the employees.  The 
Town’s funding policy provides for annual actuarially determined periodic contributions at 
rates that, for individual employees, increase gradually over time so that sufficient assets 
will be available to pay benefits when due.  The Town contributions to the Plan totaled 
$534,209 for the year ended September 30, 2013.  Additionally, the Town made a 
contribution of $130,185 for a Police Officer who was reinstated during the year ended 
December 31, 2013.  The Actuarial Report advised the Town its minimum required 
contribution to the Plan for the year ending September 30, 2015 is $727,022. 

General Employees 
Initially employees were required to contribute either 5% of their salary or after October 1, 
1979, members as of that date had the irrevocable option to contribute either 5% or 7% of 
their compensation.  Effective July 1, 1996, each member had the irrevocable option to 
increase his or her contribution rate from 5% to 7% or 8% of compensation. 

Police Officers 
Certified law enforcement members of the plan contribute eight percent (8%) of earnable 
compensation to the Plan. 

The Town maintains a five-year Deferred Retirement Option (DROP) Program for Police 
Officers.  The eligibility requirement is attainment of normal retirement date.  The 
maximum period of participation in the DROP is five years.  A Police Officer’s account 
shall be credited with interest based upon the actual Fund investment return.  No payments 
may be made from the DROP until the employee actually separates from service with the 
Town. 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting 
The Retirement Plan for Employees of the Town of Surfside’s financial statements are 
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, reflecting income when earned and 
contributions for the year (regardless of when received) and expenses and other obligations 
when  incurred (regardless of when paid).  Benefit payments and refunds of contributions 
are recorded as they become due, and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.  
Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due.  
Employer contributions are recognized when due and payable, and the employer has made 
a formal commitment to provide the contributions. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

52

NOTE 8 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Method Used to Value Investments 
The Retirement Plan investments are reported at fair value, and are managed by third-party 
money managers.  The Retirement Plan’s custodian and individual money manager price 
each instrument (using various third party pricing sources) and reconcile material 
differences.  Investments that do not have an established market are reported at estimated 
value.  Performance reporting, manager fees, and the retirement’s asset valuation are based 
on the custodian’s determination of value. 

The net position of the Retirement Fund is the difference between the total plan assets and 
the total plan liabilities, and are held in trust for pension benefits. 

Both realized and unrealized gains/losses are recognized under the Net Appreciation (in the 
Fair Value of Investments). 

Investment and administrative expenses of the Plan may be paid either by the Town or by 
the Plan.  It is the policy of the Town that these expenses are to be paid by the Plan. 

ANNUAL PENSION COST AND NET PENSION ASSET

The Town’s annual pension cost and net pension asset (NPA) for the current year are as 
follows: 

Annual Required Contribution 549,888$
Interest on Net Pension Asset (15,554)
Adjustment to ARC 17,561

Annual Pension Cost 551,895
Town Contributions (534,209)

Decrease in NPA 17,686
Net Pension Asset:

Beginning of year (207,392)

End of year (189,706)$



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

53

NOTE 8 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED)

ANNUAL PENSION COST AND NET PENSION ASSET (CONTINUED)

Annual Pension Cost (APC) is a measure of the periodic cost of an employer’s participation 
in a defined benefit pension plan.  The APC for the last three fiscal years follows: 

Annual Percentage Net Pension
Pension of APC Obligation

Fiscal Year End Cost (APC) Contributed (Asset)
September 30, 2011 628,266$      100% (217,686)$
September 30, 2012 525,734       98% (207,392)
September 30, 2013 551,891       97% (189,706)

Three-Year Trend Information

FUNDED STATUS AND FUNDING PROGRESS

The funded status of the Plan as of October 1, 2013, the date of the most recent actuarial 
valuation date, is as follows: 

Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Annual UAAL As % of
Actual Value of Liability (AAL) - AAL Funded Covered Covered

Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
Date (a) (b) (b) - (a) (a) / (b) (c) (b - a) / c

*  October 1, 2013 14,125,280$  15,732,302$       1,607,022$     89.8% 5,181,920$  31.0%
** October 1, 2013 14,125,280   15,767,546        1,642,266      89.6% 5,181,920   31.7%

*   Prior to Plan Amendment and update in actuarial assumptions
** After Plan Amendment and update in actuarial assumptions

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information (RSI) 
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about 
whether the actuarial value of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to 
the AAL for benefits. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

54

NOTE 8 – EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN (CONTINUED)

FUNDED STATUS AND FUNDING PROGRESS (CONTINUED)

Additional information as of the October 1, 2011, Actuarial Valuation Report, which was 
used to compute the annual required contribution for the year ended September 30, 2013, as 
well as information as of the latest Actuarial Valuation Report dated October 1, 2012 is as 
follows: 

Actuarial valuation date October 1, 2011 October 1, 2012
Contribution rates:

Employer 13.0% 14.0%
Plan members 7.0% 6.8%

Actuarial cost method Entry age Entry age 
Amortization method Level dollar amount, closed Level dollar amount, closed
Remaining amortization 30 years 30 years
Asset valuation method Five-year smoothed market Five-year smoothed market

Actuarial assumptions
Investment rate of return* 7.5% 7.5%
Projected salary increases* 3.0% - 13.5% 3.0% - 13.5%
Cost of living adjustments 1.5% 1.5%
*Includes inflation at 4.0% 4.0%

NOTE 9 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Town follows the standards for Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for 
Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions (OPEB).  The standard does not require 
funding of OPEB expense, but any difference between the annual required contribution 
(ARC) and the amount funded during the year is required to be recorded in the employer’s 
Statement of Net Position as an increase (or decrease) in the Net OPEB obligation. 

PLAN DESCRIPTION

The Town provides an optional single employer defined benefit post-employment 
healthcare plan to eligible individuals.  The plan allows its employees and their 
beneficiaries, at their own cost, to continue to obtain health and dental insurance benefits 
upon retirement.  The benefits of the plan conform to Florida Statutes, which are the legal 
authority for the plan.  The plan has no assets and does not issue a separate financial report. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

55

NOTE 9 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

FUNDING POLICY AND ANNUAL OPEB COST

The Town does not directly make a contribution to the plan on behalf of retirees.  Retirees 
and their beneficiaries pay the same group rates as are charged to the Town for active 
employees by its healthcare provider.  However, the Town’s actuaries, in their actuarial 
valuation, calculate an offset to the cost of these benefits as an Employer Contribution, 
based upon an implicit rate subsidy.  This offset equals the total age-adjusted costs paid by 
the Town or its active employees for coverage of the retirees and their dependents for the 
year net of the retiree’s own payments for the year. 

The annual other post employment benefit (OPEB) cost is calculated based on the annual 
required contribution of the employer, an amount actuarially determined.  The annual 
required contribution represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is 
projected to cover normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities 
over a period not to exceed thirty years. 

The annual OPEB cost for the Town for the current year and the related information is as 
follows: 

 Pay-as-you-go 
Required contribution rates:

Employer N/A
Plan members

Annual required contribution  $          56,187 
Interest on normal cost                4,423 
Adjustment to the annual required contribution             (12,801)

Annual OPEB cost 47,809
Estimated employer contribution               (4,947)

Increase in net OPEB obligation              42,862 
Net OPEB obligation - Beginning of Year            112,333 

Net OPEB Obligation - End of Year 155,195$



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

56

NOTE 9 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

THREE YEAR TREND INFORMATION

The annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan and the 
net OPEB obligation is as follows: 

2013 2012 2011
Annual OPEB cost 47,809$        51,252$        48,494$
Percentage of OPEB cost contributed 10.3% 25.2% 18.8%
Net OPEB obligation 155,195       112,333       73,983

FUNDED STATUS AND FUNDING PROGRESS

The funded status of the plan as of October 1, 2012, the latest actuarial valuation, was as 
follows: 

Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded UAAL as a %
Value of Accrued AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Assets Liability (AAL) - (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

(a) (b) (b) - (a) (a) / (b) (c) ((b - a) / c)
--$        271,313$            271,313$ 0.0% 4,359,957$ 6.2%

The actuarial valuation for the calculation of OPEB involves estimates of the value of 
reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events in the future.  Amounts 
determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of 
the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past 
expectations and new estimates are made about the future.  The required schedule of 
funding progress presented as required supplementary information is designed to provide 
multi-year trend information to show whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing 
or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits.  However, the 
Town has not contributed assets to the plan at this time. 

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS

Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the 
employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits in force at the valuation date 
and the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the Town and the plan members to that 
point.  Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ methods and 
assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities 
and the actuarial value of assets.  Significant methods and assumptions were as follows: 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

57

NOTE 9 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)

Actuarial valuation date 10/1/2012
Actuarial cost method Entry Age
Amortization method Level percent, open
Remaining amortization 30 years
Asset valuation method Unfunded

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return* 4.0%
Projected salary increases* 4.0% - 13.5%
Payroll growth assumptions 3.0%
Initial trend rate 9.0%
Ultimate trend rate 4.5%
* Includes inflation at 4.0%

NOTE 10 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town is exposed to various risks and losses related to torts, theft of or damage to and 
destruction of assets, errors and omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters.  
The Town participates with other municipalities and governmental units in a public entity 
risk pool administered by the Florida League of Cities Public Risk Services known as the 
Florida Municipal Insurance Trust (FMIT).  The Town pays annual premiums to the FMIT 
for its general liability insurance, commercial real and personal property, including 
electronic data processing equipment, automobile, liability, and physical damage insurance 
coverage.

The Town also participates in the Florida League of Cities public risk pool known as the 
Florida Municipal Self Insurers Fund (FMSIF) to which it pays annual premiums for its 
workers compensation insurance.  The agreement with these public risk pools provides that 
the pools will be self-sustaining through member premiums and will reinsure through 
commercial companies for workers’ compensation and liability insurance for claims in 
excess of $1,000,000.  All policies are issued by FMIT and FMSIF on a non-assessable 
basis. 



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

58

NOTE 10 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Town maintains commercial insurance for corporate fiduciary liability, flood, and 
windstorm coverage.  There were no reductions, only increases in insurance coverage from 
the prior year and there were no settlements that exceeded insurance coverage for each of 
the past three years. 

LITIGATION

The Town is a defendant in various lawsuits incidental to its operations.  It is the opinion of 
Town Management and Town Legal Counsel, that the ultimate resolution of these matters 
will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position and results of operations of 
the Town. 

CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS

During the fiscal year 2012, the Town entered into agreements for water/sewer and 
stormwater improvements for approximately $15.6 million.  As of September 30, 2013, the 
remaining obligation was approximately $304,000. 



 

 REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY  

INFORMATION  

(OTHER THAN MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND  

ANALYSIS) 



Variance
with Final
Budget -

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Property taxes 5,348,249$    5,348,249$    5,257,726$    (90,523)$       
Resort taxes 378,500         383,277         343,733         (39,544)         
Utility taxes 459,000         459,000         503,592         44,592           
Communications services tax 345,903         345,903         298,019         (47,884)         
Franchise taxes 436,000 436,000 394,613         (41,387)         
Licenses and permits 1,439,650      1,447,465 1,395,993      (51,472)         
Intergovernmental 627,119         627,119 638,944         11,825           
Charges for services 197,705         197,705 224,177         26,472           
Fines and forfeitures 546,091         546,091 645,803         99,712           
Interest earnings 10,000           10,000 23,833           13,833           
Miscellaneous 85,451 110,451 230,219 119,768

Total Revenues 9,873,668 9,911,260 9,956,652 45,392

Expenditures
Current:

General government:
Legislative 64,900           73,622           66,473           7,149             
Legal services 538,609         626,002         553,639         72,363           
Executive, finance and administration 2,652,128 2,781,062 2,496,556 284,506

Total general government 3,255,637      3,480,686      3,116,668      364,018         

Public safety 4,263,390      4,666,516      4,586,664      79,852           
Public works 881,849         1,037,247 925,189         112,058         
Leisure services 1,659,352      1,788,145 1,581,992      206,153         
Capital outlay 15,000 191,539 60,031 131,508

Total Expenditures 10,075,228 11,164,133 10,270,544 893,589

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (201,560) (1,252,873) (313,892) 938,981

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Capital lease transaction -                 100,000 -                 100,000         
Transfers in 351,560         351,560 351,560         --                   
Transfers out (150,000) (34,152) -- (34,152)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 201,560 417,408 351,560 65,848

Net Change in Fund Balances --$ (835,465)$ 37,668$

Appropriated Beginning Fund Balance --$ 835,465$

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

Budgeted Amounts

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

GENERAL FUND

See notes to budgetary comparison schedule.

59



60

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

NOTE TO BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

NOTE 1 – BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING

The Town follows these procedures to establish the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements: 

Annual appropriated budgets for the governmental (except for the capital projects fund) and 
proprietary funds are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States. 

1. Prior to August 1, the Town Manager submits to the Town Commission a proposed 
operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following October 1.  The 
budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. 

2. The Town Commission holds a public workshop on the proposed budget.  Formal 
public hearings are conducted in September to obtain taxpayers’ comments. 

3. Prior to October 1, the budget is legally adopted by resolution. 

Budgets are monitored at the department level.  Budgetary control over expenditures, 
including capital outlay and transfers, is maintained at the fund level whereby management 
cannot transfer or over expend appropriations at the individual fund level.  Beginning fund 
balances, available for financing current appropriations, are considered in the budgetary 
process but have not been included in the financial statements of the governmental fund 
types as budgeted revenues. 

The Town Manager is authorized to transfer part or all of an encumbered appropriation 
balance within a particular department or fund; however, any revisions that alter the total 
appropriations of any fund must be approved by the Town Commission. 

If during the course of the fiscal year, it becomes evident that a particular fund is unable to 
provide the required level of services to the Town because of higher costs of providing 
services, or unforeseen circumstances, the budget may be amended.  The Town Manager 
submits to the Town Commission a request to amend the budget.  The request contains 
explanations, and includes a proposal for financing if additional appropriations are 
requested.  The amendment requires the Town Commission approval and adoption.  All 
necessary supplemental appropriations are adopted by the Town Commission as part of the 
budget review process and are included in the “Final Budget” columns on the schedule of 
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance – budget and actual.  There was 
$1,088,905 of supplemental appropriations in the General Fund. 

Budgets in governmental funds are encumbered upon issuance of purchase orders, contracts 
or other forms of legal commitments.  While appropriations lapse at the end of each year, 
the succeeding year’s budget ordinance specifically provides for the reappropriation of year 
end encumbrances. 



Actuarial
Accrued UAAL

Actuarial Liability Unfunded Annual As % of
Actual Value of (AAL) - AAL Funded Covered Covered

Valuation Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
Date (a) (b) (b) - (a) (a) / (b) (c) (b - a) / c

10/1/08 11,701,487$  10,971,286$  (730,201)$ 106.7% 4,568,544$  (16.0)%
10/1/09 11,697,998    11,662,297    (35,701)    100.3% 4,059,522   (0.9)%
10/1/10 12,304,770    12,414,859    110,089   99.1% 4,016,852   2.7%
10/1/11 12,487,404    13,272,023    784,619   94.1% 4,053,208   19.4%
10/1/12 * 12,768,869    14,165,870    1,397,001 90.1% 4,359,957   32.0%
10/1/12 ** 12,768,869    14,671,617    1,902,748 87.0% 4,359,957   43.6%
10/1/13 * 14,125,280    15,732,302    1,607,022 89.8% 5,181,920   31.0%
10/1/13 ** 14,125,280    15,767,546    1,642,266 89.6% 5,181,920   31.7%

*   Prior to Plan Amendment and update in actuarial assumptions
** After Plan Amendment and update in actuarial assumptions

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

RETIREMENT PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES

61



Fiscal Annual
Year Required

Ended Contribution Percentage
September 30, (ARC) Contributed

2008 384,905$      100%
2009 423,747       100%
2010 553,919       100%
2011 625,963       100%
2012 515,440       100%
2013 539,209       100%

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

RETIREMENT PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

62



Actuarial UAAL
Actuarial Accrued Unfunded as a %

Actuarial Value of Liability AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Assets (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio  Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (b) - (a) (a) ÷ (b) (c) ((b - a) ÷ c)

October 1, 2009 --$            315,926$      315,926$    0.0% 4,364,293$  7.2%
October 1, 2012 --              271,313        271,313     0.0% 4,359,957   6.2%

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

*GASB Statement No. 45, Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB), was implemented for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2010.

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS*
POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

63



 

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND  

STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES 



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 

Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally restricted to 
expenditures for particular purposes. 

Tourism Fund – This fund is used to account for the 34 percent portion of the resort tax 
collections, which are restricted to promote tourism related activities of the Town which are 
restricted to approved functions and activities. 

Transportation Surtax Fund – This fund is used to account for the restricted proceeds of the 
Town’s allocable share of the Miami-Dade County Transit System Surtax.  The expenditures 
from this fund are restricted to specific purposes. 

Police Forfeiture Fund – This fund is used to account for the restricted proceeds of police 
forfeitures and confiscations, and expenditures, which are restricted to approved functions and 
activities. 



Total
Nonmajor

Transportation Police Governmental 
Tourism Surtax Forfeiture Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 94,619$       521,363$     231,883$     847,865$     
Investments --                --                3,802 3,802          
Receivables 7,746 45,302 -- 53,048

Total Assets 102,365$  566,665$  235,685$  904,715$

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances

Liabilities
Accounts payable 4,550$        7,530$        3,637$        15,717$       

Accrued liabilities 1,918          --                --                1,918          
Due to other funds -- 427,660 93,905 521,565

Total Liabilities 6,468 435,190 97,542 539,200

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue 1,400 -- -- 1,400

Fund Balances
Restricted for:
  Tourism 94,497        --                --                94,497        
  Transportation surtax --                131,475       --                131,475       
  Police forfeiture -- -- 138,143 138,143

Total Fund Balances 94,497 131,475 138,143 364,115

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources and Fund Balances 102,365$  566,665$  235,685$  904,715$

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Special Revenue Funds

64



Total
Nonmajor

Transportation Police Governmental 
Tourism Surtax Forfeiture Funds

Revenues
Resort taxes 180,266$      --$                --$                 180,266$
Intergovernmental --                 205,947       --                  205,947
Forfeitures --                 --                 65,641          65,641
Interest --                 --                 831               831
Miscellaneous 14,015 -- -- 14,015

Total Revenues 194,281 205,947 66,472 466,700

Expenditures
General government 271,280       --                 --                  271,280
Public safety --                 --                 50,601          50,601
Transportation --                 123,254       --                  123,254
Capital outlay -- 64,238 -- 64,238

Total Expenditures 271,280 187,492 50,601 509,373

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over Expenditures (76,999)        18,455         15,871          (42,673)

Other Financing Uses 
Transfers out -- (9,282) -- (9,282)

Net Change in Fund Balances (76,999)        9,173           15,871          (51,955)

Fund Balances - Beginning 171,496 122,302 122,272 416,070

Fund Balances - Ending 94,497$ 131,475$ 138,143$  364,115$

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

65



Variance
with Final
Budget -

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Resort taxes $      175,092 $      175,092 $      180,266  $          5,174 
Miscellaneous 28,530 28,530 14,015 (14,515)

Total Revenues 203,622 203,622 194,281 (9,341)

Expenditures
Current:

General government 230,811 304,661 271,280 33,381

Total Expenditures 230,811 304,661 271,280 33,381

Net Change in Fund Balance (27,189)$ (101,039)$ (76,999)$ 24,040$

Appropriated Beginning 
   Fund Balance 27,189$ 101,039$

Budgeted Amounts

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
TOURISM FUND

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -

66



Variance
with Final
Budget -

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Intergovernmental $      185,650 $      185,650 $      205,947  $        20,297 
Interest 180 180 -- (180)

.
Total Revenues 185,830 185,830 205,947 20,117

Expenditures
Current:

General government 176,548       165,080 123,254        41,826
Capital outlay -- 113,500 64,238 49,262

Total Expenditures 176,548 278,580 187,492 91,088

Excess of Revenues 9,282 (92,750) 18,455 (111,205)
    over Expenditures

Other Financing Uses
   Transfers out (9,282) (9,282) (9,282) --

Net Changes in Fund Balance --$ (102,032)$ 9,173$  (111,205)$

Appropriated Beginning 
   Fund Balance --$ 102,032$

Budgeted Amounts

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

 BUDGET AND ACTUAL
TRANSPORTATION SURTAX  FUND

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -

67



Variance
with Final
Budget -

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Forfeitures 94,031$        94,031$        65,641$         (28,390)$
Interest earnings 100 100 831 731

Total Revenues 94,131 94,131 66,472 (27,659)

Expenditures
Current:

Public safety 162,490 162,490 50,601 111,889

Total Expenditures 162,490 162,490 50,601 111,889

Net Change in Fund Balance (68,359)$ (68,359)$ 15,871$  84,230$

Appropriated Beginning 
   Fund Balance 68,359$ 68,359$

BUDGET AND ACTUAL

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

Budgeted Amounts

POLICE FORFEITURE FUND 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -

68



STATISTICAL SECTION 



Contents Exhibits

Financial Trends
These tables contain trend information that may assist the reader in assessing the Town's current
financial performance by placing it in historical perspective. I - XII

Revenue Capacity
These tables contain information that may assist the reader in assessing the viability of the Town's
most significant "own-source" revenue source, property taxes. XIII-XVII

Debt Capacity
These tables present information that may assist the reader in analyzing the affordability of the
City's current levels of outstanding debt and the City's ability to issue additional debt in the future.
However, the Town does not have any outstanding general obligation bonded debt.

Demographic and Economic Information
These tables present demographic and economic information intended (1) to assist users in
understanding the socioeconomic environment within which the Town operates and (2) to provide
information that facilitates comparisons of financial statement information over time and among
towns. XIX-XXI

Operating Information
These tables contain service and infrastructure indicators that can inform one's understanding how
the information in the Town's financial statements relates to the services the Town provides and the
activities it performs. XXII-XXIII

Data Source:

This part of the 's Town of Surfside, Florida' comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed

information as a context for understanding this year's financial statements, note disclosures, and

supplementary information.  This information is unaudited.

Unless otherwise noted, the information in these tables is derived from the comprehensive annual
financial report for the applicable year. The Town implemented GASB Statement No. 34 in fiscal year
2004, therefore exhibits presenting government-wide financial data include only nine years of
information.

Introduction to Statistical Section
Town of Surfside, Florida 

(Unaudited)



E
xh

ib
it

 I

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

E
xp

en
se

s:
  G

en
er

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t 
2,

42
3,

64
4

$ 
   

   
2,

46
4,

16
4

$ 
   

   
 

4,
01

6,
14

1
$ 

   
   

 
3,

58
6,

29
4

$ 
   

 
3,

93
3,

15
5

$ 
   

2,
84

4,
24

6
$ 

   
2,

40
4,

06
7

$ 
   

 
2,

79
1,

91
7

$ 
  

3,
11

7,
75

0
$ 

   
3,

55
5,

19
7

$
  P

ub
li

c 
sa

fe
ty

2,
38

8,
14

1
   

   
   

2,
66

4,
93

1
   

   
   

 
3,

02
9,

36
8

   
   

   
 

3,
59

9,
07

2
   

   
 

3,
70

3,
96

1
   

   
4,

09
4,

09
3

   
   

3,
78

6,
48

5
   

   
 

4,
09

9,
67

8
   

  
4,

41
8,

68
0

   
   

4,
40

4,
89

7
  P

hy
si

ca
l e

nv
ir

on
m

en
t

73
6,

60
7

   
   

   
   

90
9,

39
3

   
   

   
   

 
1,

16
1,

59
9

   
   

   
 

95
9,

70
5

   
   

   
 

84
8,

33
4

   
   

   
96

1,
38

1
   

   
   

80
3,

14
7

   
   

   
 

82
9,

38
3

   
   

  
98

0,
59

0
   

   
   

1,
03

4,
89

0
  C

ul
tu

re
 a

nd
 r

ec
re

at
io

n 
99

2,
69

9
   

   
   

   
1,

24
7,

49
3

   
   

   
 

1,
46

0,
28

4
   

   
   

 
1,

23
8,

17
4

   
   

 
1,

74
8,

55
6

   
   

1,
55

8,
00

0
   

   
1,

08
6,

07
1

   
   

 
1,

13
9,

46
0

   
  

1,
69

1,
57

2
   

   
1,

76
7,

78
7

  T
ou

ri
sm

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t
14

7,
45

1
   

   
   

   
13

1,
33

5
   

   
   

   
 

14
6,

88
5

   
   

   
   

 
89

,6
35

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

  T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n

28
,8

45
   

   
   

   
  

37
,0

34
   

   
   

   
   

53
,9

41
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
17

3,
75

9
   

   
   

11
4,

12
1

   
   

   
10

5,
68

2
   

   
   

 
12

4,
50

0
   

   
  

13
8,

81
5

   
   

   
16

8,
41

7
  I

nt
er

es
t

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
4,

75
4

   
   

   
   

 
6,

04
5

T
ot

al
 E

xp
en

se
s

6,
71

7,
38

7
   

   
   

7,
45

4,
35

0
   

   
   

 
9,

86
8,

21
8

   
   

   
 

9,
47

2,
88

0
   

   
 

10
,4

07
,7

65
   

 
9,

57
1,

84
1

   
   

8,
18

5,
45

2
   

   
 

8,
98

4,
93

8
   

  
10

,3
52

,1
61

   
 

10
,9

37
,2

33

P
ro

gr
am

 R
ev

en
u

es
:

C
ha

rg
es

 f
or

 s
er

vi
ce

s:
G

en
er

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t
86

9,
36

1
   

   
   

   
37

0,
25

9
   

   
   

   
 

25
7,

76
7

   
   

   
   

 
34

0,
59

7
   

   
   

 
16

9,
74

9
   

   
   

19
8,

50
4

   
   

   
37

4,
55

6
   

   
   

 
45

9,
54

9
   

   
  

1,
27

4,
94

6
   

   
1,

39
5,

99
3

P
ub

li
c 

sa
fe

ty
13

0,
61

4
   

   
   

   
18

0,
36

7
   

   
   

   
 

15
0,

78
1

   
   

   
   

 
20

5,
69

2
   

   
   

 
28

7,
32

4
   

   
   

19
9,

61
4

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

47
9,

79
5

   
   

  
62

6,
37

2
   

   
   

64
5,

80
3

L
ei

su
re

 s
er

vi
ce

s
30

7,
69

3
   

   
   

   
35

9,
73

1
   

   
   

   
 

39
1,

91
4

   
   

   
   

 
16

2,
54

9
   

   
   

 
12

5,
12

0
   

   
   

12
3,

32
7

   
   

   
14

4,
75

7
   

   
   

 
16

6,
57

0
   

   
  

38
7,

17
0

   
   

   
40

4,
44

3
T

ou
ri

sm
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t

1,
27

7
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
51

6
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

O
pe

ra
ti

ng
 g

ra
nt

s 
an

d 
co

nt
ri

bu
ti

on
s

10
,6

25
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

35
0,

16
5

   
   

   
   

 
31

6,
54

7
   

   
   

 
32

5,
30

9
   

   
   

26
9,

31
7

   
   

   
38

2,
63

5
   

   
   

 
40

1,
30

0
   

   
  

24
5,

30
5

   
   

   
27

1,
58

8
C

ap
it

al
 g

ra
nt

s 
an

d 
co

nt
ri

bu
ti

on
s

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
27

5
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

35
0,

00
0

T
ot

al
 P

ro
gr

am
 R

ev
en

u
es

1,
31

9,
57

0
   

   
   

91
0,

35
7

   
   

   
   

 
1,

15
0,

62
7

   
   

   
 

1,
02

5,
38

5
   

   
 

90
7,

50
2

   
   

   
79

0,
76

2
   

   
   

90
1,

94
8

   
   

   
 

1,
50

9,
00

5
   

  
2,

53
3,

79
3

   
   

3,
06

7,
82

7

N
et

 (
E

xp
en

se
) 

R
ev

en
u

e
(5

,3
97

,8
17

)
   

   
 

(6
,5

43
,9

93
)

   
   

   
(8

,7
17

,5
91

)
   

   
   

(8
,4

47
,4

95
)

   
  

(9
,5

00
,2

63
)

   
  

(8
,7

81
,0

79
)

   
 

(7
,2

83
,5

04
)

   
  

(7
,4

75
,9

33
)

   
 

(7
,8

18
,3

68
)

   
  

(7
,8

69
,4

06
)

G
en

er
al

 R
ev

en
u

es
:

T
ax

es
:

  P
ro

pe
rt

y 
ta

xe
s

3,
95

2,
66

2
   

   
   

4,
73

5,
25

9
   

   
   

 
5,

84
6,

07
9

   
   

   
 

7,
37

7,
05

6
   

   
 

6,
29

2,
75

5
   

   
6,

32
5,

72
1

   
   

5,
32

3,
72

8
   

   
 

5,
61

9,
49

4
   

  
5,

26
4,

38
7

   
   

5,
25

7,
72

6
  R

es
or

t t
ax

es
53

4,
73

1
   

   
   

   
50

5,
34

6
   

   
   

   
 

54
6,

26
4

   
   

   
   

 
47

7,
56

3
   

   
   

 
42

4,
27

9
   

   
   

36
6,

86
7

   
   

   
39

0,
87

3
   

   
   

 
43

5,
17

5
   

   
  

34
4,

06
3

   
   

   
34

3,
73

3
  F

ra
nc

hi
se

 f
ee

s 
ba

se
d 

on
 g

ro
ss

 r
ec

ei
pt

s
40

1,
53

2
   

   
   

   
38

5,
98

4
   

   
   

   
 

47
0,

54
1

   
   

   
   

 
45

3,
90

1
   

   
   

 
46

3,
82

3
   

   
   

41
6,

72
8

   
   

   
41

4,
83

5
   

   
   

 
41

6,
27

7
   

   
  

39
9,

62
1

   
   

   
39

4,
61

3
  U

ti
li

ty
 ta

xe
s

69
8,

59
9

   
   

   
   

71
7,

41
8

   
   

   
   

 
44

6,
93

3
   

   
   

   
 

45
7,

90
5

   
   

   
 

43
8,

33
5

   
   

   
66

,8
25

   
   

   
  

12
0,

30
7

   
   

   
 

47
0,

35
0

   
   

  
47

1,
99

4
   

   
   

50
3,

59
2

  C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
ta

x
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
28

1,
14

3
   

   
   

   
 

27
2,

87
0

   
   

   
 

33
7,

34
8

   
   

   
38

5,
48

6
   

   
   

34
3,

44
0

   
   

   
 

35
3,

66
7

   
   

  
32

5,
10

2
   

   
   

29
8,

01
9

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d 
in

te
rg

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l r

ev
en

ue
s

68
5,

79
8

   
   

   
   

59
0,

40
2

   
   

   
   

 
66

2,
03

4
   

   
   

   
 

58
4,

21
9

   
   

   
 

51
9,

83
7

   
   

   
86

2,
13

7
   

   
   

90
5,

25
5

   
   

   
 

65
7,

12
0

   
   

  
63

9,
58

2
   

   
   

63
8,

94
4

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d 
in

ve
st

m
en

t e
ar

ni
ng

s 
(l

os
se

s)
12

7,
92

2
   

   
   

   
26

3,
60

3
   

   
   

   
 

56
3,

49
4

   
   

   
   

 
63

9,
61

6
   

   
   

 
19

4,
69

5
   

   
   

(3
6,

04
9)

   
   

   
98

,2
08

   
   

   
   

37
,3

68
   

   
   

 
62

,7
82

   
   

   
  

30
,3

99
M

is
ce

lla
ne

ou
s

22
7,

29
5

   
   

   
   

58
,7

43
   

   
   

   
   

54
4,

21
6

   
   

   
   

 
57

,9
41

   
   

   
   

49
,5

03
   

   
   

  
81

,2
80

   
   

   
  

56
,4

81
   

   
   

   
13

8,
28

3
   

   
  

20
5,

83
2

   
   

   
24

1,
93

0

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

6,
62

8,
53

9
   

   
   

7,
25

6,
75

5
   

   
   

 
9,

36
0,

70
4

   
   

   
 

10
,3

21
,0

71
   

  
8,

72
0,

57
5

   
   

8,
46

8,
99

5
   

   
7,

65
3,

12
7

   
   

 
8,

12
7,

73
4

   
  

7,
71

3,
36

3
   

   
7,

70
8,

95
6

N
et

 T
ra

n
sf

er
s 

In
 (

O
u

t)
(5

5,
00

0)
   

   
   

   
(2

58
,8

33
)

   
   

   
   

(2
84

,1
34

)
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

(1
10

,9
40

)
   

   
  

12
1,

89
3

   
   

   
20

8,
50

2
   

   
   

 
21

2,
17

2
   

   
  

26
,3

29
   

   
   

  
40

2,
27

8

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

  N
et

 T
ra

n
sf

er
s

6,
57

3,
53

9
   

   
   

6,
99

7,
92

2
   

   
   

 
9,

07
6,

57
0

   
   

   
 

10
,3

21
,0

71
   

  
8,

60
9,

63
5

   
   

8,
59

0,
88

8
   

   
7,

86
1,

62
9

   
   

 
8,

33
9,

90
6

   
  

7,
73

9,
69

2
   

   
8,

11
1,

23
4

C
h

an
ge

 in
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

1,
17

5,
72

2
$ 

   
   

45
3,

92
9

$ 
   

   
   

 
35

8,
97

9
$ 

   
   

   
 

1,
87

3,
57

6
$ 

   
 

(8
90

,6
28

)
$ 

   
  

(1
90

,1
91

)
$ 

   
 

57
8,

12
5

$ 
   

   
 

86
3,

97
3

$ 
   

  
(7

8,
67

6)
$ 

   
   

 
24

1,
82

8
$

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s' 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

N
ot

e:
 T

er
m

in
ol

og
y 

fo
r 

al
l y

ea
rs

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

up
da

te
d 

w
it

h 
th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

ti
on

 o
f 

G
A

S
B

 S
ta

te
m

en
t N

o.
 6

3.

(a
cc

ru
al

 b
as

is
 o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g)

F
or

 t
h

e 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 3

0,
 

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
h

an
ge

s 
in

 N
et

 P
os

it
io

n
 -

 G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
(U

n
au

di
te

d)

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

 1

69



E
xh

ib
it

 I
I

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

E
xp

en
se

s:
  G

en
er

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t 
36

.1
%

33
.1

%
40

.7
%

37
.9

%
37

.8
%

29
.7

%
29

.4
%

31
.1

%
30

.1
%

32
.5

%
  P

ub
li

c 
sa

fe
ty

35
.6

%
35

.8
%

30
.7

%
38

.0
%

35
.6

%
42

.8
%

46
.3

%
45

.6
%

42
.7

%
40

.3
%

  P
hy

si
ca

l e
nv

ir
on

m
en

t
11

.0
%

12
.2

%
11

.8
%

10
.1

%
8.

2%
10

.0
%

9.
8%

9.
2%

9.
5%

9.
5%

  C
ul

tu
re

 a
nd

 r
ec

re
at

io
n 

14
.8

%
16

.7
%

14
.8

%
13

.1
%

16
.8

%
16

.3
%

13
.3

%
12

.7
%

16
.3

%
16

.2
%

  T
ou

ri
sm

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t
2.

2%
1.

8%
1.

5%
0.

9%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
  T

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n
0.

3%
0.

5%
0.

5%
0.

0%
1.

7%
1.

2%
1.

3%
1.

4%
1.

4%
1.

5%

T
ot

al
 E

xp
en

se
s

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

P
ro

gr
am

 R
ev

en
u

es
:

C
ha

rg
es

 f
or

 s
er

vi
ce

s:
G

en
er

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t
65

.9
%

40
.7

%
22

.4
%

33
.2

%
18

.7
%

25
.1

%
41

.5
%

30
.5

%
50

.3
%

45
.5

%
P

ub
li

c 
sa

fe
ty

9.
9%

19
.8

%
13

.1
%

20
.1

%
31

.7
%

25
.2

%
0.

0%
31

.8
%

24
.7

%
21

.1
%

L
ei

su
re

 s
er

vi
ce

s
23

.3
%

39
.5

%
34

.1
%

15
.9

%
13

.8
%

15
.6

%
16

.0
%

11
.0

%
15

.3
%

13
.2

%
T

ou
ri

sm
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t

0.
1%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

O
pe

ra
ti

ng
 g

ra
nt

s 
an

d 
co

nt
ri

bu
ti

on
s 

0.
8%

0.
0%

30
.4

%
30

.9
%

35
.8

%
34

.1
%

42
.5

%
26

.7
%

9.
7%

8.
9%

C
ap

it
al

 g
ra

nt
s 

an
d 

co
nt

ri
bu

ti
on

s
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
11

.4
%

T
ot

al
 P

ro
gr

am
 R

ev
en

u
es

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

G
en

er
al

 R
ev

en
u

es
:

T
ax

es
:

  P
ro

pe
rt

y 
ta

xe
s

59
.6

%
65

.3
%

62
.5

%
71

.5
%

72
.2

%
74

.7
%

69
.6

%
69

.1
%

68
.3

%
68

.2
%

  R
es

or
t t

ax
es

8.
1%

7.
0%

5.
8%

4.
6%

4.
9%

4.
3%

5.
1%

5.
4%

4.
5%

4.
5%

  F
ra

nc
hi

se
 f

ee
s 

ba
se

d 
on

 g
ro

ss
 r

ec
ei

pt
s

6.
1%

5.
3%

5.
0%

4.
4%

5.
3%

4.
9%

5.
4%

5.
1%

5.
2%

5.
1%

  U
ti

li
ty

 ta
xe

s
10

.5
%

9.
9%

4.
8%

4.
4%

5.
0%

0.
8%

1.
6%

5.
8%

6.
1%

6.
5%

  C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
ta

x
0.

0%
0.

0%
3.

0%
2.

6%
3.

9%
4.

6%
4.

5%
4.

4%
4.

2%
3.

9%
U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d 

in
te

rg
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l r
ev

en
ue

s
10

.3
%

8.
1%

7.
1%

5.
7%

6.
0%

10
.2

%
11

.8
%

8.
1%

8.
3%

8.
3%

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d 
in

ve
st

m
en

t e
ar

ni
ng

s 
(l

os
se

s)
1.

9%
3.

6%
6.

0%
6.

2%
2.

2%
-0

.4
%

1.
3%

0.
5%

0.
8%

0.
4%

M
is

ce
ll

an
eo

us
3.

5%
0.

8%
5.

8%
0.

6%
0.

5%
0.

9%
0.

7%
1.

6%
2.

6%
3.

1%

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s'

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

(a
cc

ru
al

 b
as

is
 o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g)

F
or

 t
h

e 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 3

0,
 

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
h

an
ge

s 
in

 N
et

 P
os

it
io

n
- 

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
- 

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

T
ot

al
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

 1

70



E
xh

ib
it

 I
II

S
ou

rc
e

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

E
xp

en
se

s:
  W

at
er

 a
nd

 s
ew

er
1,

37
9,

88
0

$ 
   

   
1,

17
8,

98
6

$ 
   

   
1,

36
0,

73
4

$ 
   

  
1,

42
8,

25
8

$ 
   

 
1,

78
8,

32
4

$ 
   

  
1,

66
9,

47
7

$ 
   

 
1,

99
0,

70
2

$ 
   

 
1,

81
8,

76
2

$ 
   

 
1,

73
0,

30
0

$ 
   

 
1,

83
7,

64
5

$
  M

un
ic

ip
al

 p
ar

ki
ng

13
4,

29
2

   
   

   
   

14
3,

47
2

   
   

   
   

10
7,

55
5

   
   

   
  

17
6,

71
5

   
   

   
 

18
8,

08
6

   
   

   
  

17
4,

68
0

   
   

   
 

22
2,

10
8

   
   

   
 

36
8,

49
7

   
   

   
 

62
2,

20
8

   
   

   
 

88
8,

50
2

  S
an

it
at

io
n

87
5,

50
9

   
   

   
   

92
0,

92
3

   
   

   
   

1,
41

2,
28

3
   

   
  

1,
17

2,
07

5
   

   
 

1,
13

9,
61

9
   

   
  

1,
01

8,
57

9
   

   
 

94
9,

50
5

   
   

   
 

1,
02

2,
89

7
   

   
 

1,
07

3,
28

1
   

   
 

1,
13

1,
68

0
  S

to
rm

w
at

er
 u

ti
li

ty
57

,0
44

   
   

   
   

  
62

,2
68

   
   

   
   

  
82

,9
40

   
   

   
   

 
10

0,
97

0
   

   
   

 
11

5,
72

3
   

   
   

  
12

8,
91

0
   

   
   

 
11

4,
08

6
   

   
   

 
12

2,
20

7
   

   
   

 
13

0,
32

3
   

   
   

 
14

4,
99

9

T
ot

al
 E

xp
en

se
s

2,
44

6,
72

5
   

   
   

2,
30

5,
64

9
   

   
   

2,
96

3,
51

2
   

   
  

2,
87

8,
01

8
   

   
 

3,
23

1,
75

2
   

   
  

2,
99

1,
64

6
   

   
 

3,
27

6,
40

1
   

   
 

3,
33

2,
36

3
   

   
 

3,
55

6,
11

2
   

   
 

4,
00

2,
82

6

P
ro

gr
am

 R
ev

en
u

es
:

C
ha

rg
es

 f
or

 s
er

vi
ce

s:
  W

at
er

 a
nd

 s
ew

er
1,

56
9,

71
8

   
   

   
1,

55
5,

45
3

   
   

   
1,

52
1,

17
3

   
   

  
1,

51
2,

75
7

   
   

 
1,

35
2,

24
7

   
   

  
1,

96
6,

91
5

   
   

 
2,

51
8,

21
8

   
   

 
2,

87
6,

01
0

   
   

 
2,

78
5,

34
8

   
   

 
2,

63
2,

04
6

  M
un

ic
ip

al
 p

ar
ki

ng
33

6,
47

5
   

   
   

   
33

5,
32

7
   

   
   

   
28

2,
43

0
   

   
   

  
28

8,
95

9
   

   
   

 
29

6,
60

0
   

   
   

  
39

4,
97

5
   

   
   

 
40

4,
29

3
   

   
   

 
67

9,
97

0
   

   
   

 
89

3,
02

6
   

   
   

 
1,

05
6,

46
7

  S
an

it
at

io
n

78
5,

50
9

   
   

   
   

75
0,

51
0

   
   

   
   

80
6,

05
3

   
   

   
  

79
8,

02
8

   
   

   
 

78
2,

02
4

   
   

   
  

1,
25

1,
69

5
   

   
 

1,
24

4,
54

7
   

   
 

1,
23

1,
88

7
   

   
 

1,
21

9,
68

9
   

   
 

1,
23

8,
94

2
  S

to
rm

w
at

er
 u

ti
li

ty
11

5,
50

4
   

   
   

   
11

5,
40

7
   

   
   

   
11

5,
32

4
   

   
   

  
11

4,
13

4
   

   
   

 
11

4,
21

9
   

   
   

  
24

3,
77

5
   

   
   

 
24

7,
00

2
   

   
   

 
50

1,
65

5
   

   
   

 
50

2,
97

2
   

   
   

 
49

9,
70

5
O

pe
ra

ti
ng

 g
ra

nt
s 

an
d 

co
nt

ri
bu

ti
on

s
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
12

,9
52

   
   

   
   

  
33

3,
67

4
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

C
ap

it
al

 g
ra

nt
s 

an
d 

co
nt

ri
bu

ti
on

s
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

76
1

   
   

   
   

   
  

12
,5

00
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

56
7,

71
0

   
   

   
 

27
6,

84
4

   
   

   
 

1,
08

6,
00

0

T
ot

al
 P

ro
gr

am
 R

ev
en

u
es

2,
80

7,
20

6
   

   
   

2,
76

9,
64

9
   

   
   

3,
05

8,
65

4
   

   
  

2,
71

4,
63

9
   

   
 

2,
55

7,
59

0
   

   
  

3,
85

7,
36

0
   

   
 

4,
41

4,
06

0
   

   
 

5,
85

7,
23

2
   

   
 

5,
67

7,
87

9
   

   
 

6,
51

3,
16

0

N
et

 (
E

xp
en

se
) 

R
ev

en
u

e
36

0,
48

1
   

   
   

   
46

4,
00

0
   

   
   

   
95

,1
42

   
   

   
   

 
(1

63
,3

79
)

   
   

   
(6

74
,1

62
)

   
   

   
86

5,
71

4
   

   
   

 
1,

13
7,

65
9

   
   

 
2,

52
4,

86
9

   
   

 
2,

12
1,

76
7

   
   

 
2,

51
0,

33
4

G
en

er
al

 R
ev

en
u

es
:

In
ve

st
m

en
t e

ar
ni

ng
s

30
,8

20
   

   
   

   
  

82
,0

36
   

   
   

   
  

15
1,

37
2

   
   

   
  

20
1,

05
2

   
   

   
 

10
1,

30
7

   
   

   
  

2,
56

9
   

   
   

   
  

15
,6

22
   

   
   

   
15

,1
30

   
   

   
   

14
,7

90
   

   
   

   
(1

3,
81

1)
C

ap
it

al
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

10
8,

94
7

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
N

et
 T

ra
n

sf
er

s
55

,0
00

   
   

   
   

  
25

8,
83

3
   

   
   

   
28

5,
65

6
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

11
0,

94
0

   
   

   
  

(1
21

,8
93

)
   

   
   

(2
08

,5
02

)
   

   
   

(2
12

,1
72

)
   

   
   

(2
6,

32
9)

   
   

   
  

(4
02

,2
78

)

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

  N
et

 T
ra

n
sf

er
s

85
,8

20
   

   
   

   
  

34
0,

86
9

   
   

   
   

43
7,

02
8

   
   

   
  

20
1,

05
2

   
   

   
 

21
2,

24
7

   
   

   
  

(1
19

,3
24

)
   

   
   

(8
3,

93
3)

   
   

   
  

(1
97

,0
42

)
   

   
   

(1
1,

53
9)

   
   

   
  

(4
16

,0
89

)

C
h

an
ge

 in
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

44
6,

30
1

$ 
   

   
   

80
4,

86
9

$ 
   

   
   

53
2,

17
0

$ 
   

   
  

37
,6

73
$ 

   
   

   
(4

61
,9

15
)

$ 
   

   
74

6,
39

0
$ 

   
   

 
1,

05
3,

72
6

$ 
   

 
2,

32
7,

82
7

$ 
   

 
2,

11
0,

22
8

$ 
   

 
2,

09
4,

24
5

$

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s'

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

N
ot

e:
 T

er
m

in
ol

og
y 

fo
r 

al
l y

ea
rs

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

up
da

te
d 

w
it

h 
th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

ti
on

 o
f 

G
A

S
B

 S
ta

te
m

en
t N

o.
 6

3.

F
or

 t
h

e 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 3

0,
 

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
h

an
ge

s 
in

 N
et

 P
os

it
io

n
 -

 B
u

si
n

es
s-

ty
pe

 A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

 1

(a
cc

ru
al

 b
as

is
 o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g)

71



E
xh

ib
it

 I
V

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

E
xp

en
se

s:

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l a
ct

iv
it

ie
s1

6,
71

7,
38

7
$ 

   
7,

45
4,

35
0

$ 
   

9,
86

8,
21

8
$ 

  
9,

47
2,

88
0

$ 
  

10
,4

07
,7

65
$ 

 
9,

57
1,

84
1

$ 
   

 
8,

18
5,

45
2

$ 
   

8,
98

4,
93

8
$ 

   
  

10
,3

52
,1

61
$ 

   
10

,9
37

,2
33

$

B
us

in
es

s-
ty

pe
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s2
2,

44
6,

72
5

   
   

2,
30

5,
64

9
   

   
2,

96
3,

51
2

   
 

2,
87

8,
01

8
   

 
3,

23
1,

75
2

   
  

2,
99

1,
64

6
   

   
 

3,
27

6,
40

1
   

  
3,

33
2,

36
3

   
   

 
3,

55
6,

11
2

   
   

 
4,

00
2,

82
6

   
 

T
ot

al
 E

xp
en

se
s

9,
16

4,
11

2
   

   
9,

75
9,

99
9

   
   

12
,8

31
,7

30
   

 
12

,3
50

,8
98

   
 

13
,6

39
,5

17
   

  
12

,5
63

,4
87

   
  

11
,4

61
,8

53
   

  
12

,3
17

,3
01

   
   

 
13

,9
08

,2
73

   
   

 
14

,9
40

,0
59

   

P
ro

gr
am

 R
ev

en
u

es
:

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l a
ct

iv
it

ie
s1

1,
31

9,
57

0
   

   
91

0,
35

7
   

   
  

1,
15

0,
62

7
   

 
1,

02
5,

38
5

   
 

90
7,

50
2

   
   

  
79

0,
76

2
   

   
   

90
1,

94
8

   
   

  
1,

50
9,

00
5

   
   

 
2,

53
3,

79
3

   
   

 
3,

06
7,

82
7

   
 

B
us

in
es

s-
ty

pe
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s2
2,

80
7,

20
6

   
   

2,
76

9,
64

9
   

   
3,

05
8,

65
4

   
 

2,
71

4,
63

9
   

 
2,

55
7,

59
0

   
  

3,
85

7,
36

0
   

   
 

4,
41

4,
06

0
   

  
5,

85
7,

23
2

   
   

 
5,

67
7,

87
9

   
   

 
6,

51
3,

16
0

   
 

T
ot

al
 P

ro
gr

am
 R

ev
en

u
es

4,
12

6,
77

6
   

   
3,

68
0,

00
6

   
   

4,
20

9,
28

1
   

   
3,

74
0,

02
4

   
   

3,
46

5,
09

2
   

   
 

4,
64

8,
12

2
   

   
 

5,
31

6,
00

8
   

   
 

7,
36

6,
23

7
   

   
   

8,
21

1,
67

2
   

   
   

9,
58

0,
98

7
   

  

N
et

 (
E

xp
en

se
) 

R
ev

en
u

e
(5

,0
37

,3
36

)
   

 
(6

,0
79

,9
93

)
   

 
(8

,6
22

,4
49

)
   

 
(8

,6
10

,8
74

)
   

 
(1

0,
17

4,
42

5)
   

 
(7

,9
15

,3
65

)
   

   
(6

,1
45

,8
45

)
   

   
(4

,9
51

,0
64

)
   

   
  

(5
,6

96
,6

01
)

   
   

  
(5

,3
59

,0
72

)
   

 

G
en

er
al

 R
ev

en
u

es
 a

n
d

 T
ra

n
sf

er
s:

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l a
ct

iv
it

ie
s1

6,
57

3,
53

9
   

   
6,

99
7,

92
2

   
   

9,
07

6,
57

0
   

 
10

,3
21

,0
71

  
8,

60
9,

63
5

   
  

8,
59

0,
88

8
   

   
 

7,
86

1,
62

9
   

  
8,

33
9,

90
6

   
   

 
7,

73
9,

69
2

   
   

 
8,

11
1,

23
4

   
 

B
us

in
es

s-
ty

pe
 a

ct
iv

it
ie

s2
85

,8
20

   
   

   
  

34
0,

86
9

   
   

  
43

7,
02

8
   

   
 

20
1,

05
2

   
   

 
21

2,
24

7
   

   
  

(1
19

,3
24

)
   

   
   

(8
3,

93
3)

   
   

   
(1

97
,0

42
)

   
   

   
(1

1,
53

9)
   

   
   

  
(4

16
,0

89
)

   
   

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

6,
65

9,
35

9
   

   
7,

33
8,

79
1

   
   

9,
51

3,
59

8
   

   
10

,5
22

,1
23

   
 

8,
82

1,
88

2
   

   
 

8,
47

1,
56

4
   

   
 

7,
77

7,
69

6
   

   
 

8,
14

2,
86

4
   

   
   

7,
72

8,
15

3
   

   
   

7,
69

5,
14

5
   

  

C
h

an
ge

 in
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

1,
62

2,
02

3
$ 

   
1,

25
8,

79
8

$ 
   

89
1,

14
9

$ 
   

   
1,

91
1,

24
9

$ 
   

(1
,3

52
,5

43
)

$ 
   

55
6,

19
9

$ 
   

   
 

1,
63

1,
85

1
$ 

   
 

3,
19

1,
80

0
$ 

   
   

2,
03

1,
55

2
$ 

   
   

2,
33

6,
07

3
$

N
ot

es
:

1
S

ee
 E

xh
ib

it
 I

2
S

ee
 E

xh
ib

it
 I

II

N
ot

e:
 T

er
m

in
ol

og
y 

fo
r 

al
l y

ea
rs

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

up
da

te
d 

w
it

h 
th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

ti
on

 o
f 

G
A

S
B

 S
ta

te
m

en
t N

o.
 6

3

F
or

 t
h

e 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 3

0,
 

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
h

an
ge

s 
in

 T
ot

al
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

 3

(a
cc

ru
al

 b
as

is
 o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g)

72



E
xh

ib
it

 V

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
N

et
 in

ve
st

m
en

t i
n

 c
ap

it
al

 a
ss

et
s

6,
46

9,
29

5
$ 

   
  

6,
58

3,
16

0
$ 

   
  

8,
20

4,
18

0
$ 

   
 

8,
01

4,
19

7
$ 

   
 

9,
10

2,
08

5
$ 

   
 

9,
20

5,
41

2
$ 

   
   

9,
59

6,
67

2
$ 

   
  

14
,0

39
,2

38
$ 

   
13

,5
28

,0
97

$ 
   

   
13

,5
62

,4
57

$ 
   

   
   

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

3,
32

7,
71

8
   

   
  

3,
53

8,
14

5
   

   
  

82
2,

42
2

   
   

   
 

78
8,

41
2

   
   

   
 

81
9,

42
7

   
   

   
 

72
4,

12
2

   
   

   
   

66
7,

36
0

   
   

   
  

54
2,

51
6

   
   

   
  

41
6,

07
0

   
   

   
   

  
36

4,
11

5
   

   
   

   
   

  
U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d

5,
94

5,
53

2
   

   
  

6,
39

4,
19

5
   

   
  

7,
84

7,
87

7
   

   
 

9,
94

5,
44

6
   

   
 

7,
93

5,
91

5
   

   
 

7,
73

7,
70

2
   

   
   

7,
98

1,
32

9
   

   
  

4,
52

7,
58

0
   

   
  

5,
08

6,
49

1
   

   
   

  
5,

34
5,

91
4

   
   

   
   

  

S
u

b
to

ta
l G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

15
,7

42
,5

45
   

   
16

,5
15

,5
00

   
   

16
,8

74
,4

79
   

  
18

,7
48

,0
55

   
  

17
,8

57
,4

27
   

  
17

,6
67

,2
36

   
   

 
18

,2
45

,3
61

   
   

19
,1

09
,3

34
   

   
19

,0
30

,6
58

   
   

   
19

,2
72

,4
86

   
   

   
   

B
u

si
n

es
s-

ty
p

e 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
N

et
 in

ve
st

m
en

t i
n

 c
ap

it
al

 a
ss

et
s

77
1,

81
2

   
   

   
  

77
8,

25
8

   
   

   
  

92
1,

94
7

   
   

   
 

74
0,

13
3

   
   

   
 

96
3,

19
5

   
   

   
 

1,
27

8,
82

5
   

   
   

2,
03

7,
30

8
   

   
  

4,
10

2,
67

5
   

   
  

11
,2

39
,6

64
   

   
   

12
,8

32
,6

72
   

   
   

   
R

es
tr

ic
te

d 
34

0,
82

4
   

   
   

  
34

2,
34

6
   

   
   

  
34

3,
86

8
   

   
   

 
34

3,
86

8
   

   
   

 
1,

68
9,

81
5

   
   

 
1,

35
8,

81
1

   
   

   
1,

82
2,

85
8

   
   

  
1,

82
2,

85
8

   
   

  
1,

28
3,

91
6

   
   

   
  

1,
60

7,
91

6
   

   
   

   
  

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d
2,

63
5,

76
6

   
   

  
3,

43
2,

66
7

   
   

  
3,

81
9,

62
6

   
   

 
4,

03
9,

11
3

   
   

 
2,

00
8,

18
9

   
   

 
2,

76
9,

95
3

   
   

   
2,

60
1,

14
9

   
   

  
2,

86
3,

60
9

   
   

  
(1

,6
24

,2
10

)
   

   
   

 
(1

,4
46

,9
73

)
   

   
   

   
 

S
u

b
to

ta
l B

u
si

n
es

s-
ty

p
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

N
et

 P
os

it
io

n
3,

74
8,

40
2

   
   

  
4,

55
3,

27
1

   
   

  
5,

08
5,

44
1

   
   

 
5,

12
3,

11
4

   
   

 
4,

66
1,

19
9

   
   

 
5,

40
7,

58
9

   
   

   
6,

46
1,

31
5

   
   

  
8,

78
9,

14
2

   
   

  
10

,8
99

,3
70

   
   

   
12

,9
93

,6
15

   
   

   
   

P
ri

m
ar

y 
G

ov
er

n
m

en
t

N
et

 in
ve

st
m

en
t i

n
 c

ap
it

al
 a

ss
et

s
7,

24
1,

10
7

   
   

  
7,

36
1,

41
8

   
   

  
9,

12
6,

12
7

   
   

 
8,

75
4,

33
0

   
   

 
10

,0
65

,2
80

   
  

10
,4

84
,2

37
   

   
 

11
,6

33
,9

80
   

   
18

,1
41

,9
13

   
   

24
,7

67
,7

61
   

   
   

26
,3

95
,1

29
   

   
   

   
R

es
tr

ic
te

d
3,

66
8,

54
2

   
   

  
3,

88
0,

49
1

   
   

  
1,

16
6,

29
0

   
   

 
1,

13
2,

28
0

   
   

 
2,

50
9,

24
2

   
   

 
2,

08
2,

93
3

   
   

   
2,

49
0,

21
8

   
   

  
2,

36
5,

37
4

   
   

  
1,

69
9,

98
6

   
   

   
  

1,
97

2,
03

1
   

   
   

   
  

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d 
8,

58
1,

29
8

   
   

  
9,

82
6,

86
2

   
   

  
11

,6
67

,5
03

   
  

13
,9

84
,5

59
   

  
9,

94
4,

10
4

   
   

 
10

,5
07

,6
55

   
   

 
10

,5
82

,4
78

   
   

7,
39

1,
18

9
   

   
  

3,
46

2,
28

1
   

   
   

  
3,

89
8,

94
1

   
   

   
   

  

T
ot

al
 P

ri
m

ar
y

G
ov

er
n

m
en

t 
N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

19
,4

90
,9

47
$ 

   
21

,0
68

,7
71

$ 
   

21
,9

59
,9

20
$ 

 
23

,8
71

,1
69

$ 
 

22
,5

18
,6

26
$ 

 
23

,0
74

,8
25

$ 
   

24
,7

06
,6

76
$ 

  
27

,8
98

,4
76

$ 
  

29
,9

30
,0

28
$ 

   
  

32
,2

66
,1

01
$

N
ot

es
:

N
ot

e:
 T

er
m

in
ol

og
y 

fo
r 

al
l y

ea
rs

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

up
da

te
d 

w
it

h 
th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

ti
on

 o
f 

G
A

S
B

 S
ta

te
m

en
t N

o.
 6

3.

(a
cc

ru
al

 b
as

is
 o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g)

1
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g
st

an
da

rd
s

re
qu

ir
e

th
at

ne
tp

os
it

io
n

be
re

po
rt

ed
in

th
re

e
co

m
po

ne
nt

s
in

th
e

fi
na

nc
ia

l
st

at
em

en
ts

:n
et

in
ve

st
m

en
ti

n
ca

pi
ta

l
as

se
ts

;
re

st
ri

ct
ed

;
an

d
un

re
st

ri
ct

ed
.

N
et

po
si

ti
on

is
co

ns
id

er
ed

re
st

ri
ct

ed
on

ly
w

he
n

(1
)

an
ex

te
rn

al
pa

rt
y,

su
ch

as
th

e
S

ta
te

of
F

lo
ri

da
or

th
e

fe
de

ra
l

go
ve

rn
m

en
t,

pl
ac

es
a

re
st

ri
ct

io
n

on
ho

w
th

e
re

so
ur

ce
s

m
ay

be
us

ed
,

or
(2

)
en

ab
li

ng
le

gi
sl

at
io

n
is

en
ac

te
d

by
th

e
T

ow
n.

T
he

re
ar

e
no

re
st

ri
ct

io
ns

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 r

ep
or

te
d 

as
 a

 r
es

ul
t o

f 
en

ab
li

ng
 le

gi
sl

at
io

n.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

G
ov

er
n

m
en

t-
w

id
e 

N
et

 P
os

it
io

n
 b

y 
C

at
eg

or
y1

 L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

S
ep

te
m

b
er

 3
0,

 

73



E
xh

ib
it 

V
-A

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a

C
h

ar
t-

T
ot

al
 G

ov
er

n
m

en
t-

w
id

e 
N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

(a
cc

ru
al

 b
as

is
 o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g)

$19,490,947

$21,068,771

$21,959,920

$23,871,169

$22,518,626

$23,074,825

24,706,676

$27,898,476

$29,930,028

$32,266,101

$

$5
,0

00
,0

00

$1
0,

00
0,

00
0

$1
5,

00
0,

00
0

$2
0,

00
0,

00
0

$2
5,

00
0,

00
0

$3
0,

00
0,

00
0

$3
5,

00
0,

00
0

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

Fi
sc

al
Ye

ar

74



E
xh

ib
it

 V
I

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

R
ev

en
u

e 
S

ou
rc

e

T
ax

es
5,

58
7,

52
4

$ 
   

  
6,

34
4,

00
7

$ 
  

7,
59

0,
96

0
$ 

   
  

9,
03

9,
29

5
$ 

   
 

7,
95

6,
54

0
$ 

   
  

7,
56

1,
62

7
$ 

  
6,

93
6,

62
3

$ 
   

7,
29

4,
96

3
$ 

   
  

6,
98

4,
74

7
$ 

   
   

6,
97

7,
94

9
$ 

   
 

In
te

rg
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l
68

5,
79

8
   

   
  

78
8,

46
7

   
   

  
1,

00
8,

19
8

   
   

  
85

8,
40

5
   

   
   

 
88

7,
50

7
   

   
   

  
1,

13
1,

45
4

   
  

74
5,

54
0

   
   

   
96

7,
98

8
   

   
   

  
83

0,
87

8
   

   
   

   
84

4,
89

1
   

   
   

 

L
ic

en
se

s 
an

d 
pe

rm
it

s
36

5,
35

0
   

   
  

25
9,

02
4

   
   

  
25

6,
00

7
   

   
   

  
34

0,
59

7
   

   
   

 
16

9,
74

9
   

   
   

  
19

8,
50

4
   

   
  

37
4,

55
6

   
   

   
45

9,
54

9
   

   
   

  
1,

27
4,

94
6

   
   

   
1,

39
5,

99
3

   
   

 
C

ha
rg

es
 f

or
 s

er
vi

ce
s

30
1,

92
3

   
   

  
35

6,
72

5
   

   
  

39
1,

53
7

   
   

   
  

16
2,

54
9

   
   

   
 

12
5,

12
0

   
   

   
  

12
3,

32
7

   
   

  
14

4,
75

7
   

   
   

16
6,

18
3

   
   

   
  

20
7,

56
3

   
   

   
   

22
4,

17
7

   
   

   
 

F
in

es
 a

nd
 f

or
fe

it
ur

es
63

6,
67

3
   

   
  

31
1,

96
1

   
   

  
15

6,
75

5
   

   
   

  
20

5,
69

2
   

   
   

 
28

7,
32

4
   

   
   

  
19

9,
61

4
   

   
  

19
0,

24
3

   
   

   
57

0,
22

7
   

   
   

  
67

8,
56

7
   

   
   

   
71

1,
44

4
   

   
   

 
D

ev
el

op
er

 f
ee

s
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

35
0,

00
0

   
   

   
 

In
ve

st
m

en
t e

ar
ni

ng
s 

12
7,

92
2

   
   

  
26

3,
60

3
   

   
  

56
3,

49
4

   
   

   
  

63
9,

61
6

   
   

   
 

19
4,

69
5

   
   

   
  

(3
6,

04
9)

   
   

   
10

3,
57

6
   

   
   

39
,5

45
   

   
   

   
 

58
,8

19
   

   
   

   
  

30
,3

99
   

   
   

   
M

is
ce

ll
an

eo
us

 
24

2,
91

7
   

   
  

59
,9

41
   

   
   

 
54

4,
37

9
   

   
   

57
,9

41
   

   
   

 
49

,5
03

   
   

   
  

96
,2

89
   

   
   

 
59

,7
81

   
   

   
13

8,
28

3
   

   
   

21
1,

63
6

   
   

   
 

24
4,

23
4

T
ot

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

7,
94

8,
10

7
$ 

   
  

8,
38

3,
72

8
$ 

  
10

,5
11

,3
30

$ 
  

11
,3

04
,0

95
$ 

 
9,

67
0,

43
8

$ 
   

 
9,

27
4,

76
6

$ 
  

8,
55

5,
07

6
$ 

  
9,

63
6,

73
8

$ 
   

 
10

,2
47

,1
56

$ 
   

10
,7

79
,0

87
$

%
 c

h
an

ge
fr

om
pr

io
r

ye
ar

18
.3

%
5.

5%
25

.4
%

7.
5%

-1
4.

5%
-4

.1
%

-7
.8

%
12

.6
%

6.
3%

5.
2%

T
ax

es
70

.3
%

75
.7

%
72

.2
%

80
.0

%
82

.3
%

81
.5

%
81

.1
%

75
.7

%
68

.2
%

64
.7

%
In

te
rg

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l

8.
6%

9.
4%

9.
6%

7.
6%

9.
2%

12
.2

%
8.

7%
10

.0
%

8.
1%

7.
8%

L
ic

en
se

s 
an

d 
pe

rm
it

s
4.

6%
3.

1%
2.

4%
3.

0%
1.

8%
2.

1%
4.

4%
4.

8%
12

.4
%

13
.0

%
C

ha
rg

es
 f

or
 s

er
vi

ce
s

3.
8%

4.
3%

3.
7%

1.
4%

1.
3%

1.
3%

1.
7%

1.
7%

2.
0%

2.
1%

F
in

es
 a

nd
 f

or
fe

it
ur

es
8.

0%
3.

7%
1.

5%
1.

8%
3.

0%
2.

3%
2.

2%
5.

9%
6.

6%
6.

6%
D

ev
el

op
er

 f
ee

s
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
3.

2%
In

ve
st

m
en

t e
ar

ni
ng

s
1.

6%
3.

1%
5.

4%
5.

7%
2.

0%
-0

.4
%

1.
2%

0.
4%

0.
6%

0.
3%

M
is

ce
ll

an
eo

us
3.

1%
0.

7%
5.

2%
0.

5%
0.

4%
1.

0%
0.

7%
1.

4%
2.

1%
2.

3%

T
ot

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

N
ot

es
:

1
 I

nc
lu

de
s 

al
l g

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l f

un
d 

ty
pe

s.

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s'

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

(m
od

if
ie

d 
ac

cr
u

al
 b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g)

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

s

A
m

ou
n

ts

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

G
en

er
al

 G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l R

ev
en

u
es

 b
y 

S
ou

rc
e 

(U
n

au
di

te
d)

 
1

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

75



E
xh

ib
it 

V
I-

A

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
h

ar
t-

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l R
ev

en
u

es
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

(m
od

if
ie

d 
ac

cr
u

al
 b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g)

1

0

0.
2

0.
4

0.
6

0.
81

1.
2

1

F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R

N
et

 A
ss

et
s

$7,948,107 

$8,383,728 

$10,511,330 

$11,304,095 

$9,670,438 

$9,274,766 

$8,555,076 

$9,636,738 

$10,247,156 

$10,779,087 

 $
-

 $
2,

00
0,

00
0

 $
4,

00
0,

00
0

 $
6,

00
0,

00
0

 $
8,

00
0,

00
0

 $
10

,0
00

,0
00

 $
12

,0
00

,0
00

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

To
ta

l R
ev

en
u

es

76



E
xh

ib
it

 V
II

F
or

 T
h

e
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r
C

om
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

s

E
n

d
ed

 S
ep

te
m

b
er

 3
0,

P
ro

p
er

ty
R

es
or

t
U

ti
li

ty
F

ra
n

ch
is

e
S

er
vi

ce
T

ot
al

20
04

3,
95

2,
66

2
$ 

   
  

53
4,

73
1

$ 
   

   
  

69
8,

59
9

$ 
   

   
  

40
1,

53
2

$ 
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
5,

58
7,

52
4

$ 
   

  
20

05
4,

73
5,

25
9

   
   

  
50

5,
34

6
   

   
   

  
71

7,
41

8
   

   
   

  
38

5,
98

4
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
34

4,
00

7
   

   
  

20
06

5,
84

6,
07

9
   

   
  

54
6,

26
4

   
   

   
  

72
8,

07
6

   
   

   
  

47
0,

54
1

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
7,

59
0,

96
0

   
   

  
20

07
7,

37
7,

05
6

   
   

  
47

7,
56

3
   

   
   

  
45

7,
90

5
   

   
   

  
45

3,
90

1
   

   
   

   
27

2,
87

0
   

   
   

   
  

9,
03

9,
29

5
   

   
  

20
08

6,
29

2,
75

5
   

   
  

42
4,

27
9

   
   

   
  

43
8,

33
5

   
   

   
  

46
3,

82
3

   
   

   
   

33
7,

34
8

   
   

   
   

  
7,

95
6,

54
0

   
   

  
20

09
6,

32
5,

72
1

   
   

  
36

6,
86

7
   

   
   

  
66

,8
25

   
   

   
   

 
41

6,
72

8
   

   
   

   
38

5,
48

6
   

   
   

   
  

7,
56

1,
62

7
   

   
  

20
10

5,
32

3,
72

8
   

   
  

39
0,

87
3

   
   

   
  

46
3,

74
7

   
   

   
  

41
4,

83
5

   
   

   
   

34
3,

44
0

   
   

   
   

  
6,

93
6,

62
3

   
   

  
20

11
5,

61
9,

49
4

   
   

  
43

5,
17

5
   

   
   

  
47

0,
35

0
   

   
   

  
41

6,
27

7
   

   
   

   
35

3,
66

7
   

   
   

   
  

7,
29

4,
96

3
   

   
  

20
12

5,
26

4,
38

7
   

   
  

52
3,

64
3

   
   

   
  

47
1,

99
4

   
   

   
  

39
9,

62
1

   
   

   
   

32
5,

10
2

   
   

   
   

  
6,

98
4,

74
7

   
   

  
20

13
5,

25
7,

72
6

   
   

  
52

3,
99

9
   

   
   

  
50

3,
59

2
   

   
   

  
39

4,
61

3
   

   
   

   
29

8,
01

9
   

   
   

   
  

6,
97

7,
94

9
   

   
  

%
 C

h
an

ge
 in

 D
ol

la
rs

O
ve

r 
10

 Y
ea

rs
33

.0
%

-2
.0

%
-2

7.
9%

-1
.7

%
10

0.
0%

24
.9

%

20
04

70
.7

%
9.

6%
12

.5
%

7.
2%

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
20

05
74

.6
%

8.
0%

11
.3

%
6.

1%
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

20
06

77
.0

%
7.

2%
9.

6%
6.

2%
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

20
07

81
.6

%
5.

3%
5.

1%
5.

0%
3.

0%
10

0.
0%

20
08

79
.1

%
5.

3%
5.

5%
5.

8%
4.

2%
10

0.
0%

20
09

83
.7

%
4.

9%
0.

9%
5.

5%
5.

1%
10

0.
0%

20
10

76
.7

%
5.

6%
6.

7%
6.

0%
5.

0%
10

0.
0%

20
11

77
.0

%
6.

0%
6.

4%
5.

7%
4.

8%
10

0.
0%

20
12

75
.4

%
7.

5%
6.

8%
5.

7%
4.

6%
10

0.
0%

20
13

75
.3

%
7.

5%
7.

2%
5.

7%
4.

6%
10

0.
0%

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s'

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

T
ot

al

T
ax

 R
ev

en
u

es
 b

y 
S

ou
rc

e 
- 

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l F

u
n

ds
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

(m
od

if
ie

d 
ac

cr
u

al
 b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g)

A
m

ou
n

ts

77



E
xh

ib
it 

V
II

-A

C
h

ar
t-

T
ax

 R
ev

en
u

es
 b

y 
S

ou
rc

e 
- 

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l F

u
n

ds
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

(m
od

if
ie

d 
ac

cr
u

al
 b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g)

$

$1
,0

00
,0

00

$2
,0

00
,0

00

$3
,0

00
,0

00

$4
,0

00
,0

00

$5
,0

00
,0

00

$6
,0

00
,0

00

$7
,0

00
,0

00

$8
,0

00
,0

00

$9
,0

00
,0

00

$1
0,

00
0,

00
0

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

Fi
sc

al
Ye

ar

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

Se
rv

ic
e

Fr
an

ch
ise

U
til

ity

Re
so

rt

Pr
op

er
ty

78



E
xh

ib
it

 V
II

I

F
u

n
ct

io
n

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

C
u

rr
en

t:
  G

en
er

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t 
2,

60
4,

32
5

$ 
   

   
   

 
2,

76
3,

14
6

$ 
   

   
   

  
4,

55
6,

09
4

$ 
   

   
   

   
3,

54
9,

72
9

$ 
   

   
 

3,
82

8,
84

0
$ 

   
  

2,
70

3,
86

8
$ 

   
 

2,
31

5,
55

4
$ 

   
2,

30
3,

52
3

$ 
   

   
2,

91
7,

76
5

$ 
   

 
3,

38
8,

04
6

$ 
  

  P
ub

li
c 

sa
fe

ty
2,

29
2,

62
9

   
   

   
   

 
2,

53
7,

44
7

   
   

   
   

  
2,

87
0,

99
4

   
   

   
   

   
3,

50
1,

36
7

   
   

   
 

3,
58

4,
29

5
   

   
  

3,
92

8,
49

1
   

   
 

3,
64

8,
76

6
   

   
3,

95
7,

26
5

   
   

   
3,

99
0,

27
4

   
   

 
4,

50
7,

84
0

   
  

  P
hy

si
ca

l e
nv

ir
on

m
en

t
71

6,
84

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
88

2,
42

8
   

   
   

   
   

  
86

9,
93

6
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

83
3,

63
1

   
   

   
   

 
74

9,
35

8
   

   
   

  
85

5,
52

6
   

   
   

 
69

5,
64

2
   

   
   

72
0,

88
8

   
   

   
   

87
3,

54
9

   
   

   
 

92
5,

18
9

   
   

  
  C

ul
tu

re
 a

nd
 r

ec
re

at
io

n
77

8,
69

8
   

   
   

   
   

 
98

2,
37

4
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

12
7,

95
0

   
   

   
   

   
1,

14
4,

26
2

   
   

   
 

1,
28

7,
62

2
   

   
  

1,
45

1,
16

3
   

   
 

97
7,

44
9

   
   

   
1,

12
3,

44
6

   
   

   
1,

52
9,

60
8

   
   

 
1,

58
1,

99
2

   
  

  T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

76
,7

22
   

   
   

   
   

15
9,

97
9

   
   

   
  

99
,4

76
   

   
   

   
91

,0
37

   
   

   
  

10
6,

29
2

   
   

   
   

11
7,

04
4

   
   

   
 

12
3,

25
4

   
   

  

T
ot

al
 C

u
rr

en
t

6,
39

2,
49

2
   

   
   

   
 

7,
16

5,
39

5
   

   
   

   
  

9,
42

4,
97

4
   

   
   

   
   

9,
10

5,
71

1
   

   
   

 
9,

61
0,

09
4

   
   

  
9,

03
8,

52
4

   
   

 
7,

72
8,

44
8

   
   

8,
21

1,
41

4
   

   
   

9,
42

8,
24

0
   

   
 

10
,5

26
,3

21
   

%
 C

h
an

ge
 F

ro
m

 P
ri

or
 Y

ea
r

24
.7

%
12

.1
%

31
.5

%
-3

.4
%

5.
5%

-5
.9

%
-1

4.
5%

6.
2%

14
.8

%
11

.6
%

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
C

ap
it

al
 O

u
tl

ay
 

71
2,

97
5

   
   

   
   

   
 

47
4,

14
1

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
97

9,
70

2
   

   
   

   
   

32
1,

28
7

   
   

   
   

 
1,

90
3,

72
7

   
   

  
61

1,
48

6
   

   
   

 
87

7,
37

2
   

   
   

5,
15

7,
66

6
   

   
   

65
0,

97
9

   
   

   
 

59
1,

07
7

   
   

  

%
 C

h
an

ge
 F

ro
m

 P
ri

or
 Y

ea
r

12
.1

%
-3

3.
5%

31
7.

5%
-8

3.
8%

49
2.

5%
-6

7.
9%

43
.5

%
48

7.
9%

-8
7.

4%
-9

.2
%

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

  P
ri

nc
ip

al
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
72

,9
44

   
   

   
   

12
3,

38
0

   
   

  
  I

nt
er

es
t

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
75

4
   

   
   

   
  

6,
04

5
   

   
   

   

T
ot

al
 D

eb
t S

er
vi

ce
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
77

,6
98

   
   

   
   

12
9,

42
5

   
   

  

%
 C

h
an

ge
 F

ro
m

 P
ri

or
 Y

ea
r

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

T
ot

al
 E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

s
7,

10
5,

46
7

$ 
   

   
   

 
7,

63
9,

53
6

$ 
   

   
   

  
11

,4
04

,6
76

$ 
   

   
   

 
9,

42
6,

99
8

$ 
   

   
 

11
,5

13
,8

21
$ 

   
9,

65
0,

01
0

$ 
   

 
8,

60
5,

82
0

$ 
   

13
,3

69
,0

80
$ 

   
 

10
,1

56
,9

17
$ 

  
11

,2
46

,8
23

$

%
 C

h
an

ge
 F

ro
m

 P
ri

or
 Y

ea
r

30
.6

%
7.

5%
49

.3
%

-1
7.

3%
22

.1
%

-1
6.

2%
-1

0.
8%

55
.3

%
-2

4.
0%

10
.7

%

D
eb

t 
S

er
vi

ce
 a

s 
a

%
 o

f 
N

on
ca

p
it

al
E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

s
6

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
0%

0.
8%

1.
2%

N
ot

es
:

1
 I

nc
lu

de
s 

al
l g

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l f

un
d 

ty
pe

s.

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s'

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

G
en

er
al

 G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l E

xp
en

di
tu

re
s 

by
 F

u
n

ct
io

n
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

 
1

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

(m
od

if
ie

d 
ac

cr
u

al
 b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g)

F
or

 t
h

e 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 3

0,
 

79



E
xh

ib
it

 I
X

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

F
u

n
ct

io
n

C
u

rr
en

t:
  G

en
er

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t 
2,

60
4,

32
5

$ 
   

2,
76

3,
14

6
$ 

   
4,

55
6,

09
4

$ 
   

3,
54

9,
72

9
$ 

   
 

3,
82

8,
84

0
$ 

   
 

2,
70

3,
86

8
$ 

   
 

2,
31

5,
55

4
$ 

   
 

2,
30

3,
52

3
$ 

   
 

2,
91

7,
76

5
$ 

  
3,

38
8,

04
6

$ 
   

 
  P

ub
li

c 
sa

fe
ty

2,
29

2,
62

9
   

   
2,

53
7,

44
7

   
   

2,
87

0,
99

4
   

   
3,

50
1,

36
7

   
   

 
3,

58
4,

29
5

   
   

  
3,

92
8,

49
1

   
   

 
3,

64
8,

76
6

   
   

 
3,

95
7,

26
5

   
   

 
3,

99
0,

27
4

   
  

4,
50

7,
84

0
   

   
 

  P
hy

si
ca

l e
nv

ir
on

m
en

t
71

6,
84

0
   

   
   

88
2,

42
8

   
   

   
86

9,
93

6
   

   
   

83
3,

63
1

   
   

   
 

74
9,

35
8

   
   

   
  

85
5,

52
6

   
   

   
 

69
5,

64
2

   
   

   
 

72
0,

88
8

   
   

   
 

87
3,

54
9

   
   

  
92

5,
18

9
   

   
   

 
  C

ul
tu

re
 a

nd
 r

ec
re

at
io

n
77

8,
69

8
   

   
   

98
2,

37
4

   
   

   
1,

12
7,

95
0

   
   

1,
14

4,
26

2
   

   
 

1,
28

7,
62

2
   

   
  

1,
45

1,
16

3
   

   
 

97
7,

44
9

   
   

   
 

1,
12

3,
44

6
   

   
 

1,
52

9,
60

8
   

  
1,

58
1,

99
2

   
   

 
  T

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

76
,7

22
   

   
   

   
15

9,
97

9
   

   
   

  
99

,4
76

   
   

   
   

91
,0

37
   

   
   

   
10

6,
29

2
   

   
   

 
11

7,
04

4
   

   
  

12
3,

25
4

   
   

   
 

T
ot

al
 C

u
rr

en
t

6,
39

2,
49

2
$ 

   
7,

16
5,

39
5

$ 
   

9,
42

4,
97

4
$ 

   
9,

10
5,

71
1

$ 
   

 
9,

61
0,

09
4

$ 
   

 
9,

03
8,

52
4

$ 
   

 
7,

72
8,

44
8

$ 
   

 
8,

21
1,

41
4

$ 
   

 
9,

42
8,

24
0

$ 
  

10
,5

26
,3

21
$

C
u

rr
en

t:
  G

en
er

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t 
40

.7
%

38
.6

%
48

.3
%

39
.0

%
39

.8
%

29
.9

%
30

.0
%

28
.1

%
30

.9
%

32
.2

%
  P

ub
li

c 
sa

fe
ty

35
.9

%
35

.4
%

30
.5

%
38

.5
%

37
.3

%
43

.5
%

47
.2

%
48

.2
%

42
.3

%
42

.8
%

  P
hy

si
ca

l e
nv

ir
on

m
en

t
11

.2
%

12
.3

%
9.

2%
9.

2%
7.

8%
9.

5%
9.

0%
8.

8%
9.

3%
8.

8%
  C

ul
tu

re
 a

nd
 r

ec
re

at
io

n
12

.2
%

13
.7

%
12

.0
%

12
.6

%
13

.4
%

16
.1

%
12

.6
%

13
.7

%
16

.2
%

15
.0

%
  T

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

0%
0.

7%
1.

7%
1.

0%
1.

2%
1.

3%
1.

3%
1.

3%

T
ot

al
 C

u
rr

en
t

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

10
0.

0%
10

0.
0%

N
ot

es
:

1
 I

nc
lu

de
s 

al
l g

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l f

un
d 

ty
pe

s.

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s'

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

G
en

er
al

 G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l C

u
rr

en
t E

xp
en

di
tu

re
s 

by
 F

u
n

ct
io

n
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

 1

F
or

 t
h

e 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 3

0,

A
m

ou
n

ts

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

 T
ot

al

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

(m
od

if
ie

d 
ac

cr
u

al
 b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g)

80



E
xh

ib
it 

IX
-A

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
h

ar
t-

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l C
u

rr
en

t E
xp

en
di

tu
re

s 
(U

n
au

di
te

d)
L

as
t T

en
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

rs
(m

od
if

ie
d 

ac
cr

u
al

 b
as

is
 o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g)

1
0

0.
2

0.
4

0.
6

0.
81

1.
2

1

F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R

N
et

 A
ss

et
s

$6,392,492 

$7,165,395 

$9,424,974 

$9,105,711 

$9,610,094 

$9,038,524 

$7,728,448 

$8,211,414 

$9,428,240 

$10,526,321 

 $
-

 $
2,

00
0,

00
0

 $
4,

00
0,

00
0

 $
6,

00
0,

00
0

 $
8,

00
0,

00
0

 $
10

,0
00

,0
00

 $
12

,0
00

,0
00

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

To
ta

l C
u

rr
en

t E
xp

en
di

tu
re

s

81



E
xh

ib
it

 X

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

T
ot

al
 R

ev
en

u
es

7,
94

8,
10

7
$ 

   
   

  
8,

38
3,

72
8

$ 
   

   
  

10
,5

11
,3

30
$ 

   
   

11
,3

04
,0

95
$ 

   
   

9,
67

0,
43

8
$ 

   
   

 
9,

27
4,

76
6

$ 
   

8,
55

5,
07

6
$ 

   
 

9,
63

6,
73

8
$ 

   
  

10
,2

47
,1

56
$ 

   
 

10
,7

79
,0

87
$ 

   
   

  

T
ot

al
 E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

s 
7,

10
5,

46
7

   
   

   
  

7,
63

9,
53

6
   

   
   

  
11

,4
04

,6
76

   
   

   
9,

42
6,

99
8

   
   

   
  

11
,5

13
,8

21
   

   
  

9,
65

0,
01

0
   

   
8,

60
5,

82
0

   
   

 
13

,3
69

,0
80

   
   

10
,1

56
,9

17
   

   
 

11
,2

46
,8

23
   

   
   

   

E
xc

es
s 

(D
ef

ic
ie

n
cy

) 
of

 R
ev

en
u

es
  O

ve
r 

(U
n

d
er

) 
E

xp
en

d
it

u
re

s 
.

84
2,

64
0

   
   

   
   

  
74

4,
19

2
   

   
   

   
  

(8
93

,3
46

)
   

   
   

   
1,

87
7,

09
7

   
   

   
  

(1
,8

43
,3

83
)

   
   

   
(3

75
,2

44
)

   
   

  
(5

0,
74

4)
   

   
   

 
(3

,7
32

,3
42

)
   

   
 

90
,2

39
   

   
   

   
  

(4
67

,7
36

)
   

   
   

   
   

O
th

er
 F

in
an

ci
n

g 
S

ou
rc

es
 (

U
se

s)
In

ce
pt

io
n 

of
 c

ap
it

al
 le

as
es

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

50
0,

07
4

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

T
ra

ns
fe

rs
 in

57
5,

48
3

   
   

   
   

  
56

,9
26

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
16

1,
73

8
   

   
   

   
  

2,
66

5,
10

1
   

   
   

 
23

2,
87

8
   

   
   

5,
23

9,
46

1
   

   
 

35
6,

53
2

   
   

   
  

39
4,

56
5

   
   

   
   

41
1,

56
0

   
   

   
   

   
  

T
ra

ns
fe

rs
 o

ut
(6

30
,4

83
)

   
   

   
   

(3
15

,7
59

)
   

   
   

   
(2

84
,1

34
)

   
   

   
   

(1
61

,7
38

)
   

   
   

   
(2

,7
76

,0
41

)
   

   
   

(1
10

,9
85

)
   

   
  

(5
,0

30
,9

59
)

   
  

(1
44

,3
60

)
   

   
   

 
(3

68
,2

36
)

   
   

   
  

(9
,2

82
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

T
ot

al
 O

th
er

 F
in

an
ci

n
g 

  S
ou

rc
es

 (
U

se
s)

(5
5,

00
0)

   
   

   
   

  
(2

58
,8

33
)

   
   

   
   

(2
84

,1
34

)
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(1
10

,9
40

)
   

   
   

   
12

1,
89

3
   

   
   

20
8,

50
2

   
   

   
 

21
2,

17
2

   
   

   
  

52
6,

40
3

   
   

   
   

40
2,

27
8

   
   

   
   

   
  

N
et

 C
h

an
ge

 in
 F

u
n

d
 B

al
an

ce
s

78
7,

64
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
48

5,
35

9
$ 

   
   

   
  

(1
,1

77
,4

80
)

$ 
   

   
1,

87
7,

09
7

$ 
   

   
  

(1
,9

54
,3

23
)

$ 
   

   
(2

53
,3

51
)

$ 
   

  
15

7,
75

8
$ 

   
   

 
(3

,5
20

,1
70

)
$ 

   
 

61
6,

64
2

$ 
   

   
   

(6
5,

45
8)

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s'

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

of
 C

h
an

ge
s 

in
 F

u
n

d 
B

al
an

ce
s 

- 
G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l F
u

n
ds

 (
U

n
au

di
te

d)
L

as
t T

en
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

rs
(m

od
if

ie
d 

ac
cr

u
al

 b
as

is
 o

f 
ac

co
u

n
ti

n
g)

F
or

 t
h

e 
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 3

0,
 

82



E
xh

ib
it 

X
-A

C
h

ar
t-

C
h

an
ge

s 
in

 F
u

n
d 

B
al

an
ce

s 
- 

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l F

u
n

ds
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

(m
od

if
ie

d 
ac

cr
u

al
 b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g)

$787,640

$485,359

$(1,177,480)

$1,877,097

$(1,954,323)

$(253,351)

$157,758

$(3,520,170)

$616,642

$(65,458)

$(
4,

00
0,

00
0)

$(
3,

00
0,

00
0)

$(
2,

00
0,

00
0)

$(
1,

00
0,

00
0)

$

$1
,0

00
,0

00

$2
,0

00
,0

00

$3
,0

00
,0

00

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

Fi
sc

al
Ye

ar

83



E
xh

ib
it

 X
I

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

G
en

er
al

 F
u

n
d

R
es

er
ve

d
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

10
4,

24
0

$ 
   

   
  

10
1,

99
6

$ 
   

   
11

7,
01

3
$ 

   
   

U
nr

es
er

ve
d

6,
23

4,
80

8
   

 
6,

50
8,

24
3

   
 

5,
33

6,
01

6
   

 
7,

22
3,

22
8

   
   

  
6,

78
6,

54
0

   
 

7,
17

8,
52

2

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
6,

23
4,

80
8

   
 

6,
50

8,
24

3
   

 
5,

33
6,

01
6

   
 

7,
32

7,
46

8
   

   
  

6,
88

8,
53

6
   

 
7,

29
5,

53
5

G
en

er
al

 F
u

n
d 

%
 C

h
an

ge

F
ro

m
 P

ri
or

 Y
ea

r
12

.3
%

4.
4%

-1
8.

0%
37

.3
%

-6
.0

%
5.

9%

A
ll

 O
th

er
 G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l F
u

n
d

s 
R

es
er

ve
d

1
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
91

9
   

   
   

   
   

8,
59

0
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
U

nr
es

er
ve

d
S

pe
ci

al
 R

ev
en

ue
 F

un
ds

53
8,

08
5

   
   

   
54

9,
32

6
   

   
   

2,
27

6,
75

4
   

   
1,

02
3,

42
6

   
   

  
78

3,
70

1
   

   
   

72
4,

12
2

   
   

   
C

ap
it

al
 P

ro
je

ct
s 

F
un

ds
2,

28
1,

35
6

   
   

2,
32

0,
13

0
   

   
52

0,
19

4
   

   
   

2,
41

3,
85

8
   

   
  

1,
13

3,
52

1
   

   
54

1,
34

0
   

   
   

T
ot

al
 A

ll
 O

th
er

 

  G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l F

u
n

d
s

2,
81

9,
44

1
   

   
2,

86
9,

45
6

   
   

2,
79

6,
94

8
   

   
3,

44
1,

20
3

   
   

  
1,

92
5,

81
2

   
   

1,
26

5,
46

2
   

   

A
ll

 O
th

er
 G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l F
u

n
ds

%
 C

h
an

ge
 F

ro
m

 P
ri

or
 Y

ea
r

-1
3.

0%
1.

8%
-2

.5
%

23
.0

%
-4

4.
0%

-3
4.

3%

T
ot

al
 G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l F
u

n
d

s
R

es
er

ve
d 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
10

8,
15

9
   

   
   

  
11

0,
58

6
   

   
   

11
7,

01
3

   
   

   
U

nr
es

er
ve

d
9,

05
4,

24
9

   
 

9,
37

7,
69

9
   

 
8,

13
2,

96
4

   
 

10
,6

60
,5

12
   

   
8,

70
3,

76
2

   
 

8,
44

3,
98

4

T
ot

al
 G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l F
u

n
d

s
9,

05
4,

24
9

$ 
  

9,
37

7,
69

9
$ 

  
8,

13
2,

96
4

$ 
  

10
,7

68
,6

71
$ 

   
8,

81
4,

34
8

$ 
  

8,
56

0,
99

7
$

A
ll

 G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l F

u
n

ds
 %

 C
h

an
ge

 F
ro

m
 P

ri
or

 Y
ea

r
2.

9%
3.

6%
-1

3.
3%

32
.4

%
-1

8.
1%

-2
.9

%

N
ot

es
:

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
ye

ar
s'

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 a

nn
ua

l f
in

an
ci

al
 r

ep
or

t.

T
he

T
ow

n
im

pl
em

en
te

d
G

A
S

B
S

ta
te

m
en

tN
o.

54
,F

un
d

B
al

an
ce

R
ep

or
ti

ng
an

d
G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l

F
un

d
D

ef
in

it
io

ns
,i

n
F

is
ca

l
Y

ea
r

20
10

(s
ee

E
xh

ib
it

X
II

).
  T

he
 T

ow
n 

di
d 

no
t r

es
ta

te
 th

e 
pr

io
r 

ye
ar

s.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

F
u

n
d 

B
al

an
ce

s 
- 

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l F

u
n

ds
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

 2
00

4 
- 

20
09

(m
od

if
ie

d 
ac

cr
u

al
 b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

u
n

ti
n

g)

S
ep

te
m

b
er

 3
0,

84



Exhibit XII

2010 2011 2012 2013
General Fund:
  Assigned to:

    Emergencies and cash flows 2,000,000$    2,000,000$     2,000,000$       2,000,000$
    Subsequent years' expenditures -                 95,175            -                    -

  Nonspendable:
    Prepaid items 107,171         109,532          144,738            152,767
    Asset held for resale 188,000         -                 -                    -

  Unassigned 867,867         2,051,608       3,121,636         3,151,275

Total General Fund 3,163,038      4,256,315       5,266,374         5,304,042

General Fund % Change
From Prior Year -56.5% 34.6% 23.7% 0.7%

All Other Governmental Funds:

  Restricted for:
    Tourism 179,035         184,867          171,496            94,497
    Transportation surtax 416,500         239,760          122,302            131,475
    Police forfeiture 71,825           117,889          122,272            138,143

  Committed to:
    Capital projects 4,201,479      -                 -                    -

  Assigned to:
    Capital projects 686,878         399,754          132,783            255,263

Total All Other Governmental Funds: 5,555,717      942,270          548,853            619,378

All Other Governmental Funds
% Change From Prior Year 339.0% -100.0% -41.8% 12.8%

Total Governmental Funds 8,718,755$   5,198,585$    5,815,227$      5,923,420$

All Governmental Funds
 % Change From Prior Year 1.8% -100.0% 11.9% 1.9%

Notes:

Data Source:
Applicable years' comprehensive annual financial report.

The Town implemented GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Definitions ,
in Fiscal Year 2010.  The Town did not restate the prior years.

September 30,

Town of Surfside, Florida 
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (Unaudited)

Fiscal Years 2010 - 2013
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

85



E
xh

ib
it

 X
II

I

T
ot

al
T

ot
al

T
ot

al
 T

ax
ab

le
D

ir
ec

t
A

n
n

u
al

F
is

ca
l

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

A
ss

es
se

d
T

ax
P

er
ce

n
ta

ge

Y
ea

r
A

m
ou

n
t

C
h

an
ge

A
m

ou
n

t
C

h
an

ge
V

al
u

e1
R

at
e

2
C

h
an

ge

20
04

78
9,

95
8,

82
8

$ 
   

   
 

11
.1

%
13

,8
89

,6
74

$ 
   

3.
6%

80
3,

84
8,

50
2

$ 
   

   
  

5.
60

30
  

10
.8

%
20

05
92

2,
78

0,
34

1
   

   
   

 
16

.8
%

13
,7

98
,6

01
   

   
-0

.7
%

93
6,

57
8,

94
2

   
   

   
  

5.
60

30
  

16
.5

%
20

06
1,

13
0,

23
7,

07
3

   
   

 
22

.5
%

16
,9

59
,2

67
   

   
22

.9
%

1,
14

7,
19

6,
34

0
   

   
  

5.
60

30
  

22
.5

%
20

07
1,

43
4,

50
1,

84
2

   
   

 
26

.9
%

15
,7

20
,5

79
   

   
-7

.3
%

1,
45

0,
22

2,
42

1
   

   
  

5.
60

00
  

26
.4

%
20

08
1,

64
4,

73
0,

37
1

   
   

 
14

.7
%

15
,7

02
,1

11
   

   
-0

.1
%

1,
66

0,
43

2,
48

2
   

   
  

4.
25

00
  

14
.5

%
20

09
1,

51
3,

23
5,

32
4

   
   

 
-8

.0
%

18
,4

34
,0

95
   

   
17

.4
%

1,
53

1,
66

9,
41

9
   

   
  

5.
35

80
  

-7
.8

%
20

10
1,

27
0,

68
0,

30
1

   
   

 
-1

6.
0%

12
,7

20
,9

30
   

   
-3

1.
0%

1,
28

3,
40

1,
23

1
   

   
  

4.
73

32
  

-1
6.

2%
20

11
1,

05
0,

69
5,

13
1

   
   

 
-1

7.
3%

12
,2

64
,4

92
   

   
-3

.6
%

1,
06

2,
95

9,
62

3
   

   
  

5.
94

99
  

-1
7.

2%
20

12
1,

00
5,

24
6,

01
4

   
   

 
-4

.3
%

12
,4

12
,2

60
   

   
1.

2%
1,

01
7,

65
8,

27
4

   
   

  
5.

50
00

  
-4

.3
%

20
13

1,
04

9,
84

6,
04

1
   

   
 

4.
4%

12
,3

50
,1

85
   

   
-0

.5
%

1,
06

2,
19

6,
22

6
   

   
  

5.
30

00
  

4.
4%

*
1,

19
5,

78
5,

02
5

$ 
   

 
14

,6
55

,7
79

$ 
   

1,
21

0,
44

0,
80

4
$ 

   
  

**
32

.9
%

-1
1.

1%
32

.1
%

* 
 D

ol
la

r 
av

er
ag

e 
fo

r 
te

n 
ye

ar
s.

**
 P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
ch

an
ge

 in
 d

ol
la

rs
 o

ve
r 

te
n 

ye
ar

s.

1
A

ll
 p

ro
pe

rt
y 

is
 a

ss
es

se
d 

at
 1

00
%

 o
f 

fa
ir

 m
ar

ke
t v

al
ue

.
2

T
ax

 r
at

es
 e

xp
re

ss
ed

 in
 r

at
e 

pe
r 

$1
,0

00

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
 

M
ia

m
i-

D
ad

e 
C

ou
nt

y 
P

ro
pe

rt
y 

A
pp

ra
is

er

N
ot

es
:

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

T
ax

ab
le

 A
ss

es
se

d 
V

al
u

e 
- 

R
ea

l a
n

d 
P

er
so

n
al

 P
ro

pe
rt

y 
(U

n
au

di
te

d)
 1

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

R
ea

l P
ro

p
er

ty
P

er
so

n
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty

86



E
xh

ib
it

 X
II

I-
A

T
ow

n 
of

 S
ur

fs
id

e,
 F

lo
ri

da
 

C
ha

rt
-T

ot
al

 A
ss

es
se

d 
V

al
u

e 
(U

n
au

di
te

d)
L

as
t T

en
 C

al
en

da
r 

Y
ea

rs
(m

od
if

ie
d 

ac
cr

ua
l b

as
is

 o
f 

ac
co

un
ti

ng
)

 $
-

 $
20

0,
00

0,
00

0

 $
40

0,
00

0,
00

0

 $
60

0,
00

0,
00

0

 $
80

0,
00

0,
00

0

 $
1,

00
0,

00
0,

00
0

 $
1,

20
0,

00
0,

00
0

 $
1,

40
0,

00
0,

00
0

 $
1,

60
0,

00
0,

00
0

 $
1,

80
0,

00
0,

00
0

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

R
ea

l P
ro

pe
rt

y
P

er
so

na
l P

ro
pe

rt
y

87



E
xh

ib
it

 X
IV

T
ot

al
D

ir
ec

t
D

ir
ec

t
C

it
y

D
eb

t
T

ot
al

D
eb

t
T

ot
al

W
at

er
an

d
F

is
ca

l
O

p
er

at
in

g
O

p
er

at
in

g
S

er
vi

ce
C

ou
n

ty
O

p
er

at
in

g
S

er
vi

ce
S

ch
oo

l
M

an
ag

em
en

t
E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l

S
p

ec
ia

l
C

h
il

d
re

n
's

F
ir

e 
an

d
F

ir
e

O
ve

rl
ap

p
in

g
Y

ea
r

M
il

la
ge

M
il

la
ge

M
il

la
ge

M
il

la
ge

M
il

la
ge

M
il

la
ge

M
il

la
ge

D
is

tr
ic

t
P

ro
je

ct
D

is
tr

ic
t

T
ru

st
R

es
cu

e
D

eb
t

M
il

la
ge

20
04

5.
60

30
   

   
   

 
5.

96
90

   
   

   
 

0.
28

50
   

  
6.

25
40

   
   

   
8.

41
80

   
   

   
  

0.
68

20
   

  
9.

10
00

   
  

0.
59

70
0.

10
00

0.
03

85
0.

50
00

2.
58

20
   

   
   

   
0.

07
90

24
.8

53
5

   
   

 
20

05
5.

60
30

   
   

   
 

5.
93

50
   

   
   

 
0.

28
50

   
  

6.
22

00
   

   
   

8.
09

00
   

   
   

  
0.

59
70

   
  

8.
68

70
   

  
0.

59
70

0.
10

00
0.

03
85

0.
44

42
2.

59
20

   
   

   
   

0.
06

90
24

.3
50

7
   

   
 

20
06

5.
60

30
   

   
   

 
5.

83
50

   
   

   
 

0.
28

50
   

  
6.

12
00

   
   

   
7.

94
70

   
   

   
  

0.
49

10
   

  
8.

43
80

   
  

0.
59

70
0.

10
00

0.
03

85
0.

42
88

2.
60

90
   

   
   

   
0.

05
20

23
.9

86
3

   
   

 
20

07
5.

60
00

   
   

   
 

5.
61

50
   

   
   

 
0.

28
50

   
  

5.
90

00
   

   
   

7.
69

10
   

   
   

  
0.

41
40

   
  

8.
10

50
   

  
0.

59
70

0.
10

00
0.

03
85

0.
42

23
2.

60
90

   
   

   
   

0.
04

20
23

.4
13

8
   

   
 

20
08

4.
25

00
   

   
   

 
4.

57
96

   
   

   
 

0.
28

50
   

  
4.

86
46

   
   

   
7.

57
00

   
   

   
  

0.
37

80
   

  
7.

94
80

   
  

0.
53

46
0.

08
94

0.
03

45
0.

42
23

2.
20

67
   

   
   

   
0.

04
20

20
.3

92
1

   
   

 
20

09
4.

73
32

   
   

   
 

4.
83

79
   

   
   

 
0.

28
50

   
  

5.
12

29
   

   
   

7.
53

30
   

   
   

  
0.

26
40

   
  

7.
79

70
   

  
0.

53
46

0.
08

94
0.

03
45

0.
42

12
2.

18
51

   
   

   
   

0.
04

20
20

.9
59

9
   

   
 

20
10

4.
73

32
   

   
   

 
4.

83
79

   
   

   
 

0.
28

50
   

  
5.

12
29

   
   

   
7.

69
80

   
   

   
  

0.
29

70
   

  
7.

99
50

   
  

0.
53

46
0.

08
94

0.
03

45
0.

50
00

2.
18

51
   

   
   

   
0.

04
20

21
.2

36
7

   
   

 
20

11
5.

50
00

   
   

   
 

4.
80

50
   

   
   

 
0.

28
50

   
  

5.
09

00
   

   
   

7.
76

50
   

   
   

  
0.

24
00

   
  

8.
00

50
   

  
0.

37
39

0.
06

24
0.

03
45

0.
50

00
2.

44
96

   
   

   
   

0.
01

31
22

.0
28

5
   

   
 

20
12

5.
30

00
   

   
   

 
4.

70
35

   
   

   
 

0.
28

50
   

  
4.

98
85

   
   

   
7.

76
50

   
   

   
  

0.
23

30
   

  
7.

99
80

   
  

0.
36

76
0.

06
13

0.
03

45
0.

50
00

2.
44

96
   

   
   

   
0.

01
31

21
.7

12
6

   
   

 
20

13
5.

40
00

   
   

   
 

7.
61

48
   

   
   

 
0.

81
62

   
  

8.
43

10
   

   
   

7.
64

40
   

   
   

  
0.

33
30

   
  

7.
97

70
   

  
0.

35
23

0.
05

87
0.

03
45

0.
50

00
2.

44
96

   
   

   
   

0.
13

10
25

.3
34

1
   

   
 

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
 

N
ot

es
:

M
ia

m
i-

D
ad

e 
C

ou
nt

y 
P

ro
pe

rt
y 

A
pp

ra
is

er
 O

ff
ic

e,
 h

tt
p:

//
w

w
w

.m
ia

m
id

ad
e.

go
v/

pa
/m

il
la

ge
_t

ab
le

s.
as

p

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

D
ir

ec
t a

n
d 

O
ve

rl
ap

pi
n

g 
P

ro
pe

rt
y 

T
ax

 R
at

es
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

1
O

ve
rl

ap
pi

ng
 r

at
es

 a
re

 th
os

e 
of

 g
ov

er
nm

en
ts

 th
at

 o
ve

rl
ap

 th
e 

T
ow

n'
s 

ge
og

ra
ph

ic
 b

ou
nd

ar
ie

s.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

M
ia

m
i-

D
ad

e 
C

ou
n

ty
S

ch
oo

l B
oa

rd
M

ia
m

i-
D

ad
e 

C
ou

n
ty

O
ve

rl
ap

p
in

g 
R

at
es

 2

(r
at

e 
pe

r 
$1

,0
00

 o
f 

as
se

ss
ed

 ta
xa

bl
e 

va
lu

e)

88



E
xh

ib
it 

X
IV

-A

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
h

ar
t-

D
ir

ec
t a

n
d 

O
ve

rl
ap

pi
n

g 
P

ro
pe

rt
y 

T
ax

 R
at

es
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

(r
at

e 
pe

r 
$1

,0
00

 o
f 

as
se

ss
ed

 ta
xa

bl
e 

va
lu

e)

5.6030

5.6030

5.6030

5.6000

4.2500

4.7332

4.7332

5.5000

5.3000

6.2540

6.2200

6.1200

5.9000

4.8646

5.1229

5.1229

5.0900

4.9885

9.1000

8.6870

8.4380

8.1050

7.9480

7.7970

7.9950

8.0050

7.9980

0.
00

00

1.
00

00

2.
00

00

3.
00

00

4.
00

00

5.
00

00

6.
00

00

7.
00

00

8.
00

00

9.
00

00

10
.0

00
0

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

Property Tax Rates

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

D
ir

ec
t -

 C
it

y

O
ve

rl
ap

pi
n

g 
- 

C
ou

nt
y

O
ve

rl
ap

pi
n

g 
- 

C
ou

nt
y 

S
ch

oo
l B

oa
rd

O
ve

rl
ap

pi
n

g 
- 

O
th

er

89



E
xh

ib
it

 X
V

T
ax

es
 L

ev
ie

d
F

is
ca

l
fo

r 
th

e
P

er
ce

n
ta

ge
P

er
ce

n
ta

ge
Y

ea
r

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

A
m

ou
n

t
of

 L
ev

y
A

m
ou

n
t

of
 L

ev
y

20
04

4,
19

7,
69

4
$ 

   
   

   
3,

95
2,

66
2

$ 
   

 
94

.1
6%

24
5,

03
2

$ 
   

   
5.

84
%

20
05

4,
91

4,
63

7
   

   
   

   
4,

73
5,

25
9

   
   

 
96

.3
5%

17
9,

37
8

   
   

   
3.

65
%

20
06

6,
01

3,
27

4
   

   
   

   
5,

84
6,

07
9

   
   

 
97

.2
2%

16
7,

19
5

   
   

   
2.

78
%

20
07

7,
67

5,
73

4
   

   
   

   
7,

37
7,

05
6

   
   

 
96

.1
1%

29
8,

67
8

   
   

   
3.

89
%

20
08

6,
70

2,
90

4
   

   
   

   
6,

29
2,

75
5

   
   

 
93

.8
8%

41
0,

14
9

   
   

   
6.

12
%

20
09

7,
50

3,
53

0
   

   
   

   
6,

32
5,

72
1

   
   

 
84

.3
0%

1,
17

7,
80

9
   

   
15

.7
0%

20
10

5,
55

0,
92

5
   

   
   

   
5,

32
3,

72
8

   
   

 
95

.9
1%

22
7,

19
7

   
   

   
4.

09
%

20
11

6,
36

4,
75

8
   

   
   

   
5,

61
9,

49
4

   
   

 
88

.2
9%

74
5,

26
4

   
   

   
11

.7
1%

20
12

5,
59

7,
12

1
   

   
   

   
5,

26
4,

38
7

   
   

 
94

.0
6%

33
2,

73
4

   
   

   
5.

94
%

20
13

5,
34

8,
24

9
   

   
   

   
5,

25
7,

72
6

   
   

 
98

.3
1%

90
,5

23
   

   
   

  
1.

69
%

N
ot

es
:

C
ur

re
nt

ly
, t

he
 ta

x 
co

ll
ec

ti
on

s 
ar

e 
no

t a
va

il
ab

le
 f

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
 to

 w
hi

ch
 th

ey
 a

pp
ly

.

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
T

ow
n 

F
in

an
ce

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

U
n

co
ll

ec
te

d
 T

ax
es

 
T

ot
al

 T
ax

es
 C

ol
le

ct
ed

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

T
ot

al
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

T
ax

 L
ev

ie
s 

an
d 

C
ol

le
ct

io
n

s 
(U

n
au

di
te

d)
L

as
t T

en
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

rs

T
ot

al

90



E
xh

ib
it

 X
V

I

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

of
 T

ot
al

 
of

 T
ot

al
 

T
ax

ab
le

T
ax

ab
le

T
ax

ab
le

T
ax

ab
le

A
ss

es
se

d
A

ss
es

se
d

A
ss

es
se

d
A

ss
es

se
d

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

 T
ax

p
ay

er
V

al
u

e 
R

an
k

V
al

u
e

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

 T
ax

p
ay

er
V

al
u

e 
R

an
k

V
al

u
e

T
he

 S
ur

f 
C

lu
b

27
,0

81
,6

04
$ 

   
   

1
2.

58
%

T
he

 S
ur

f 
C

lu
b

40
,3

73
,9

60
$ 

   
   

1
3.

18
%

C
ha

te
au

 O
ce

an
 L

L
C

12
,2

94
,2

60
   

   
   

2
1.

17
%

93
79

 R
ea

lt
y 

G
ro

up
13

,9
70

,0
00

   
   

   
2

1.
10

%
B

ea
ch

 H
ou

se
 H

ot
el

 L
L

C
11

,4
09

,7
95

   
   

   
3

1.
09

%
B

ea
ch

 H
ou

se
 P

ro
pe

rt
y,

 L
L

C
9,

00
0,

00
0

   
   

   
  

3
0.

71
%

P
ub

li
x 

S
up

er
 M

ar
ke

ts
, I

nc
.

7,
10

8,
83

3
   

   
   

  
4

0.
68

%
P

ub
li

x 
S

up
er

 M
ar

ke
ts

, I
nc

.
8,

38
0,

00
0

   
   

   
  

4
0.

66
%

N
ew

 Y
or

k 
C

om
m

un
it

y 
B

an
k

4,
83

7,
70

1
   

   
   

  
5

0.
46

%
O

hi
o 

S
av

in
gs

 B
an

k
5,

73
6,

36
0

   
   

   
  

5
0.

45
%

G
re

ys
to

ne
 R

es
id

en
ti

al
 L

L
C

3,
28

9,
00

0
   

   
   

  
6

0.
31

%
T

ra
ns

ac
ta

a 
L

an
ai

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t L
T

D
5,

69
5,

00
0

   
   

   
  

6
0.

45
%

K
el

vi
m

 E
sc

ob
ar

2,
49

9,
29

4
   

   
   

  
7

0.
24

%
C

ol
li

ns
 A

ve
nu

e 
In

ve
st

m
en

t G
ro

up
3,

80
0,

00
0

   
   

   
  

7
0.

30
%

C
ol

li
ns

 A
ve

 I
nv

es
t G

rp
2,

43
2,

75
3

   
   

   
  

8
0.

23
%

95
01

 C
ol

li
ns

 A
ve

nu
e,

 L
L

C
 

3,
28

9,
00

0
   

   
   

  
8

0.
26

%
D

ay
na

 L
in

de
nf

ie
ld

2,
42

2,
48

9
   

   
   

  
9

0.
23

%
R

ob
er

t a
nd

 R
it

a 
S

w
ed

ro
e

2,
99

3,
14

8
   

   
   

  
9

0.
24

%
R

ob
er

t S
w

ed
ro

e 
&

 W
 R

it
a

2,
29

1,
42

4
   

   
   

  
10

0.
22

%
Y

or
am

 a
nd

 Y
le

an
a 

Iz
ha

k
2,

61
4,

25
9

   
   

   
  

10
0.

21
%

T
ot

al
 P

ri
n

ci
p

al
 T

ax
p

ay
er

s
75

,6
67

,1
53

   
   

   
7.

21
%

T
ot

al
 P

ri
n

ci
p

al
 T

ax
p

ay
er

s
95

,8
51

,7
27

   
   

   
7.

54
%

A
ll

 O
th

er
 T

ax
p

ay
er

s
97

4,
17

8,
88

8
   

   
 

92
.7

9%
A

ll
 O

th
er

 T
ax

p
ay

er
s

1,
17

4,
82

8,
57

4
   

 
92

.4
6%

T
ot

al
1,

04
9,

84
6,

04
1

$ 
 

10
0.

00
%

T
ot

al
1,

27
0,

68
0,

30
1

$ 
10

0.
00

%

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
T

ow
n 

re
co

rd
s.

N
ot

e:
 P

ri
nc

ip
al

 ta
xp

ay
er

 n
ot

 a
va

il
ab

le
 p

ri
or

 to
 2

01
0.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

P
ri

n
ci

pa
l R

ea
l P

ro
pe

rt
y 

T
ax

pa
ye

rs
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

 E
n

de
d 

S
ep

te
m

be
r 

30
, 2

01
3 

an
d 

20
10

20
10

20
13

91



E
xh

ib
it

 X
V

II

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

of
 T

ot
al

 
of

 T
ot

al
 

T
ax

ab
le

T
ax

ab
le

T
ax

ab
le

T
ax

ab
le

A
ss

es
se

d
A

ss
es

se
d

A
ss

es
se

d
A

ss
es

se
d

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

 T
ax

p
ay

er
V

al
u

e 
R

an
k

V
al

u
e

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

 T
ax

p
ay

er
V

al
u

e 
R

an
k

V
al

u
e

F
lo

ri
da

 P
ow

er
 a

nd
 L

ig
ht

 C
om

pa
ny

6,
46

8,
42

3
$ 

   
   

  
1

49
.2

1%
F

lo
ri

da
 P

ow
er

 a
nd

 L
ig

ht
 C

om
pa

ny
5,

24
2,

89
3

$ 
   

   
  

1
41

.2
1%

A
tl

an
ti

c 
B

ro
ad

ba
nd

90
4,

11
9

   
   

   
   

  
2

6.
88

%
A

tl
an

ti
c 

B
ro

ad
ba

nd
1,

20
9,

12
7

   
   

   
  

2
9.

51
%

B
el

l S
ou

th
 T

el
ec

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
, I

nc
.

89
6,

65
3

   
   

   
   

  
3

6.
82

%
B

el
l S

ou
th

 T
el

ec
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

, I
nc

.
85

7,
15

4
   

   
   

   
  

3
6.

74
%

P
eo

pl
e'

s 
G

as
 S

ys
te

m
78

7,
92

0
   

   
   

   
  

4
5.

99
%

P
ub

li
x 

S
up

er
 M

ar
ke

ts
, I

nc
.

81
4,

42
1

   
   

   
   

  
4

6.
40

%
T

he
 S

ur
f 

C
lu

b
59

4,
62

4
   

   
   

   
  

5
4.

52
%

P
eo

pl
e'

s 
G

as
 S

ys
te

m
65

2,
83

8
   

   
   

   
  

5
5.

13
%

P
ub

li
x 

S
up

er
 M

ar
ke

ts
, I

nc
.

51
8,

10
9

   
   

   
   

  
6

3.
94

%
T

he
 S

ur
f 

C
lu

b
33

2,
06

3
   

   
   

   
  

6
2.

61
%

H
ol

id
ay

 C
V

S
 L

L
C

39
0,

15
3

   
   

   
   

  
7

2.
97

%
C

af
é 

R
ag

az
zi

25
8,

97
2

   
   

   
   

  
7

2.
04

%
Y

ud
ah

 A
ri

 B
en

m
er

gu
i D

D
S

19
6,

00
8

   
   

   
   

  
8

1.
49

%
C

V
S

19
6,

80
7

   
   

   
   

  
8

1.
55

%
C

in
e 

C
it

ta
 G

ri
ll

14
6,

70
0

   
   

   
   

  
9

1.
12

%
M

od
ul

ar
 S

pa
ce

 C
or

po
ra

ti
on

14
8,

27
5

   
   

   
   

  
9

1.
17

%
A

T
&

T
 M

ob
il

it
y 

L
L

C
12

7,
98

4
   

   
   

   
  

10
0.

97
%

F
oo

d 
G

an
g 

R
es

ta
ur

an
t

14
7,

00
0

   
   

   
   

  
10

1.
16

%

T
ot

al
 P

ri
n

ci
p

al
 T

ax
p

ay
er

s
11

,0
30

,6
93

   
   

   
83

.9
2%

T
ot

al
 P

ri
n

ci
p

al
 T

ax
p

ay
er

s
9,

85
9,

55
0

   
   

   
  

77
.5

1%

A
ll

 O
th

er
 T

ax
p

ay
er

s
2,

11
4,

05
7

   
   

   
  

16
.0

8%
A

ll
 O

th
er

 T
ax

p
ay

er
s

2,
86

1,
38

0
   

   
   

  
22

.4
9%

T
ot

al
13

,1
44

,7
50

$ 
   

   
10

0.
00

%
T

ot
al

12
,7

20
,9

30
$ 

   
  

10
0.

00
%

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
T

ow
n 

re
co

rd
s.

N
ot

e:
 P

ri
nc

ip
al

 ta
xp

ay
er

 n
ot

 a
va

il
ab

le
 p

ri
or

 to
 2

01
0.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

P
ri

n
ci

pa
l P

er
so

n
al

 P
ro

pe
rt

y 
T

ax
pa

ye
rs

 (
U

n
au

di
te

d)
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

rs
 E

n
de

d 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 
30

, 2
01

3 
an

d 
20

10

20
13

20
10

92



E
xh

ib
it

 X
V

II
I

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l

G
ra

n
d

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

T
ot

al
T

ot
al

 D
eb

t
F

is
ca

l
C

ap
it

al
R

ev
en

u
e

N
ot

es
 

L
oa

n
s

P
er

Y
ea

r
L

ea
se

s
B

on
d

s
P

ay
ab

le
P

ay
ab

le
T

ot
al

 
T

ot
al

 
P

op
u

la
ti

on
 1

C
ap

it
a

20
04

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
  

20
05

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
  

20
06

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
  

20
07

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
5,

77
5

-
   

   
   

  

20
08

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
5,

78
9

-
   

   
   

  

20
09

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
5,

83
8

-
   

   
   

  

20
10

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
5,

74
4

-
   

   
   

  

20
11

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
16

,0
00

,0
00

   
  

24
0,

00
0

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
16

,2
40

,0
00

   
   

16
,2

40
,0

00
   

  
5,

76
0

2,
81

9
   

   
  

20
12

42
7,

13
0

   
   

   
  

11
,5

07
,4

45
   

  
16

0,
00

0
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

11
,6

67
,4

45
   

   
12

,0
94

,5
75

   
  

5,
77

6
2,

09
4

   
   

  

20
13

30
3,

74
9

   
   

   
  

10
,9

85
,3

48
   

  
80

,0
00

   
   

   
   

 
7,

25
5,

84
4

   
   

  
18

,3
21

,1
92

   
   

18
,6

24
,9

41
   

  
5,

92
4

3,
14

4
   

   
  

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

es
:

1
E

xh
ib

it
 X

X
I

N
ot

es
:

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

no
t p

re
se

nt
ed

, n
ot

 r
ea

di
ly

 a
va

il
ab

le
T

he
re

 a
re

 n
o 

pu
bl

ic
 s

ch
oo

ls
 lo

ca
te

d 
w

it
hi

n 
th

e 
T

ow
n.

T
he

re
 is

 n
o 

pe
rs

on
al

 in
co

m
e 

da
ta

 f
or

 th
e 

T
ow

n 
to

 c
al

cu
la

te
 "

de
bt

 a
s 

a 
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f 

pe
rs

on
al

 in
co

m
e.

"

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a

R
at

io
s 

of
 T

ot
al

 D
eb

t O
u

ts
ta

n
di

n
g 

by
 T

yp
e

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

B
u

si
n

es
s-

ty
p

e 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s

93



E
xh

ib
it

 X
IX

L
es

s
N

et
F

is
ca

l
O

p
er

at
in

g
A

va
il

ab
le

C
ov

er
ag

e
C

ov
er

ag
e

E
xc

es
s

Y
ea

r
R

ev
en

u
es

2
E

xp
en

se
s

3
R

ev
en

u
es

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

5
In

te
re

st
T

ot
al

R
at

io
4

R
eq

u
ir

ed
C

ov
er

ag
e

20
11

3,
38

9,
73

2
$ 

   
   

   
1,

98
5,

16
9

$ 
   

   
1,

40
4,

56
3

$ 
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
32

0,
96

0
$ 

   
  

32
0,

96
0

$ 
   

  
4.

38
   

   
   

 
1.

10
3.

28
20

12
3,

30
3,

94
3

   
   

   
   

1,
83

4,
36

0
   

   
   

1,
46

9,
58

3
   

  
49

2,
55

5
   

   
   

76
1,

49
3

   
   

  
1,

25
4,

04
8

   
  

1.
17

   
   

   
 

1.
10

0.
07

20
13

3,
13

4,
62

0
   

   
   

   
1,

90
2,

64
6

   
   

   
1,

23
1,

97
4

   
  

52
2,

09
7

   
   

   
62

0,
24

5
   

   
  

1,
14

2,
34

2
   

  
1.

08
   

   
   

 
1.

10
-0

.0
2

N
ot

es
:

2
In

cl
ud

es
, w

at
er

, s
ew

er
 a

nd
 w

as
te

w
at

er
 r

ev
en

ue
s.

3  E
xc

lu
de

s 
de

pr
ec

ia
ti

on
 e

xp
en

se
.

4
C

om
bi

ne
d 

ra
ti

o 
re

qu
ir

em
en

ts
 a

re
 1

.1
00

0.
5  E

xc
lu

de
s 

$4
 m

il
li

on
 b

on
d 

pa
ym

en
t.

1
B

on
ds

 f
ir

st
 is

su
ed

 in
 f

is
ca

l y
ea

r 
20

11
.

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a

P
le

dg
ed

 R
ev

en
u

e 
C

ov
er

ag
e

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r 

20
13

 1

94



Exhibit XX

Estimated
Estimated Share of

Debt Percentage Underlying

Outstanding Applicable 1
Debt

Overlapping Debt

Miami-Dade County 2 1,179,986,000$      0.56% 6,607,922$         

Miami-Dade County School Board 3 123,345,000           0.56% 690,732              

Total Overlapping Debt 7,298,654$         

Notes:

Data Source:
Each specific government

2 As of September 30, 2013
3 As of June 30, 2013

Town of Surfside, Florida 
Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt (Unaudited)

 September 30, 2013

1 Applicable percentage was estimated by determining the portion of the Town's assessed value of $1,062,214,226
for 2012-13 that is within the County's geographic boundaries.

Governmental Unit

95



E
xh

ib
it

 X
X

I

P
er

C
ap

it
a

C
al

en
d

ar
P

er
so

n
al

S
ta

te
 o

f
U

n
it

ed

Y
ea

r
P

op
u

la
ti

on
1

In
co

m
e

2
C

ou
n

ty
3

F
lo

ri
d

a
3

S
ta

te
s

4

20
04

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
29

,8
17

$ 
   

   
   

 
5.

5%
4.

7%
5.

4%
20

05
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

31
,8

67
   

   
   

   
 

4.
6%

3.
8%

5.
0%

20
06

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
34

,7
09

   
   

   
   

 
4.

1%
3.

3%
4.

5%
20

07
5,

77
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

35
,7

91
   

   
   

   
 

4.
5%

4.
0%

4.
7%

20
08

5,
78

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
37

,2
64

   
   

   
   

 
6.

4%
6.

2%
6.

1%
20

09
5,

83
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

37
,9

09
   

   
   

   
 

10
.6

%
10

.2
%

9.
8%

20
10

5,
74

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
37

,2
19

   
   

   
   

 
12

.6
%

11
.8

%
9.

5%
20

11
5,

76
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

37
,8

49
   

   
   

   
 

11
.5

%
10

.6
%

9.
0%

20
12

5,
77

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
38

,4
49

   
   

   
   

 
8.

9%
8.

4%
8.

7%
20

13
5,

92
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

46
,4

24
   

   
   

   
 

6.
8%

6.
9%

7.
2%

N
ot

es
:

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

no
t p

re
se

nt
ed

, n
ot

 r
ea

di
ly

 a
va

il
ab

le
T

he
re

 a
re

 n
o 

pu
bl

ic
 s

ch
oo

ls
 lo

ca
te

d 
w

it
hi

n 
th

e 
T

ow
n.

1
B

ur
ea

u 
of

 E
co

no
m

ic
 a

nd
 B

us
in

es
s 

R
es

ea
rc

h,
 U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
of

 F
lo

ri
da

, A
pr

il
 1

 o
f 

ea
ch

 y
ea

r

   
20

10
 -

 2
01

2 
es

ti
m

at
ed

 b
y 

m
an

ag
em

en
t.

3
 2

00
3-

20
10

, M
ia

m
i-

D
ad

e 
C

ou
nt

y 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 a
nn

ua
l f

in
an

ci
al

 r
ep

or
t

  2
01

1 
es

ti
m

at
ed

 b
y 

m
an

ag
em

en
t.

4
 R

ea
l E

st
at

e 
C

en
te

r,
 h

tt
p:

//
re

ce
nt

er
.ta

m
u.

ed
u/

da
ta

/e
m

p/
em

ps
/s

t1
2.

as
p

5
U

.S
. D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f 

L
ab

or
, B

ur
ea

u 
of

 L
ab

or
 S

ta
ti

st
ic

s,

2
 2

00
3-

20
09

, M
ia

m
i-

D
ad

e 
C

ou
nt

y 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 a
nn

ua
l f

in
an

ci
al

 r
ep

or
t

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

D
em

og
ra

ph
ic

 a
n

d 
E

co
n

om
ic

 S
ta

ti
st

ic
s 

(U
n

au
di

te
d)

L
as

t T
en

 C
al

en
da

r 
Y

ea
rs

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

es
: 

U
n

em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

R
at

e

96



Exhibit XXII

Type of Number of
Employer Business Employees Rank

Beach House Hotel D/B/A Grand Beach Hotel 130            1
Publix Super Market, Inc. Supermarket 97              2
Town of Surfside Government 96              3
Flanigan's Seafood Bar & Grill Restaurant 51              4
The Surf Club Resort 50              5
M. Kotler Realty Real Estate Agency 30              6
Holiday CVS, LLC. Pharmacy 27              7
Harding Realty Real Estate Agency 25              8
Harbor Pita D/B/A Harbor Grill Restaurant 20              9
Gray & Sons South FL Gold & Silver ExchJewelry 18              10

Total Principal Employers 544            

Type of Number of
Employer Business Employees Rank

Public Supermarkets Retail 159 1
Surf Club Resort 132 2
Town of Surfside Government 117 3
CVS Pharmacy Retail 19 4
Best Western Hotels Hotel 35 5
Solara Apartment Rentals 28 6
Flanigans Restaurant 68 7
Wachovia Bank 8
Rolling Pin Bakery Retail 9
Emergency Dental Center Retail 10

Total Principal Employers

Notes:
1  The total number of employees in the Town is not available
2 Information only available back to 2007

Data Source: 
3  Town records.

576

2007

7
7

Town of Surfside, Florida 
Principal Employers (Unaudited) 1

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2013 and 2007 2

2013

4

97



E
xh

ib
it

 X
X

II
I

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

F
u

n
ct

io
n

/p
ro

gr
am

G
en

er
al

 G
ov

er
n

m
en

t
L

eg
is

la
ti

ve
5.

00
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

  
5.

00
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

   
 

5.
00

   
   

   
   

 
T

ow
n 

A
tt

or
ne

y
1.

00
   

   
   

 
1.

00
   

   
   

 
1.

00
   

   
   

 
1.

00
   

   
   

 
1.

00
   

   
   

 
2.

00
   

   
   

 
2.

00
   

   
   

  
2.

00
   

   
   

 
2.

00
   

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
   

 
E

xe
cu

ti
ve

9.
00

   
   

   
 

9.
00

   
   

   
 

10
.0

0
   

   
  

10
.0

0
   

   
  

6.
00

   
   

   
 

5.
00

   
   

   
 

4.
00

   
   

   
  

4.
00

   
   

   
 

4.
00

   
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

   
 

F
in

an
ci

al
 S

up
po

rt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

-
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

3.
00

   
   

   
 

3.
00

   
   

   
 

3.
00

   
   

   
  

3.
00

   
   

   
 

4.
00

   
   

   
   

 
4.

00
   

   
   

   
 

T
ow

n 
C

le
rk

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
  

2.
00

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
   

 
2.

00
   

   
   

   
 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
S

er
vi

ce
s

2.
00

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
 

3.
00

   
   

   
 

3.
00

   
   

   
 

3.
00

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
  

3.
00

   
   

   
 

3.
00

   
   

   
   

 
4.

00
   

   
   

   
 

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 G

ov
er

n
m

en
t

18
.0

0
   

   
18

.0
0

   
   

19
.0

0
   

   
20

.0
0

   
   

19
.0

0
   

   
  

19
.0

0
   

   
18

.0
0

   
   

 
19

.0
0

   
   

20
.0

0
   

   
   

22
.0

0
   

   
   

 

P
u

bl
ic

 S
af

et
y

P
ub

li
c 

S
af

et
y

39
.0

0
   

   
  

35
.0

0
   

   
  

41
.0

0
   

   
  

42
.0

0
   

   
  

44
.0

0
   

   
  

44
.0

0
   

   
  

34
.5

0
   

   
   

33
.0

0
   

   
  

31
.7

5
   

   
   

  
32

.2
5

   
   

   
  

M
un

ic
ip

al
 P

ar
ki

ng
1.

00
   

   
   

 
1.

00
   

   
   

 
1.

00
   

   
   

 
2.

00
   

   
   

 
2.

00
   

   
   

 
2.

00
   

   
   

 
2.

50
   

   
   

  
3.

00
   

   
   

 
5.

00
   

   
   

   
 

6.
75

   
   

   
   

 

T
ot

al
 P

u
bl

ic
 S

af
et

y
40

.0
0

   
   

36
.0

0
   

   
42

.0
0

   
   

44
.0

0
   

   
46

.0
0

   
   

  
46

.0
0

   
   

37
.0

0
   

   
 

36
.0

0
   

   
36

.7
5

   
   

   
39

.0
0

   
   

   
 

P
u

bl
ic

 W
or

ks
P

ub
li

c 
W

or
ks

9.
00

   
   

   
 

10
.0

0
   

   
  

9.
00

   
   

   
 

9.
00

   
   

   
 

8.
00

   
   

   
 

7.
25

   
   

   
 

5.
25

   
   

   
  

6.
25

   
   

   
 

5.
25

   
   

   
   

 
6.

25
   

   
   

   
 

W
at

er
/S

ew
er

5.
00

   
   

   
 

5.
00

   
   

   
 

5.
00

   
   

   
 

5.
00

   
   

   
 

5.
00

   
   

   
 

5.
25

   
   

   
 

5.
25

   
   

   
  

5.
25

   
   

   
 

5.
75

   
   

   
   

 
5.

25
   

   
   

   
 

S
ol

id
 W

as
te

10
.0

0
   

   
  

11
.0

0
   

   
  

12
.0

0
   

   
  

12
.0

0
   

   
  

12
.0

0
   

   
  

12
.2

5
   

   
  

10
.2

5
   

   
   

10
.2

5
   

   
  

10
.2

5
   

   
   

  
10

.2
5

   
   

   
  

S
to

rm
w

at
er

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
25

   
   

   
 

1.
25

   
   

   
  

1.
25

   
   

   
 

1.
25

   
   

   
   

 
1.

25
   

   
   

   
 

T
ot

al
 P

u
bl

ic
 W

or
ks

25
.0

0
   

   
27

.0
0

   
   

27
.0

0
   

   
27

.0
0

   
   

26
.0

0
   

   
  

26
.0

0
   

   
22

.0
0

   
   

 
23

.0
0

   
   

22
.5

0
   

   
   

23
.0

0
   

   
   

 

L
ei

su
re

 S
er

vi
ce

s
L

ei
su

re
 S

er
vi

ce
s

16
.0

0
   

   
  

18
.0

0
   

   
  

23
.0

0
   

   
  

23
.0

0
   

   
  

17
.0

0
   

   
  

17
.0

0
   

   
  

7.
00

   
   

   
  

10
.0

0
   

   
  

10
.7

5
   

   
   

  
11

.3
2

   
   

   
  

T
ou

ri
sm

2.
00

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
 

2.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
  

1.
00

   
   

   
 

1.
00

   
   

   
   

 
0.

68
   

   
   

   
 

L
ib

ra
ry

 S
er

vi
ce

s
4.

00
   

   
   

 
4.

00
   

   
   

 
4.

00
   

   
   

 
3.

00
   

   
   

 
3.

00
   

   
   

 
3.

00
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

T
ot

al
 L

ei
su

re
 S

er
vi

ce
s

22
.0

0
   

   
  

24
.0

0
   

   
  

29
.0

0
   

   
  

27
.0

0
   

   
  

21
.0

0
   

   
  

22
.0

0
   

   
  

8.
00

   
   

   
  

11
.0

0
   

   
  

11
.7

5
   

   
   

  
12

.0
0

   
   

   
  

T
ot

al
10

5.
00

   
   

10
5.

00
   

   
11

7.
00

   
   

11
8.

00
   

   
11

2.
00

   
   

11
3.

00
   

   
85

.0
0

   
   

   
89

.0
0

   
   

  
89

.0
0

   
   

   
  

96
.0

0
   

   
   

  

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 C
h

an
ge

 F
ro

m
 P

ri
or

 Y
ea

r
6.

1%
0.

0%
11

.4
%

0.
9%

-5
.1

%
0.

9%
-2

4.
8%

5.
3%

5.
3%

7.
9%

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e:
T

ow
n 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
it

y 
F

u
ll

-t
im

e 
F

u
n

de
d 

P
os

it
io

n
s 

by
 F

u
n

ct
io

n
/P

ro
gr

am
 (

U
n

au
di

te
d)

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

 

98



E
xh

ib
it

 X
X

IV

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

F
u

n
ct

io
n

/p
ro

gr
am

24
21

32
32

32
28

27
27

27
27

11
10

12
14

15
11

7
9

9
12

10
,7

16
25

,1
44

29
,0

39
18

,1
09

23
,6

40
19

,7
51

16
,5

45
19

,8
00

23
,0

97
   

   
   

   
31

,3
37

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
7,

96
8

6,
78

2
5,

75
2

5,
28

9
4,

81
4

   
   

   
   

  
5,

47
5

   
   

   
  

T
ra

ff
ic

 w
ar

ni
ng

s 
is

su
ed

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

4,
33

3
4,

06
7

5,
13

9
   

   
   

   
  

3,
86

7
   

   
   

  
4,

97
4

5,
11

1
3,

42
2

4,
30

4
6,

86
3

7,
40

7
6,

06
0

9,
83

3
11

,8
84

   
   

   
   

19
,6

07
   

   
   

1,
12

0
1,

09
8

1,
26

1
1,

17
7

77
9

70
0

92
3

1,
07

3
93

1
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

07
2

$4
5,

65
4

$3
6,

93
0

$3
3,

41
6

$4
0,

04
5

$5
,7

97
$6

,5
59

$1
6,

14
7

$8
4,

80
6

36
,3

92
$ 

   
   

   
$7

1,
79

0

15
35

15
39

15
42

15
44

15
47

15
49

15
51

1,
55

1
   

   
   

  
1,

64
7

   
   

   
   

  
1,

68
0

10
2

13
0

75
34

3,
06

1
35

1,
76

6
37

4,
95

6
33

5,
78

9
29

8,
10

2
31

4,
30

4
30

7,
72

3
32

8,
51

9
27

6,
65

0
   

   
   

 
2,

63
1,

27
7

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

40
55

40
58

40
59

40
59

40
61

40
61

40
61

40
61

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

13
42

13
45

13
46

13
48

13
49

13
44

13
44

13
44

10
%

10
%

10
%

10
%

10
%

10
%

10
%

10
%

10
%

10
%

5.
22

%
5.

22
%

5.
22

%
5.

22
%

5.
22

%
5.

22
%

5.
22

%
5.

22
%

5.
22

%
5.

22
%

5%
5%

5%
5%

5%
5%

5%
5%

5%
5%

6%
6%

6%
6%

6%
6%

5.
90

%
5.

90
%

5.
90

%
5.

90
%

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

6%
6%

6%
6%

6%
6%

6%
6%

6%
6%

3%
3%

5%
5%

5%
5%

5%
5%

5%
5%

S
u

rf
si

d
e 

B
u

s 
S

er
vi

ce
T

ot
al

 n
um

be
r 

of
 p

as
se

ng
er

s
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

16
,1

73
   

   
18

,8
13

   
   

21
,5

43
   

   
   

12
,9

47
   

   
   

   
21

,5
14

   
   

   
A

ve
ra

ge
 n

um
be

r 
of

 p
as

se
ng

er
s 

pe
r 

m
on

th
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

1,
34

8
   

   
  

1,
56

8
   

   
  

1,
79

5
   

   
   

  
1,

07
9

   
   

   
   

  
1,

79
2

   
   

   
  

T
ot

al
 n

um
be

r 
of

 m
il

es
 d

ri
ve

n
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

23
,6

48
   

   
29

,2
60

   
   

32
,4

01
   

   
   

30
,7

75
   

   
   

   
34

,8
05

   
   

   
A

ve
ra

ge
 n

um
be

r 
of

 m
il

es
 d

ri
ve

n 
pe

r 
m

on
th

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
1,

97
1

   
   

  
2,

43
8

   
   

  
2,

70
0

   
   

   
  

2,
56

5
   

   
   

   
  

2,
90

0
   

   
   

  

C
u

lt
u

re
 a

n
d

 r
ec

re
at

io
n

:
  P

ar
ti

ci
pa

ti
on

:
   

 Y
ou

th
 p

ro
gr

am
s

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

25
8

   
   

   
  

65
0

   
   

   
  

40
3

   
   

   
  

55
1

   
   

   
  

65
8

   
   

   
  

96
0

   
   

   
   

  
1,

00
5

   
   

   
   

  
1,

04
3

   
   

   
  

   
 A

du
lt

 p
ro

gr
am

s
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
33

9
   

   
   

  
45

5
   

   
   

  
22

8
   

   
   

  
23

4
   

   
   

  
46

3
   

   
   

  
55

5
   

   
   

   
  

78
1

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
23

2
   

   
   

  
   

 S
pe

ci
al

 e
ve

nt
s

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

2,
50

0
   

   
  

2,
99

0
   

   
  

3,
39

0
   

   
  

3,
30

0
   

   
  

3,
34

0
   

   
  

4,
28

0
   

   
   

  
4,

63
0

   
   

   
   

  
5,

72
7

   
   

   
  

   
 C

om
m

un
it

y 
C

en
te

r
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

17
,5

17
   

   
   

29
,0

28
   

   
   

   
24

,8
30

   
   

   

N
ot

es
:

D
at

a 
no

t a
va

il
ab

le
 f

or
 it

em
s 

no
t p

re
se

nt
ed

.

D
at

a 
S

ou
rc

e
V

ar
io

us
 T

ow
n 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

T
ax

 r
at

es

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

se
rv

ic
e

G
as

C
ab

le
 te

le
vi

si
on

   
U

ti
li

ty
 s

er
vi

ce
s:

E
le

ct
ri

c
C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
se

rv
ic

e
G

as
   

F
ra

n
ch

is
es

:
E

le
ct

ri
c

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 s
ew

er
 s

ys
te

m
A

ct
iv

e 
ac

co
un

ts
/u

ni
ts

S
ol

id
 w

as
te

 s
er

vi
ce

s
A

ct
iv

e 
ac

co
un

ts

G
en

er
al

 g
ov

er
n

m
en

t:

B
u

il
d

in
g 

p
er

m
it

s:

M
et

er
 s

al
es

 (
in

 m
il

li
on

 g
al

lo
ns

)

P
er

m
it

s 
is

su
ed

E
st

im
at

ed
 v

al
ue

s 
(i

n 
m

il
li

on
s)

U
ti

li
ty

:
M

u
n

ic
ip

al
 w

at
er

 s
ys

te
m

A
ct

iv
e 

w
at

er
 a

cc
ou

nt
s

N
ew

 a
ct

iv
e 

ac
co

un
ts

U
ni

fo
rm

ed
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

s
N

on
-u

ni
fo

rm
ed

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
s

D
is

pa
tc

he
d 

re
sp

on
se

s
T

ra
ff

ic
 c

it
at

io
ns

 is
su

ed

P
ar

ki
ng

 v
io

la
ti

on
s 

is
su

ed

P
u

b
li

c 
sa

fe
ty

:
P

ol
ic

e

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

S
u

rf
si

d
e,

 F
lo

ri
d

a
O

pe
ra

ti
n

g 
S

ta
ti

st
ic

s 
by

 F
u

n
ct

io
n

/P
ro

gr
am

 (
U

n
au

di
te

d)

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

 1

99



E
xh

ib
it

 X
X

V

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

A
re

a:
L

an
d 

ex
cl

ud
in

g 
ai

rp
or

t (
sq

. m
il

es
)

0.
5

0.
5

0.
5

0.
5

0.
5

0.
5

0.
5

0.
5

0.
5

0.
5

W
at

er
0.

14
0.

14
0.

14
0.

14
0.

14
0.

14
0.

14
0.

14
0.

14
0.

14

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

:
P

av
ed

 s
tr

ee
ts

10
10

10
10

10
10

10
10

10
25

S
id

ew
al

ks
1 

m
il

e
1 

m
il

e
1 

m
il

e
1 

m
il

e
1 

m
il

e
1 

m
il

e
1 

m
il

e
1 

m
il

e
1 

m
il

e
6 

m
il

e
C

an
al

s 
&

 w
at

er
w

ay
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

S
to

rm
 D

ra
in

ag
e 

(c
at

ch
 b

as
in

s)
38

8
38

8
38

8
38

8
38

8
38

8
38

8
38

8
38

8
38

8
T

ow
n 

ow
ne

d 
st

re
et

 li
gh

ts
37

37
37

37
37

37
37

37
37

37
F

P
&

L
 o

w
ne

d 
st

re
et

 li
gh

ts
29

3
29

3
29

3
29

3
29

3
29

3
29

3
29

3
29

3
29

3

P
u

bl
ic

 S
af

et
y:

F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

on
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

P
ol

ic
e 

S
ta

ti
on

s
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

1

R
ec

re
at

io
n

:
P

ub
li

c 
B

ea
ch

 (
m

il
es

)
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

1
1

1
M

un
ic

ip
al

 P
ar

ks
3

3
3

3
3

3
3

3
3

3
M

un
ic

ip
al

 S
w

im
m

in
g 

P
oo

l
1

1
1

1
0

0
0

0
0

2
R

ec
re

at
io

n 
A

cr
es

 (
w

it
ho

ut
-w

it
h 

B
ea

ch
)

53
-9

0
53

-9
0

53
-9

0
53

-9
0

53
-9

0
53

-9
0

53
-9

0
53

-9
0

53
-9

0
53

-9
0

C
om

m
un

it
y 

C
en

te
r

1
1

1
1

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
1

1
1

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 W
at

er
/S

ew
er

 S
ys

te
m

:
W

at
er

 m
ai

ns
 (

m
il

es
)

15
.7

15
.7

15
.7

15
.7

15
.7

15
.7

15
.7

15
.7

15
.7

25
R

eu
se

 w
at

er
 m

ai
ns

 (
m

il
es

)
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
F

ir
e 

hy
dr

an
ts

84
84

84
84

84
84

84
84

84
84

F
ir

e 
hy

dr
an

ts
 (

re
us

e 
w

at
er

)
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
G

ra
vi

ty
 S

ew
er

 (
m

il
es

)
9.

25
9.

25
9.

25
9.

25
9.

25
9.

25
9.

25
9.

25
9.

25
9.

25
W

as
te

w
at

er
 f

or
ce

 m
ai

n 
(m

il
es

)
0.

3
0.

3
0.

3
0.

3
0.

3
0.

3
0.

3
0.

3
0.

3
1

W
as

te
w

at
er

 li
ft

 s
ta

ti
on

s
2

2
2

2
2

2
2

2
2

2

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 P
ar

ki
n

g:
6

6
6

6
6

6
6

7
57

2
57

2
57

2
57

2
57

2
57

2
57

2
57

2
P

ar
ki

ng
 lo

ts
M

et
er

ed
/P

ay
 S

ta
ti

on
 P

ar
ki

ng
 S

pa
ce

s

F
u

n
ct

io
n

/P
ro

gr
am

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

T
ow

n
 o

f 
S

u
rf

si
d

e,
 F

lo
ri

d
a 

C
ap

it
al

 A
ss

et
 S

ta
ti

st
ic

s 
by

 F
u

n
ct

io
n

/P
ro

gr
am

 (
U

n
au

di
te

d)
L

as
t T

en
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

rs
 

10
0



REPORTING SECTION  



Marcum LLP � One Southeast Third Avenue � 16th Floor � Miami, Florida 33131 � Phone 305.995.9600 � Fax 305.995.9601 � www.marcumllp.com

101

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED 

ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Honorable Mayor, Town Commission and Town Manager 
Town of Surfside, Florida 

We have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Town of Surfside, Florida (the Town) as of and for the year 
ended September 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Town’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 30, 
2014.  Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of 
the Retirement Plan for the Employees of the Town of Surfside, Florida (Pension Trust Fund), as 
described in our report of the Town’s financial statements.  This report does not include the 
results of the other auditors’ testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance 
and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s 
internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s 
internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding 
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified.  However, as described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and questioned costs, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control 
that we consider to be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies. 



102

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the Town’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  We consider the deficiency described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2013-01 to be a material 
weakness.

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Town’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards.

The Town’s Response to Finding 

The Town’s written responses to the finding identified in our audit are described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  The Town’s responses were not 
subjected to auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, 
we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of the Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town’s internal control 
and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Miami, FL 
June 30, 2014 



Marcum LLP � One Southeast Third Avenue � 16th Floor � Miami, Florida 33131 � Phone 305.995.9600 � Fax 305.995.9601 � www.marcumllp.com

103

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR STATE PROJECT AND REPORT 
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY CHAPTER 10.550, 

RULES OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 

To the Honorable Mayor, Town Commission and Town Manager 
Town of Surfside, Florida 

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project 

We have audited Town’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the 
Department of Financial Services’ State Projects Compliance Supplement that could have a 
direct and material effect on the Town’s major State project for the year ended September 30, 
2013.  The Town’s major State project is identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of 
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grants applicable to its State projects. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the Town’s major State project 
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our 
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of 
the Auditor General.  Those standards and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General, require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material 
effect on a major State project occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
about the Town’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the 
major State project.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Town’s 
compliance. 



104

Unmodified Opinion on Major State Project 

In our opinion, the Town complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
state projects for the year ended September 30, 2013. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the Town is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In 
planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Town’s internal control 
over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on 
each major State project to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major State 
project and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with Chapter, 
10.550, Rules of the Auditor General, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a State project on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a State project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a State project that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General.  Accordingly, this report is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

Miami, FL 
June 30, 2014 



State Grantor Agency CSFA Total
State Project No. Contract / Grant No. Expenditures

Florida Department of Environmental Protection
Direct Project

Clean Water State Revolving Fund 
Construction Loan 37.077 WW131710 2013 7,339,928$

Total Expenditures of State Financial Assistance 7,339,928$

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

See notes to schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance.

105



TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

106

NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance (the schedule) 
includes the state grant activity of the Town of Surfside (the Town) under programs of 
the state of Florida for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013.  The information in this 
schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 10.550, Rules of 
the Auditor General of the State of Florida.  Because the schedule presents only a 
selected portion of the operations of the Town, it is not intended to and does not present 
the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the Town. 

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported in the schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Florida 
Single Audit Act, where certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as 
a reimbursement. 



107

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

SECTION I – SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS     
     
Financial Statements     
     
Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified Opinion
     
   Internal control over financial reporting:     
      Material weakness(es) identified? X Yes  No 
      Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered 
         to be material weakness? Yes X None reported 
   Non-compliance material to financial statements noted?  Yes X No 
     
State Financial Assistance Projects
     
Internal control over major State projects:     
      Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes X No 
      Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered  
         to be material weakness? Yes X None reported 
     
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for
   major State projects: Unmodified Opinion
     
      Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
         reported in accordance with Chapter 10.550 Yes X No
     
Identification of major State project:     
     
State Financial Assistance Project  CSFA No. 
Florida Department of Environmental       
   Protection – Clean Water State Revolving      
   Fund Construction Loan  37.077    
      
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
   Type A and Type B programs: Not Applicable 
     



108

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

SECTION II – FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

MATERIAL WEAKNESS

2013-01 Review and Recording of Financial Transactions 

Criteria

Prudent policies include a formal review and reconciliation during the year and during the 
closing process with supervisory Finance Department personnel being responsible for the review 
of transactions and balances recorded.  Timeliness of closing procedures is crucial to proving 
accurate accounting data and financial information including interim and year-end financial 
statements. 

Condition

During the course of our audit procedures there were numerous auditor adjusting journal entries 
proposed to correct account balances such as negative cash, principal payments improperly 
presented on the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, retainage payable 
was overstated, state revolving loan proceeds improperly presented as other financing sources in 
the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net positions and unrealized gain on the Fund 
B was not properly recorded. In addition, the Town provided to the auditors many of their own 
adjusting journal entries after the initial trial balances were provided at the commencement of the 
audit (i.e., start of audit fieldwork) which necessitated additional procedures and delayed the 
completion of the audit.  In addition, in several instances, supporting schedules provided by the 
Town did not agree or reconcile to the general ledger. 

Cause

Lack of adequate internal controls over the timely review and reconciliation and closing process. 

Effect

The general ledger, which are are the books and records used to prepare the financial statements, 
were not accurate. 



109

TOWN OF SURFSIDE, FLORIDA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

SECTION II – FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS (CONTINUED) 

MATERIAL WEAKNESS (CONTINUED)

2013-01 Review and Recording of Financial Transactions (continued) 

Recommendation 

We recommend a detailed general ledger account analysis of all accounts be performed on a 
monthly or quarterly basis in a timely manner.  These analyses should be reviewed by 
supervisory Finance Department staff to ensure accurate recording of transactions.  We further 
recommend that employees responsible for the books and records and approval of journal entries 
consult with the auditors or others for unusual or difficult to record transactions especially given 
the complexities associated with the accounting standards. 

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions 

A report that compares budget to actual of revenues and expenditures is prepared each month and 
presented to the Town Commission.  A detailed general ledge account analysis of all accounts 
will be prepared and reviewed quarterly to ensure accurate recording of transactions.  The 
Finance Department employees will also consult with the auditors on unusual or difficult 
transactions before recording the journal entries. 

SECTION III – STATE PROJECTS FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

None.



110

CITY OF SUNRISE, FLORIDA 

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 

I. PRIOR YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

The following addresses the status of financial statement findings reported in the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2012 schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

MATTERS THAT ARE NOT REPEATED IN THE ACCOMPANYING SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND 

QUESTIONED COSTS

2012-01 Internal Control over Financial Reporting – Capital Assets
2012-02 Internal Control over Financial Reporting – Bank Reconciliations 

II. PRIOR YEAR STATE PROJECTS FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

The Town did not meet the requirements for a Florida Single Audit during fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2012. 



Marcum LLP � One Southeast Third Avenue � 16th Floor � Miami, Florida 33131 � Phone 305.995.9600 � Fax 305.995.9601 � www.marcumllp.com

111

MANAGEMENT LETTER IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RULES OF THE 
AUDITOR GENERAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

To the Honorable Mayor, Town Commission and Town Manager 
Town of Surfside, Florida 

We have audited the financial statements of the Town of Surfside, Florida (the Town), as of and 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013, and have issued our report thereon dated June 30, 
2014.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.550, Rules of 
the Florida Auditor General.  We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting and Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the 
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards,
Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project and on Internal 
Control over Compliance Required by Chapter 10.550 Rules of the Florida Auditor General; and 
a Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.  Disclosures in those reports and schedule, which 
are dated June 30, 2014, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter.

Additionally, our audit was conducted in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General, which governs the conduct of local governmental entity audits performed in the State of 
Florida. This letter includes the following information, which is not included in the 
aforementioned auditors’ reports or schedule:

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or 
not corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in 
the preceding annual financial audit report.  Corrective actions have been taken to address 
findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report.

Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires our audit to include a review 
of the provisions of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, regarding the investment of public 
funds.  In connection with our audit, we determined that the Town complied with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes.

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the 
management letter any recommendations to improve financial management.  In connection 
with our audit, we did not have any such recommendations.



112

Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance 
with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to 
have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but 
which warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, 
we did not have any such findings. 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title 
and legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting 
entity be disclosed in this management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.  The Town was established by the Town’s charter, which was adopted under the 
provisions of Chapter 279.14, Laws of the State of Florida in 1951.  There were no 
component units related to the Town. 

Section 10.554(1)(i)6.a., Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement be included as to 
whether or not the local governmental entity has met one or more of the conditions described 
in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and identification of the specific condition(s) met.  In 
connection with our audit, we determined that the Town did not meet any of the conditions 
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.

Section 10.554(1)(i)6.b., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether 
the annual financial report for the Town for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013, filed 
with the Florida Department of Financial Services pursuant to Section 218.32(1)(a), Florida 
Statutes, is in agreement with the annual financial audit report for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2013. In connection with our audit, we determined that these two reports were 
in agreement. 

Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)6.c. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, we 
applied financial condition assessment procedures. It is management’s responsibility to 
monitor the Town’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in 
part on representations made by management and the review of financial information 
provided by same.  This assessment was done as of the fiscal year end.

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, and applicable management, and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Miami, FL 
June 30, 2014 



9G

Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243


	3A - Minutes
	3B - Budget to Actual
	3C - Town Managers Report
	3D - Town Attorney Report
	3E - Projects Progress Report
	3F - Committee Reports
	3G - Mutual Aid Agreement with Bal Harbour Village Police Department
	4A1 - Solar Panels Ordinance
	4B1 - Sign Code Ordinance
	4B2 - Parking Trust Fund Ordinance
	5 - Ballot Questions Commission Communication
	5A1 - Qualification for Office
	5A2 - Vacancies on Commission
	5A3 - Vacancy in Candidacy
	5A4 - Canvassing Board
	5A5 - Qualifying
	5A6 - Establishing Elected Officials
	5A7 - Runoff Election
	5B1 - Professional General Architectural Services
	5B2 - Professional General Engineering Services
	5C1, 5C2 and 5C 3 Town Hall Improvements
	5C1 - Roof Repairs
	5C2 - Town Hall Air Conditioning and a Chiller System
	5C3 - Mold Remediation and Restoration
	5D - Approving 94th Street End Project
	5E - BID Ballot Results
	9A - Surfside Seawall Project Bid Update
	9C - Resort Tax Allocation to Tourist Board
	9D - Discussion on Tentative Budget Meetings
	9F - FY 12/13 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)
	9G - Policy Direction Regarding Ownership of Submerged Lands



